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Class Editori Spa and subsidiaries 
Registered office - Via Marco Burigozzo 5, Milan 

  
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT ON OPERATIONS DURING THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2014 

 
 

Company performance 
 
The 2014 revenues of the Publishing House amounted to 90.03 million euro, up 7.1% from 84.03 million 
euro in 2013. 37% of these revenues came from the Publishing House’s digital information area (up 5.5% on 
2013), 21% from the daily newspapers area (-9.9%), 16% from the periodicals area (-6%), 13% from the 
professional services area (+14%) and 13% from other revenues. This last source included the revenues from 
disposal of the digital terrestrial broadcasting permit and associated position on LCN 27. 
 
Operating costs were 90.46 million euro compared with 97.55 million euro in the previous year, a fall of 
7.3%. The decrease in operating costs reflects containment efforts and the savings achieved since the start of 
the year. The actions implemented became routine during the year, generating considerable benefits. 
 
The gross operating margin, defined as the difference between the value and the cost of production before 
depreciation/amortisation, non-recurring items and net financial charges, showed a loss of 0.42 million euro 
compared with 13.52 million euro in the previous year. 
 
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs totalled 10.58 million euro, compared with 8.24 million euro in 
2013. This rise followed investment in the digital area, which has resulted in an increased depreciation 
charge, but was also due to the recognition of non-recurring items. These included the write-down of 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (following the impairment test carried out in accordance with 
the IAS 36 compliance procedure approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March), provisions for liabilities 
and charges, provisions for receivables that are disputed or doubtful, and provisions for the cost of shutting 
down the Class TV channel. 
 
The pre-tax loss of Class Editori and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2014 was 12.2 million 
euro, compared with 28.1 million euro in 2013. 
 
The net loss of the Group, after deducting the non-controlling interest and taxes, was 14.41 million euro, as 
against 22.78 million euro in 2013.  
 
Primary economic - financial events of the period 
 
With GDP falling 0.4%, 2014 was another year of recession for the Italian economy, with clear repercussions 
on consumer spending and in all market sectors, especially publishing, advertising and communications.  
 
Nielsen data for the advertising market in Italy in 2014 highlights an overall decline of 2.5% (-2.4% in the 
first half). The Publishing House’s advertising revenue was in line with the market performance, falling by 
around 2.7%, but performed better in the daily newspapers area (-4.8% against -8.5% for the Italian market) 
and the TV area (+6.6% against -0.5%). 
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Within the digital space, up 14% on 2013, turnover grew strongly in the areas of business information, news 
agency and financial reporting for the banks and on-line trading platforms.  
 
Traffic on the Publishing House’s website grew by 11.5% in the last quarter of 2014 compared with the same 
period in 2013. According to AudiWeb AWDatabase, the Total Digital Audience grew from 87,976 to 
98,135 individual users of newspaper media, with a peak in October (109,403 individual users).  
 
In the same quarter, the average number of individual users accessing the websites using mobile devices 
reached 23.6% of the total for the Publishing House, demonstrating user appreciation of the mobile version 
of the sites: especially that of milanofinanza.it, which proved capable of interpreting correctly its readers’ 
new usage habits and preferences.  
 
Also in the last quarter of 2014, the average number of webpages read each day was 706 thousand, 
substantially in line (+0.1%) with the fourth quarter of 2013. The average daily reading time, 4:36 minutes is 
very significant and higher than that of the site's direct competitor. 
 
The number of readers that follow in real time the news on the site through Twitter reached 82,500 users for 
MF-Milano Finanza and 25,600 for Italia Oggi during the quarter. Both daily newspapers can be read in 
digital format on all tablet platforms available on the market (iPad, Android, Amazon Kindle Fire and 
Windows 8). 
 
The distribution of MF/Milano Finanza averaged 69 thousand copies during the period (81 thousand in 
2013), while Class averaged about 56 thousand copies (79 thousand in 2013) and Capital averaged 56 
thousand copies (75 thousand in 2013), in line with the average performance of the distribution market. This 
fall in distribution was accompanied by a production and sales mix that is gradually shifting from printed to 
digital. While the average selling price has fallen as a result (generating lower revenues from distribution), 
there has also been a more than proportional saving in industrial and distribution costs, with a very positive 
effect on industrial margins. In the fourth quarter of 2014 MF-Milano Finanza had average daily sales of 
16,949 digital copies, whereas Italia Oggi sold 18,860 digital copies (source ADS), placing this associate 
among the leading Italian daily newspapers for digital distribution. 
 
Notable events during the year: 

 
• On 9 January, the Board of Directors approved the business plan which identified a need to strengthen 

the financial structure in order to operate more effectively in the future. Consequently, at the end of 
July, the increase in capital agreed on 12 May at the Class Editori shareholders’ meeting happened. The 
company’s coffers were swelled by 39.8 million euros with the market, despite the poor stock market 
conditions at the time, subscribing 42.4% of the proportion of the issue reserved for it. The business 
plan originally provided for a bigger increase of financial resources (45 million) so the difference in the 
amount and timing of the capital increase means that use of the proceeds will need to be optimised even 
further, in collaboration (also) with the various stakeholders; 
 

• Angelo Sajeva arrived from Mondadori Pubblicità, where he was chairman and managing director, in 
addition to being deputy chairman of Mediamond. He is now the director responsible for strategy and 
business development at Class Editori, as well as the chairman of Class Pubblicità; 
 

• with a view to the further development of digital, particularly in the TV area, the entire quota capital of 
Aldebaran Srl was acquired at the beginning of the year. This company owns the technologies and 
activities associated with the creation and development of Moby, the outdoor TV channel that is 
available for buses, trams and underground trains. The acquisition is considered to be of strategic and 
fundamental importance to Telesia, a subsidiary, and for the expansion of business in the world of 
outdoor TV and the digital sector in general; 
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• Ladies, the Publishing House’s women’s magazine, was completely overhauled in May, in terms of 

content, graphics, positioning and distribution strategy. Repositioning the magazine at the top end of the 
women’s sector immediately led to higher advertising revenue; 

 
• in June, the monthly Gentleman added a new international edition, in Ecuador, confirming its position 

as the Italian men’s periodical with the most international editions; 
 

• The contract between Class Editori Spa and Century Fortunet Limited, a Chinese group, was signed on 
11 June at the first Sino-Italian Business Forum held in Beijing in the presence of Prime Ministers 
Matteo Renzi and Li Keqiang. This contract covers a series of activities that Class Editori will carry out 
in Italy, both directly and via its subsidiaries and associates, to develop CCIG Mall. Managed by 
Century Fortunet Limited, this B2B e-commerce platform is promoted and sustained by a number of 
leading groups and governmental institutions, including Bank of China, China Union Pay, China 
Telecom and the China Council for the promotion of international trade. The new e-commerce platform 
will facilitate trade with the Chinese retailers that have already registered and those which will join the 
platform in future, enabling them to access thousands of types of imported products.  
Class Editori is the principal supplier for Italy in the first sector (food & beverages), with an option to 
become the sole supplier on the achievement of targets to be set in the near future; the Group will be the 
main agent for Italy in the second sector.  In addition to the above, Class Editori works directly as the 
exclusive agent for Italy for the sale of advertising on the CCIG Mall platform and the production of 
content about products, for delivery via the platform. This will provide Chinese retailers with all 
necessary information in order to make their purchases. Lastly, Class Editori will coordinate the 
activities of the agents responsible for other sectors; 
 

• as a result of the above, the Cremonini Group, one of the leading European producers and distributors of 
food products internationally, signed an agreement with Class Editori to become a shareholder of CceC 
(Class China eCommerce) and one of its strategic and operational partners, helping to manage the 
partnership operationally and logistically; 
 

• on 27 October Class Editori and its subsidiary CCeC (Class China eCommerce) launched the Chinese e-
commerce B2B CCIG MALL platform of which Class Editori and CCeC are exclusive agents and the 
main suppliers. 
The 50 leading Italian products in the food sector are presented on the platform website. In early 
December the e-commerce platform was presented to the market and to all Chinese media, with events 
organised in the main Chinese cities; 
 

• MF celebrated its 25th anniversary during the first half of the year with a 160-page special edition and 
the issue of the "Libro d’Oro della Finanza e delle Imprese", a book that describes the past 25 years of 
Italian entrepreneurship, and with a gala dinner held in Piazza Affari, Milan, attended by leading Italian 
and international companies and financial institutions; 
 

• the Senate approved the conversion into law of Decree 91/2014 after deleting the provisions that 
abolished the requirement to publish specified information about listed companies in a daily newspaper. 
Following publication in the Official Gazette of the law converting Decree-Law 91/2014, the 
requirement for listed companies to publish extracts of shareholders' agreements in a daily newspaper 
has been reinstated, together with the notice of shareholders' meetings and other specified information. 
In addition, the conversion law amended article 22 to require investment management companies to 
publish their notices of meetings of participants "in at least two national daily newspapers" (para. 5-
quinquies of article 22), which therefore represents a new advertising opportunity for the Company; 
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• In November a joint venture agreement was signed with Italian International Radio and Media srl 

(IIRM), a radio company that reports to the Chinese group HMI and which owns radio frequencies in 
many countries, used by China Radio International.  The agreement requires Class Editori to dispose of a 
branch of the company (with FM radio frequencies in some provincial capitals), Radio Classica Srl 
(100% owned), to a Newco the capital of which will be owned 51% by IIRM and 49% by the publishing 
house. The operation, with the total value of the Newco being 5 million euros, is part of the Chinese 
group’s programme to develop radio activity globally and of Class Editori’s strategy to develop activities 
with major Chinese and international partners; 
 

• The December edition of Gentleman appeared with a new format and new content representing the best 
tradition of the most popular Italian men’s monthly; 

 
• On 29 December Sky Italy and Class Editori signed an agreement to create a partnership concerning 

digital terrestrial to launch a new Sky channel. The value of this part of the agreement is around 9 
million euro. The partnership includes: enhancing the SkyTg24 information with editorial content from 
the Class Editori media focused on the financial sector; collaboration between Sky’s advertising 
concessionaire and Class’s advertising concessionaire to develop the portfolio of specialist customers in 
the finance, banking and insurance and business sector; a new co-branded financial and business 
information site, sitting alongside www.milanofinanza.it, which will reinforce Class Editori’s 
information system, with advertising to be sold by Class Pubblicità and with Sky being able to relaunch 
financial news in more detail on the new site. The partnership may lead to further publishing and 
production joint ventures, also promoting Class channels already present on Sky. 
 

Consolidated Income Statement  
 
The re-classified Income Statement of the publishing house is reported below: 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

 
Change (%) 

Sales revenues 78,462 77,353 (1.4) 

Other revenues and income 5,571 12,681 127.6 

Total revenues 84,033 90,034 7.1 

Operating costs (97,553) (90,456) (7.3) 

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) (13,520) (422) 96.9 
% of revenues (16.09) (0.47)  

Extraordinary income and charges (3,249) 1,735 153.4 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs (8,244) (10,584) 28.4 

Operating profit (EBIT) (25,013) (9,271) 62.9 
% of revenues (29.77) (10.30)  

Net financial income and charges (3,095) (2,922) 5.6 

Pre-tax profits (28,108) (12,193) 56.6 

Income taxes 6,421 (996) (115.5) 

Minority profit/(loss) (1,095) (1,219) (11,3) 

Net Group Result  (22,782) (14,408) 36.8 
 

http://www.milanofinanza.it/
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Revenues can be broken down as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change (%) 

Revenues from subscriptions and copies 31,222 29,601 (5.2) 

Advertising revenues 47,240 45,418 (3.9) 

Other revenues 5,211 14,720 182.5 
 

Total operating revenues 83,673 89,739 7.2 

Operating grants 360 295 (18.1) 

Total  84,033 90,034 7.1 

Extraordinary income 1,926 6,417 233.2 

Total revenues 85,959 96,451 12.2 

 

The change in  revenues from subscriptions and copies is explained by two opposite phenomena: 
 
• the 14% increase in the sales of the news agency and business information areas, particularly in relation 

to the information provided to the on-line trading platforms (principally due to new contracts signed 
with banks); 

• lower sales (in overall volume terms) of newspapers and magazines, with a shift in the sales mix from 
printed to digital. While the average selling price and revenue from distribution have fallen as a result, 
there has also been a more than proportional saving in industrial and distribution costs, with a positive 
effect on industrial margins. 
 

Advertising revenues (Italy and abroad) fell by 3.9% compared with the prior year: while revenues were 
defended in Italy, essentially in line with market trends, those generated by Global Finance declined.  
 
In addition to the revenues that cannot be classified elsewhere, other revenues mainly comprise the costs 
recharged to Group associates for services rendered and the sale, mentioned above, of the digital terrestrial 
broadcasting licence and related position on LCN 27. 
 

Non-recurring income is analysed on a comparative basis below: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Out-of-period income 1,925 5,915 207.3 

Gains on/revaluations of equity investments 1 502 n.a. 
    
Total non-recurring income 1,926 6,417 233.2 

The non-recurring income recorded in 2014 comprises the elimination of payables following agreements 
reached with suppliers, the correction of differences in the prior-year current and deferred tax calculations, 
elimination of the deferred tax liabilities recorded in prior years in relation to the radio frequencies included 
in the line of business contributed to a newco in 2014, revenues relating to prior years, payouts from 
bankruptcies in relation to receivables already written off, differences between actual costs and those 
estimated in prior years, and the elimination of payables for which no cash outflow is expected. The capital 
gains include the economic effect of the disposal of the line of business operated by CHTV Srl. 
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Details of Operating costs are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Purchases 4,384 3,798 (13.4) 

Services 70,882 64,100 (9.6) 

Payroll costs 18,651 18,870 1.2 

Investments measured at equity 85 (67) (178.8) 

Other operating costs 3,551 3,755 5.7 
    
Total operating costs 97,553 90,456 (7.3) 

Non-recurring expense 5,175 4,682 (9.5) 
    
Total operating costs 102,728 95,138 (7.4) 

 
The operating costs of the Group incurred for purchases and services have declined significantly (7.3%): 
industrial, technical, content and commercial costs. The savings made also include the debt reductions 
negotiated on settling the past due payables of the Publishing House, which was made possible by the capital 
increase and has optimised the use of financial resources. Payroll costs were essentially stable, while there 
was a slight increase in other operating costs during 2014. Reorganisation efforts are now being made to 
reduce these. 
 
The reduction in purchases and services was mainly due to the effect (mentioned above and envisaged in the 
business plan) of the shift from printed to digital within circulation turnover, with lower raw material and 
printing costs, and lower revenues too. 
 
Other significant effects included a reduction in the purchase of goods for resale (barter system), with a 
related reduction in advertising revenues, as well as the savings achieved on editorial and technical 
collaborations and overhead costs. 
 
A plan for the reorganisation and rationalisation of staff and line activities was launched at the start of the 
year. This simplified the corporate structure, especially in relation to the service companies, with a view to 
obtaining the first savings during 2014. Following these changes, employment solidarity contracts were 
signed by those Group companies that had not already implemented them.  
 
Non-recurring expense included out-of-period expenses, losses on receivables and period costs relating to 
disputes and other settlements.  
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Out-of-period expenses 2,888 2,123 (26.5) 

Losses on receivables (not covered by allowances) 1,773 1,734 (2.2) 

Reimbursement of losses, settlements and penalties 514 825 60.5 
    
Total non-recurring income 5,175 4,682 (9.5) 

Out-of-period expenses included losses on the disposal of fixed assets, mainly in relation to the contribution 
of lines of business, totalling 808 thousand euro, the correction of differences in the prior-year current and 
deferred tax calculations amounting to 120 thousand euro, costs not recognised in the correct accounting 
period and the reversal of income not earned that was recorded in prior years. 
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The net non-recurring items reported in the reclassified income statement of the Publishing House are 
summarised below: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Out-of-period income 1,925 5,915 207.3 

Gains on/revaluations of equity investments 1 502 n.a. 
    
Total non-recurring income 1,926 6,417 233.2 
    
Out-of-period expenses (2,888) (2,123) (26.5) 

Losses on receivables (not covered by allowances) (1,773) (1,734) (2.2) 

Reimbursement of losses and settlements (514) (825) 60.5 
    
Total non-recurring income (5,175) (4,682) (9.5) 
    
Net non-recurring items (3,249) 1,735 153.4 

 

Details of Services are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Cost of production 26,482 25,510 (3.7) 

Editorial costs 6,126 4,981 (18.7) 

Commercial/advertising costs 21,040 18,261 (13.2) 

Distribution costs 4,122 4,313 4.6 

Other costs 13,112 11,035 (15.8) 
    
Total service costs 70,882 64,100 (9.6) 

 
With regard to the reduction in costs, reference is made to the above discussion of the cost containment and 
rationalisation work carried out in the early part of the year. The rise in distribution costs represents a move 
against the general trend. This was attributable to the additional expenses incurred to promote and distribute 
digital products and other publications. 
  
Consolidated balance sheet situation 
 
A complete analysis of the financial position can be found in the separate financial statements and related 
explanatory notes. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Total current and non-current trade receivables have increased from 86.55 million euro at 31 December 2013 
to 93.17 million euro at 31 December 2014. Of this amount, 16.96 million euro are non-current trade 
receivables (16.18 million euro at 31 December 2013) representing the present value of receivables due 
beyond 12 months. 
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They are analysed below: 
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Regular customers 45,738 46,903 

Invoices to be issued 2,888 10,748 

Trade notes 195 281 

Distributors (Italia Oggi - Erinne) 10,096 3,955 

Due from associates 13,122 16,248 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,670) (1,922) 
   
Total trade receivables 70,369 76,213 

 
Amounts due from customers are mainly of a commercial nature, linked to the advertising revenues 
generated by Classpi Spa, the Group's sub-licensee for the collection of advertising business.  

The overall increase in trade receivables during the year was due to the recognition of invoices to be issued 
to Sky Italia, totalling 8 million euro, in relation to the sale of the licence to transmit on channel LCN27. The 
first-time consolidation of Aldebaran and CHTV (an associate of the Publishing House at 31 December 
2013) increased trade receivables by about 0.67 million euro. 

Without these two effects, trade receivables would have been lower by about 2.9 million euro. 
 

Net Equity 

The net assets of the group at 31st December 2014, net of minority interest, totalled 64.5 million euros, 
compared to 41.0 million at 31st December 2013. 

In addition to the loss for the year of 14.4 million euro, the main changes during 2014 were as follows: 

- capital increase completed in August with subscriptions and payments totalling 39.8 million euro, 
comprising a rise of 17.8 million euro in the nominal value of share capital and an increase in the share 
premium account of 22.0 million euro; 

- reduction in the share premium account by 502 thousand euro to cover the cost of the advisory services 
received in relation to the parent company's capital increase; 

- effect of discounting the provision for severance indemnities, as required by IAS 19, which is recognised 
directly in equity, -0.67 million euro; 

- first-time consolidation of CHTV, the effect of which was to decrease the consolidation reserve by 1.1 
million euro. 

Following the capital increase, the share capital of the Publishing House now amounts to 28.32 million euro, 
compared with 10.56 million euro at the end of the prior year. 
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Net consolidated financial position 

The consolidated net financial position is shown in the table below: 
€ (thousands) 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 Changes 

2014/2013 
Change % 

Securities -- 2,550 2,550 100.0 

Liquid assets 11,943 7,498 (4,445) (37.2) 

Short-term financial receivables 10,821 7,382 (3,439) (31.8) 

Long-term financial payables (6,671) (2,897) 3,774 56.6 

Short-term financial payables (81,696) (77,762) 3,934 4.8 
     
Net financial position (65,603) (63,229) 2,374 3.6 

 
The above analysis of the Publishing House's net financial position shows net debt of 63.2 million euro at 31 
December 2014, compared with 65.6 million euro at 31 December 2013. 

The improvement of 2.4 million euro does not yet reflect the effect of selling the LCN 27 for 8 million euro 
in cash. In particular, although the transaction is reflected in the 2014 income statement, the amount due was 
actually collected in January 2015. The liquidity resulting from the increase in capital was used to settle 
payables incurred in prior years, cover the loss for the year and support the investments made by the Group 
during 2014.    

Non-current financial payables include a long-term soft loan arranged by Class Editori, expiring in 2015, and 
a loan arranged by Assinform with Carige bank, which expires in 2017. They also include a five-year loan 
for 6 million euro arranged with Banca Popolare dell'Emilia Romagna, which refinanced short-term credit 
lines of the same amount. As well as overdraft and current account lines, current financial payables include 
amounts drawn down from stand-by financing and hot-money lines of credit. 
 
Disbursed dividends 
 
No dividends were paid during 2014. The residual amount due to shareholders at 31 December 2014 totals 
18 thousand euro. 
 
Stock Exchange data 
 

 2013 2014 

Minimum price (euro) 0.173 0.1801 

Maximum price (euro) 0.2599 0.4135 

Weighted average price (euro) 0.22 0.308 

Volume traded (overall) (euro) 42,225,079 434,350,189 

Minimum capitalisation (million euro) 18 22 

Maximum capitalisation (million euro) 27 117 

Average capitalisation (million euro) 21.9 55.5 

Number of shares (Category A shares admitted to trading) 105,547,510 283,159,074 
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Financial parameters 
 
A number of financial parameters are presented below on a comparative basis, together with the income 
statement reclassified in operational terms, in order to facilitate understanding of the economic and financial 
position. 
 

€ (thousands) 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 Change % 

Revenues from sales 78,462 85,353 8.8 

Internal production -- -- -- 

Value of production 78,462 85,353 8.8 

External operating costs (75,266) (67,898) (9.8) 

Value added 3,196 17,455 446.1 

Payroll costs (18,651) (18,870) 1.2 

Gross operating profit (GOP) (15,455) (1,415) 90.8 

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (8,244) (10,584) 28.4 

Operating Result (23,699) (11,999) 49.4 

Results of the ancillary area 1,935 993 (48.7) 

Net results of the financial area -- -- -- 

Normalised EBIT (21,764) (11,006) (49.4) 

Results of the non-recurring area (3,249) 1,735 153.4 

Total EBIT (25,013) (9,271) 62.9 

Net financial income (charges) (3,095) (2,922) 5.6 

Profit before tax (28,108) (12,193) 56.6 

Income taxes 6,421 (996) (115.5) 

(Profit)/loss attributable to NCI (1,095) (1,219) (11,3) 

Net Profit (22,782) (14,408) 36.8 

 
 
The trend over the past five years in revenues, including non-recurring revenues for consistency with the 
prior years, and net results is presented below: 
 
€uro/000,000 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Total revenues 127.6 141.3 94.3 86.0 96.5 

Net profit (1.9) 5.6 (12.9) (22.8) (14.4) 
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  31/12/2013 31/12/2014 

Financing of fixed assets    
    
Fixed asset coverage - Primary indicator 
(Own Equity - Fixed Assets) 

€/000 (32,468) (13,347) 

    
Primary capital ratio 
(Own Equity / Fixed Assets) 

% 0.60 0.84 

    
Fixed asset coverage - Secondary indicator 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities - Fixed Assets) 

€/000 (19,251) (520) 

    
Secondary capital ratio 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities / Fixed Assets) 

% 0.76 0.99 

    
 
These ratios show how the long-term applications of funds are financed and the composition of the sources 
of funds. 
 
    
Borrowing ratios    
    
Total debt-equity ratio 
(Long-term + Current Liabilities/ Own Equity) 

% 3.70 2.23 

    
Financial debt-equity ratio 
(Loans + current liabilities / Own Equity) 

% 1.60 1.01 

    
 
These ratios show the composition of the sources of funds. 
 
    
Profitability ratios    
    
Net ROE 
(Net Profit / Own Equity) 

% (47.59) (19.95) 

    
Gross ROE 
(Profit before tax / Own Equity) 

% (58.72) (16.88) 

    
ROI 
(Operating Result / Fixed Assets) 

% (29.50) (23.37) 

    
ROS 
(Operating Profit / Revenues from sales) 

% (30.20) (25.85) 

    
 
 
These are the profitability parameters most frequently used in business practice to compare the 
results of the business with the structural sources of funds. 
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Solvency indicators 

 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 

    
Working capital 
(Current Assets - Current Liabilities) 

€/000 (40,150) (22,857) 

    
Working capital ratio 
(Current Assets / Current Liabilities) 

% 0.75 0.84 

    
Liquidity margin 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity - Current Liabilities) 

€/000 (42,848) (25,409) 

    
Liquidity ratio 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity / Current Liabilities) 

% 0.73 0.83 

    
 
The solvency parameters consider current assets in relation to the short-term liabilities of the business. 
 

 
Information concerning the environment and personnel. 
 
There are no significant matters to be reported, given the specific nature of the Company's activities. 
No damage has been caused to the environment, nor have any related penalties or charges been made. 
There have not been any events in the workplace involving injury of any kind to employees. 
 
Business areas 
 
A) Digital areas 
 
The strategy of the Publishing House to develop a digital division has consolidated over the past year. This 
brings together all activities with the same common denominator that, consequently, are related to each other 
and which, in recent years, have involved heavy investment in terms of organisation, human resources, 
content and software. Not just the TV channels, but also radio, the on-line trading platforms, the news and 
financial information sold with professional software applications, the websites of MF-Milano Finanza and 
Italia Oggi, the e-commerce sites, and the applications for tablets, radio and corporate TV (turnkey services 
provided to banks and companies requiring internal radio-TV systems): they are all part of a unified whole 
that brings together both technologies and markets. This is particularly true now that multimedia groups are 
increasingly counting together both channel and on-line users, with the sum of all these users probably 
becoming the parameter for measuring the success of future investment. 
 
This area therefore includes the following companies: E-Class Spa, PMF News Spa, Class Digital Service 
Srl, MF Service Spa (for services concerning the area) and MF Dow Jones News Srl. 
It also includes Class Cnbc Spa, Class Editori Spa (only activities dedicated to the digital terrestrial Class TV 
channel and the Class Life channel), Radio Classica Srl, a national classical music and financial reporting 
network, Telesia Spa (out-of-home television leader in airports, metro systems and motorway service areas), 
Class TV Service Srl, Class Meteo Services Srl and TV Moda Srl. 
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Additionally, Aldebaran Srl was acquired at the start of the year with the specific objective of significantly 
expanding the TV-in-motion business (metro, bus and tram) and creating strong technical and commercial 
synergies with Telesia.  

 

The results for this business area in 2014 are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 31,978 33,723 1,745 5.5 

Direct operating costs 34,247 35,201 954 2.8 

Contribution margin (2,269) (1,478) 791 34.8 

% of revenues (7.1) (4.4)   

 
The increase in revenues principally relates to the financial information areas, where the sales of services to 
banks and of agency news generated additional revenues of about 1.7 million euro with respect to the prior 
year. Despite the increase in TV advertising, there was a slight decline in the revenues of the other digital 
areas due to a reduction in the value of an important contract for the sale of content. Overall, area revenues 
rose by 5.5%. 
The rise in operating costs was less than proportional, despite the higher costs linked to the sale of financial 
services to banks and the content and distribution costs incurred in the TV areas, which were acquired on 
more advantageous terms in the prior year. 
As a consequence, the contribution margin was 34.8% greater than in 2013. 
 
B) Newspapers area  
 
This area comprises Milano Finanza Editori Spa, the company that publishes MF-Milano Finanza which had 
an average circulation (ADS data) of approximately 68,700 copies during the year, and, as regards 
newspapers services, MF Service Srl. 

 

The results for this business area in 2014 are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change 
(%) 

Revenues 20,893 18,830 (2,063) (9.9) 

Direct operating costs 12,717 11,172 (1,545)  (12.2) 

Contribution margin 8,176 7,658 (518) (6.3) 

% of revenues 39.1 40.7   

The reduction in revenue was principally due to the decreases in circulation turnover (news-stands and 
subscriptions), discussed earlier, and advertising. As a result, costs fell by 12%.  
The reduction in direct operating costs mainly reflects the lower industrial and distribution costs incurred.  
Results benefited from the MF 25 special edition, mentioned above, which generated a profit of more than 
0.5 million euro. 

A further 4.5% interest in Milano Finanza Editori was acquired during the year, which has raised the holding 
from 84.3% to 88.8%. 
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C) Periodical area 
 
This segment includes the companies Class Editori Spa, Milano Finanza Editori Spa (for the magazines 
Gentleman and Gentleman Real Estate, Patrimoni, Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living) Edis Srl 
(which publishes Ladies), Campus Editori Srl, Lombard Editori Srl, Global Finance Media Inc., and Country 
Class Editori Srl (which publishes Capital). It also comprises Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl, limited to the 
revenues deriving from the Assinews and Rischio Sanità periodicals.  
The titles for male readers, Class and Capital, each with an average monthly circulation of about 56,000 
copies, together lead the high-end segment for male targets. 

The results for this business area in 2014 are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 15,740 14,789 (951) (6.0) 

Direct operating costs 15,842 14,897 (945) (6.0) 

Contribution margin (102) (108) (6) (5.9) 

% of revenues (0.6) (0.7)   
 
The overall decline in revenues was due to opposing phenomena: 
 
 the very positive and encouraging performance of Ladies, which was relaunched in May with a new 

layout that generated advertising revenues in excess of 300 thousand euro in the first month, together 
with the very good revenues earned by Class Eccellenza Italia, a Chinese-language magazine 
distributed in both Italy and China; 

 the reduction in the advertising and circulation revenues of other periodicals distributed in Italy and the 
decline in the revenues earned by Global Finance, the US magazine. 

 
Nevertheless, the reduction in costs was more than proportional, enabling the contribution margin to remain 
stable.  
 
D) Professional services area 
 
This area includes Class Pubblicità Spa, MF Conference Srl, DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl and Classpi Digital 
Srl. It also includes the activities of the Salone dello studente (Student Fair) organised by Campus Srl and 
those of Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl relating to the organisation of conferences. 
 
The results for this business area in 2014 are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 9,916 11,323 1,407 14.2 

Direct operating costs 8,736 9,520 784 9.0 

Contribution margin 1,180 1,803 623 52.8 

% of revenues 11.9 15.9   
 
About half of the increase in the revenues of this area was due to consolidating Classpi for the entire year, 
compared with the prior year when it was only consolidated from June. The other half was attributable to the 
good progress made in the conferences and student fair sector. In the conferences area, the "Motore Italia" 
conference dedicated to those SMEs that drive the country forward was very successful. With regard to the 
student fair area, there was a larger number of events (up from 8 to 9, with the addition of an event in Turin) 
and the average revenue from each event also rose. 
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As a consequence, area costs were 9% higher and the contribution margin rose from 12 to 16% of revenues. 

Given the positive results obtained during the year and great expectations for future performance, a further 
25% interest in Classpi was acquired during the year in order to raise ownership from 51% to 76%. 
 
Class Pubblicità generates its revenue as the sub-concessionaire for the sales of advertising space in all 
Group publications. 
 

Relations with related parties and affiliates 
 
Economic and financial relations with associates and related parties are described in a separate section of this 
consolidated annual report. 
With regard to investments measured using the equity method, appropriate adjustments have been made to 
recognise the differences between their carrying amounts and the Group's interest in their net equity. 

Equity investments 
 
The following details concern the subsidiaries: 
 
- Aldebaran Srl: this company owns the technologies and activities of Moby, the outdoor TV 

channel delivered on buses, trams and metro trains; the 2014 pre-tax profit was 4 thousand euro (loss 
of 10 thousand after taxes). 
 

- Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl: this company, based in Pordenone, has published the monthly Assinews 
since 1989, a magazine covering insurance techniques, law and information, and also publishes the 
specialized quarterly magazine Rischio Sanità, as well as a series of books all relating to the world of 
insurance policies. The company closed 2014 with a pre-tax loss of 164 thousand euro (loss of 240 
thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Campus Editori Srl: This company, based in Milan, is the publisher and owner of the magazine Campus 
e Campus Web as well as the local editions of Tutto Università (“Everything University") in addition to 
being the organizer of the Student Fair in various universities. The company closed 2014 with a pre-tax 
profit of 268 thousand euro (200 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- CFN CNBC Holding BV: this company, based in the Netherlands, holds a controlling interest in Class 
CNBC Spa and closed 2014 with a loss of 30,000 euros. 
 

- Class CNBC Spa: this company, based in Milan, operates the TV channel of the same name. The year 
closed with a pre-tax profit of 945 thousand euro (618 thousand euro after taxes) . 
 

- Class Editori Service Srl in liquidation: this company, based in Milan, provided administrative, 
financial, control, subscription management, EDP and technical production services to the Publishing 
House until 31 December 2013. Following disposal of the line of business and the transfer of all 
personnel at the start of 2014, the company is now dormant and has been put into liquidation. The 
company closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 216 thousand euro (91 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- CHTV Srl: this investment was acquired during 2014. The company is now dormant following disposal 
of the TV channel line of business during 2014. The company closed 2014 with a net loss of 956 
thousand euro.  
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- CCeC - Class China eCommerce Srl: this company, formed during the year and currently at the start-up 
stage, is the principal Italian agent for the Chinese B2B platform CCIG MALL. The first year of activities 
closed with a loss of 63 thousand euro (loss of 62 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Class Meteo Services Srl in liquidation: the company, based in Milan, was formed on 2 February 2010 
and is still in the start-up phase. It will develop products for the weather forecasting sector, to be 
distributed to the various business channels of the Publishing House. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax loss of 
20 thousand euro (35 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Class Servizi Televisivi Srl: this company, established during the second half of 2011 and wholly owned 
by Class Editori Spa, is based in Milan and produces television programmes and other support for the 
Publishing House's television businesses. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 155 thousand euro (87 
thousand euro after taxes).  
 

- Class TV Service Srl: the company, based in Milan, produces television and support programmes for the 
television organizations of the publishing house. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 173 thousand euro 
(112 thousand euro after taxes).  
 

- Classint Advertising Srl in liquidation: this Milan-based company was purchased during the second 
half of 2011. It operates in the web sector, managing websites and advertising sales. It closed 2014 with a 
pre-tax loss of 82 thousand euro (79 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Classpi - Class Pubblicità Spa: this company, based in Milan, operates as the concessionaire of the 
Publishing House for the collection of advertising business. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 429 
thousand euro (452 thousand euro after taxes).  
 

- Country Class Editori Srl: this company, based in Milan, publishes Capital, a monthly magazine. It 
closed 2014 with a loss of 2,010 thousand euro (loss of 2,050 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation: this company, based in Milan, operates in the field of report 
analysis and the management of financial databases. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 9 thousand 
euro (2 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- E-Class Spa: this company, based in Milan, operates in the satellite transmission of data and financial 
information, and in the creation of Corporate Television platforms. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 
723 thousand euro (661 thousand euro after taxes). 

 
- Class Digital Service Srl: this company, based in Milan, was incorporated on 21st December 2012, and 

owns holdings in E-Class Spa and PMF News Editori Spa. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 24 
thousand euro (86 euro after taxes). 
 

- Edis Srl: this company, based in Milan, publishes Ladies and closed 2014 with a pre-tax loss of 706 
thousand euro (loss of 697 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- EX.CO Srl in liquidation: this company, based in Milan, operates as a daily press agency and closed 
2014 with a pre-tax loss of 7 thousand euro (loss of 7 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Fashion Work Business Club Srl: this company, based in Milan, operated actively in the fashion field, 
providing organisational and liaison services and publishing its namesake magazine featuring 
announcements for the sector. It is currently dormant and closed 2014 with a pre-tax loss of 24 thousand 
euro (loss of 22 thousand euro after taxes). 
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- Global Finance Media Inc: this company, based in New York (USA), owns and publishes the 

international financial publication Global Finance. The company closed 2014 with a net profit of 251 
thousand dollars.  
 

- I Love Italia Srl: this company, based in Palermo, has been put into liquidation. 
 

- Lombard Editori Srl: this company, based in Milan, publishes and owns Lombard. It closed 2014 with a 
pre-tax loss of 63 thousand euro (loss of 58 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Milano Finanza Editori Spa: this company, with registered office in Milan, publishes MF/Milano 
Finanza, MF Fashion and the monthlies Patrimoni and Gentleman. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 
1,516 thousand euro (951 thousand euro after taxes).  
 

- MF Editori Srl: this company, based in Milan, owns MF-Milano Finanza. The company closed 2014 
with a net profit of one thousand euro. 

 
- MF Service Srl (formerly Milano Finanza Service Srl): this company, based in Milan, operates in the 

publishing field and closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 368 thousand euro (183 thousand euro after 
taxes). 
 

- MF Servizi Editoriali Srl: this company, based in Milan, operates in the field of page-setting. It closed 
2014 with a pre-tax profit of 578 thousand euro (381 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- MF Conference Srl: this company, based in Milan, was dedicated to the organisation of conventions and 
conferences. Activity essentially ceased at the end of the prior year following contribution of the 
operating line of business to MF Servizi Editoriali Srl.  It closed 2014 with a pre-tax loss of 19 thousand 
euro (loss of 33 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- MF Dow Jones News Srl: this company, based in Milan, was set up on 23 December 2002 under a 50% 
joint venture between Dow Jones and Company Inc. and Class Editori Spa for the production and sale of 
economic and financial information in the Italian language, in real time. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax 
profit of 254 thousand euro (170 thousand euro after taxes). 

 
- New Satellite Radio Srl: this company, based in Milan, was acquired during the year. It closed 2014 

with a pre-tax loss of 16 thousand euro (loss of 18 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- PMF News Editori Spa: this subsidiary operates in real time via satellite as a daily press agency and 
provides on-line trading services for banks. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 824 thousand euro (709 
thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Radio Classica Srl: this company, based in Milan, was set up in September 2000 with the aim of 
developing the group's involvement in the radio sector. The national network uses all available 
technological innovations in radio broadcasting, with the digital signal being broadcast both via satellite 
and over the Internet. The company formed Radio Cina Italia Srl at the end of 2014 and immediately 
contributed all frequencies and concessions unrelated to Lombardy to the newco. It closed 2014 with a 
pre-tax loss of 477 thousand euro (loss of 556 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- Telesia Spa: this company, based in Rome, operates in the field of out-of-home television. During the 
year it absorbed Classpi Digital Srl, a subsidiary company. It closed 2014 with a pre-tax profit of 175 
thousand euro (81 thousand euro after taxes). 
 

- TV Moda Srl: this company, based in Milan, produces television programming for the channel of the 
same name, which is broadcast on channel 180 of the Sky platform Since 2005, TV Moda has been a 
television channel dedicated entirely to the world of Italian fashion and its protagonists. It closed 2014 
with a pre-tax loss of one thousand euro (loss of 9 thousand euro after taxes). 

 
 



 

                                                                                          Page 23 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACED BY THE COMPANY 
 
Risks relating to the sector in which the Company operates  
 
The economic and financial crisis that afflicted western markets and had a significant impact on the 
publishing market is, without doubt, the main element of risk for the Publishing House, whose advertising 
revenues are approximately 50% of total turnover and generate the greatest margin.  
The economic recovery is slow to arrive: investment in communications by firms, which underpins the 
advertising revenues of publishing companies, depends heavily on the structural situation of the country's 
economy. The awaited and desired recovery is therefore, at present, the principal risk conditioning the future 
of the company. 
As mentioned, positive signals from the advertising market were seen during the year, with a slowdown in 
the reduction in business volume compared with 2013.  
However, the signals from the advertising investment market in 2014 still seem to be based on caution. 
Given the continuing uncertainty, the Publishing House has revised (as explained later) the business plan 
approved at the start of the year, considering both the greater risks associated with revenue performance and 
the opportunities deriving from the new digital businesses and from cost savings, many of which have 
already been obtained.  
With regard to the specific risks faced by the newspaper sector, reference is made to the information 
published in the prospectus for the capital increase of Class Editori: Decree no. 66 dated 24 April 2014 on 
urgent measures for competition and social justice” abolished the obligatory advertising in national and local 
newspapers of contract announcements and tenders (required by Decree no. 163 dated 12 April 2006), 
adopting a proposal made many times by previous governments but always deferred in view of the profound 
impact on the national and local press. However, para. 1-bis of the law converting this decree (Law no. 
89/2014), approved definitively by the Chamber of Deputies on 18 June 2014 deferred application of the new 
provisions until 1 January 2016. 

In addition, as mentioned in the quarterly report and the prospectus for the capital increase, during 2014 the 
Company still faced the risks deriving from the abrogation by Decree 91/2014 of the obligation to publish 
required information about listed companies in a daily newspaper, as well as the notices of meetings of 
participants in investment management companies. Subsequent to the end of the first half, the Senate 
approved the conversion into law of Decree 91/2014 after deleting the provisions that would have abolished 
the requirement to publish specified information about listed companies in a daily newspaper. Following 
publication in the Official Gazette of the law converting Decree 91/2014, the requirement for listed 
companies to publish extracts of shareholders' agreements in a daily newspaper has been reinstated, together 
with the notice of shareholders' meetings and other specified information. In addition, the conversion law 
amended article 22 to require investment management companies to publish their notices of meetings of 
participants "in at least two national daily newspapers" (para. 5-quinquies of article 22).  
 
Credit risk associated with commercial relations with customers  
 
Following the write-down of receivables, the Publishing House now has a solid portfolio of leading 
customers. At the moment, these do not give rise to solvency concerns, although the average collection 
period did deteriorate during the year. The value of receivables booked in the financial statements, in any 
case, takes into account both the risk of default on payment - by means of opportune write-downs – as well 
as the deferment of the collection over time by means of the relative discounting of cash flows associated 
with the changed collection times for receivables (time value), in accordance with the requirements of 
international accounting principles. 
The Publishing House intends to continue monitoring outstanding receivables closely, especially in a market 
context that has caused major problems and financial difficulties for many businesses operating in Italy. 
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Interest-rate risks 
 
Group policy does not contemplate speculative investment in financial products. Despite the situation 
involving markets with low interest rates, no bank exposure hedging operations were implemented. In 
addition to the cash flows from operations, Group companies obtain finance in the form of lines of credit 
from the parent company, which are remunerated on normal market terms. 
The deterioration of results in recent years has lowered the credit rating of Group companies. This, together 
with the financial squeeze imposed on businesses by the banking system, has caused interest rates to rise to 
the current level paid, which is deemed to be stable. Further changes in market interest rates may influence 
the return on investments and the cost of financing, thereby affecting the financial income and charges 
reported in the income statement. At this time, considering the general state of economic recession, the 
incentives for lending made available by the ECB, the rate curve expressed by the market and the overall 
level of interest charges paid by the Company, the risk of further rises is limited. 

 

Exchange-rate risks 
 
With the exception of the US activities managed by Global Finance Inc. and the services acquired directly 
from China for the production and distribution of Eccellenza Italia, the Publishing House operates almost 
entirely within the Euro area. Transactions settled in currencies other than the Euro are very limited. There 
therefore do not seem to be significant exchange rate risks.  
 

Liquidity risks 
 
The financial market and the liquidity crisis that has spread from the banks to the private sector make it more 
difficult to renew banking, commercial and financial lines of credit, although about 95% of these have been 
renewed until 31 December 2015 by the Publishing House. 
Given confirmation of the banking lines of credit until 31/12/2015 and the residual availability of funds 
deriving from the capital increase, there are not thought to be any liquidity risks in the short term.  
 

Disputes in progress  
 
In 2005, the Milan office of the Tax Authorities served assessment notices on the Milano Finanza Editori 
Spa, relating to the 2002 and 2003 tax years. After the appeal filed by Milano Finanza, the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan filed its own first instance judgment on 17 July 2007, partially granting the grievances 
submitted by the company, and essentially cutting in half the value of the initial taxable amounts. In the 
meantime, however, as required by law, 50% of the amount assessed has been entered in the tax rolls. The 
payment of the tax payment requests was made in July 2006, for an amount of approximately 354,000 Euros. 
The hearing at the CTP of Milan was held on 6th July 2009. The judgment, which was filed on 11th 
November 2009, dismissed the Agency's appeal regarding the notice of assessment for the year 2003, while 
the appeal was partially granted concerning the notice of assessment for 2002. Specifically, the Agency's 
petition regarding point n° 4 of the notice of assessment was granted, that is, the failure to book receivable 
interest (Art. 56 Income Tax Consolidation Act-TUIR), entailing the recovery of the respective taxes in 
connection with direct taxation, for 340,901.46 euros. The company, assisted by Studio Legale Tributario 
Gallo, established by Franco Gallo, presented an appeal to the Supreme Court of Cassation in December 
2010. The date of the hearing has yet to be established. 
 
A dispute is currently underway with Inpgi with respect to the companies Class Editori Spa and Milano 
Finanza Spa (as well as the affiliated company Italia Oggi Editori – Erinne Srl); the institute has put forth 
claims on alleged contribution violations which the company considers groundless. Given the available 
amnesty in relation to disputes with Inpgi, the Publishing House determined that it would be expedient to 
settle the disputes regarding the initial assessments received. The amounts agreed were paid in instalments, 
terminating in 2013. As a consequence, the provision recorded to cover this liability, 400 thousand euro, was 
used in full.  
The dispute concerning the assessments made by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. 
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The request amounts to approximately 1.6 million euros overall. Supported by the opinion of Ichino-
Brugnatelli e Associati, the defence lawyers, it has not been deemed necessary to record any provisions in 
this regard (consistent with the requirements of IAS 37). In further support of the approach taken by the 
Publishing House, in April 2014 the Rome Court of Appeal accepted in full the appeal presented by Italia 
Oggi in relation to a similar dispute with Inpgi, overturning the adverse first-level ruling (no. 11131/2).  
With regard to the dispute involving Class Editori, on 31 October 2014 the Rome Court of Appeal rejected 
the company's appeal and, accordingly, a further appeal to the Court of Cassation will be filed by the 
deadline set of 24 May 2015. In relation to the dispute involving Milano Finanza Editori, the ruling of the 
Rome Court of Appeal filed on 30 May 2014 partially revised the first-level ruling made in 2011, with a 
more favourable outcome for the company. Accordingly, a possible appeal to the Court of Cassation by Inpgi 
is awaited. 
 
Classpi Spa was served with assessments following inspections carried out at the principal concessionaires 
covering the tax years from 2002 to 2007. These related to the alleged non-deductibility of VAT on costs for 
negotiation rights paid to Media Centres, as is the practice in the sector. 
The first-level ruling was favourable to the company, except in relation to the 2005 tax year. In that case, the 
Milan CTP (Section 1) unexpectedly rejected the company's appeal by ruling no. 191 of 7 June 2011, which 
was filed on 7 September 2011. 
An appeal was therefore made to the Lombardy Regional Tax Commission whose ruling no. 19/13/13, filed 
on 23 January 2013, was adverse to the company. Accordingly, an appeal to the Court of Cassation was filed 
on 7 October 2013. 
Equitalia-Esatri had already issued an enforcement demand for 50% of the assessed taxes (except for Ires), 
totalling 346 thousand euro. This demand covered the matters raised in the inspection of the 2005 tax year, 
as well as those relating to the negotiating rights recorded in the 2005, 2006 and 2007 tax years. 
 
After the usual rejection of the suspension petition, an application to pay the demand by instalments was 
presented. The request was accepted at the beginning of 2011. The Company has paid about 221 thousand 
euro, which is more than the overall amount due based on the outcome of the first-level ruling. Payment by 
instalment plan was therefore suspended, following the issues of relief measures by the Tax Authorities. On 
29 May 2012, the Company received a rebate of 126 thousand euro, corresponding to the excess amount paid 
with respect to the ruling of the Provincial Tax Commission. 
 
With regard to the 2002, 2003 and 2004 tax years, ruling no. 81/14/12 of the Lombardy Regional Tax 
Commission, filed on 10 July 2012, confirmed the first-level ruling in favour of the Company. On 18 July 
2013, the Tax Authorities filed an appeal to the Court of Cassation against ruling no. 8/14/12. Classpi 
counter-appealed on 24 October 2013. 
 
Lastly, with regard to the 2006 and 2007 tax years, ruling no. 58/12/13 of the Lombardy Regional Tax 
Commission, filed on 15 March 2013, confirmed the first-level ruling in favour of the Company. Here too, 
the Tax Authorities have appealed to the Court of Cassation against this ruling in favour of the Company 
which, on 17 December 2013, filed a counter-appeal. 
The date of the hearing for all three cases has not yet been set, but will presumably be in about 3 years. 
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On 25 February 2010, Classpi received a notice of assessment following an inspection carried out by the Tax 
Authorities in relation to the 2005 tax year. The notice of assessment includes IRES/IRAP disallowances of 
about 2.5 million euro and VAT disallowances of about 2 million euro. Various disallowances were the 
result of failure by the tax inspectors to consider the actual situation in the advertising market in general, and 
the typical outcome of barter contracts in particular, since the entire publishing sector inevitably re-sells the 
materials/services received at prices below those at which they were purchased. The principal objection 
relating to failure to account for revenues concerning the failure to re-charge to Group companies the 
advertising costs incurred for the promotion of editorial publications. However, those services are governed 
by intra-group agreements that envisage specific remuneration for Classpi. Ruling no. 191 of the Milan 
Provincial Tax Commission (Section 1) was filed on 7 September 2011. This ruling was very favourable 
overall, accepting almost all the company's observations and considerably scaling down the initial objections. 
The Tax Authorities appealed against this ruling and, in turn, the company filed its counter arguments. On 23 
January 2013, the Milan Regional Tax Commission essentially confirmed the first-level ruling and the 
general propriety of the company's actions. Although both rulings were extremely favourable, reducing the 
original claim by the Tax Authorities for additional taxable income of 2.5 million euro to about 370 thousand 
euro, the company nevertheless decided to appeal to the Court of Cassation in view of the adverse ruling 
made on the matter of negotiation rights in relation to the tax year concerned. 
 
Personal  
 
Period average: 

 
 31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute change 

Executives 13 10 (3) 

Journalists 138 141 3 

Clerical staff 171 161 (10) 

Total 322 312 (10) 

 
The first-time consolidation of Aldebaran in January 2014 increased the average number of journalists by 8. 

On a consistent basis with respect to 31 December 2013, employment would have fallen overall by 18. 

Work continued throughout the year to contain and reduce, where possible, the level of employment in the 
less productive areas with recourse to the social amortisers.  
 
In particular, Country Class entered the special government-assisted lay-off programme in August 2013 for a 
period of two years, alongside that already in place for Campus. In addition, employment solidarity contracts 
were activated for Milano Finanza Editori, Class Editori and Edis in June 2013 for a period of two years. 
 
From the start of 2014, these solidarity contracts were extended to MF Service and MF Servizi Editoriali, as 
part of an overall plan to rationalise and reorganise line and staff activities. 
Other Group companies, not yet assisted by the social amortisers, the voluntary "Cooperation and Solidarity" 
contribution plan has remained in place whereby, from March 2013, employees are able to contribute 10% of 
their salary on a voluntary basis. 
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The Publishing House employs 3 apprentices at 31 December 2014. 

Class Editori Spa carries out its activities at its registered offices, Via Burigozzo 5, Milan, and also at the 
following secondary offices: 

Milan - Via Burigozzo 8 

Rome - Via Santa Maria in Via 12  

New York – 7 East, 20th Street 

London - St Mary Abchurch House, 5th Floor 123 Cannon Street 
 
Report on Corporate Governance 2014 
 
This report, presented for approval by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2015, is contained in a separate 
document that is available on the Company's website (www.classeditori.it), in the section entitled Bilanci e 
relazioni. 
 
Balance sheet highlights after 31 December 2014 
 
Class Editori has been a shareholder of WeToBusiness, the operational vehicle of WeChat in Italy, since the 
middle of March.  The partnership between the Publishing House and the fourth largest global internet group 
(Tencent) involves Class becoming a shareholder as well as offering services, based on the WeChat platform, 
aimed at Italian companies that wish to exploit the opportunities of the Chinese market. By opening an 
official account on WeChat, small, medium-sized and large companies can now offer sales services directly, 
provide customer support and carry out marketing actions that address Chinese customers and prospects, 
reaching a pool of over 1 billion registered users. 
Opening a WeChat account also offers an opportunity for companies that use the e-commerce platform 
CCIGMall, represented in Italy by Class Editori, to strengthen their development strategy in the Asian 
market, positioning themselves on what is a formidable social media as well as a comprehensive 
communication tool. 
In addition, WeChat’s direct presence in Italy, where there are already millions of registered users, positions 
the country as a trampoline for developing the platform in Europe assisted by the offer of Class services. 
The services offered by Class Editori are not aimed solely at companies interested in exporting or at building 
business relationships in China, but also at all Italian companies that wish to target Chinese tourists in Italy 
(over 1 million expected this year for the Expo). 
The forthcoming WeChat account of Eccellenza Italia, the Class Editori information system, comprising a 
magazine delivered in China to Italian visa applicants, an app and a traditional website, will make it possible 
to carry out advertising campaigns geographically targeted at Chinese visitors to Italy. 
Thanks to WeChat and WeClass (the special division of Class Editori), Italian shops and companies can talk 
to tourists and offer their services directly by chatting, as well as being then able to monitor customers and 
profile them using CRM. 
  
This further completes the two-way publishing and communication system established by Class Editori in 
relation to China, which includes www.vendereaicinesi.it, www.turisticinesi.it and the tourist guide App, as 
well as ChinatoItaly shopping, which is work in progress. 
  
A new structure for Class Pubblicità was launched in February, based on principles of integration, 
verticalisation, centrality and customer development, with the aim of responding to changes in a market that 
is moving towards multiple media and which, finally, is showing signs of an improvement in 2015.  
The organisational structure is responsive to customer requirements, which guide the communication 
process. It is also flexible, so the lines will present all forms of communication to the market, while 
maintaining specialisation in specific sectors. 
Another opportunity for ClassPi is the partnership with Sky for digital terrestrial channel 27, currently used 
by SkyTg24.  

https://mail.tencent.com/owa/redir.aspx?C=2b91aa420e9841c788d5f2d23c1221e5&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.vendereaicinesi.it
http://www.turisticinesi.it/
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The agreement includes a commercial partnership between the two concessionaires Sky Pubblicità and Class 
Pubblicità, which will cover the development of the portfolio of specialist customers in the finance, banking 
and insurance sector. Class Pubblicità has the concession to sell on-air advertising space from 1 March 2015 
for these sectors using different methods for different customer types. 
 
  
Business outlook 
 
During the year, management has been engaged in checking the progress of the strategic and business plan. 
In the light of the results achieved and the most recent market data available, the sale of the broadcasting 
permit on digital terrestrial LCN 27, the ongoing crisis in the domestic economy but also the opportunities 
that have opened up in digital business and e-commerce in China, on 13 March 2015 the Board of Directors 
approved a revision of the strategic plan produced under a mandate granted by the Board to the Vice 
Chairman and Managing Director and the executive directors on 13 November 2014. 
This revision is based on the following guidelines: 
 
• Maintaining the market share of the daily newspapers; 

• Recovering the turnover of the periodicals (already achieved in 2014); 

• Concentrating the television part on ClassCNBC and Out-of-Home TV as well as on corporate TV and 
on Class TV Moda; 

• Significant growth of the Internet sector; 

• Continuing the development of advanced digital financial services for banks; 

• seeking new openings on e-commerce and digital platforms, especially through the Chinese platform 
CCIGMall, which deals with B2B and B2C e-commerce and with the opportunities opened up by the 
agreement with WeChat. 

 
In the current year, major activity is planned in relation to Expo 2015, with further internationalisation that 
will include the publications (MF International in China, Brazil, UAE, Russia, Eccellenza Italia, Global 
Finance, foreign editions of Gentleman and other initiatives). Healthy revenues are expected.  
 

 
 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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INVESTMENTS HELD BY DIRECTORS, STATUTORY AUDITORS AND EXECUTIVES 
WITH STRATEGIC RESPONSIBILITIES 

         
Surname First name Company held N° shares held 

31/12/2013 
notes Purchases Notes Reductions N° sharesheld 

31/12/2014 
Notes 

 
Directors 

        

         
Uckmar Victor Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  
         
Panerai Paolo Class Editori  Spa 13,178,856  22,321,429  5,419,137 30,081,148 1 
 Milano Finanza Editori Spa           7,500                     -            -            7,500   
 Class Pubblicità Spa           245,000                125,000             120,000  2 
 Lombard Editori Srl         48,510                     -                   -          48,510  3 
 Edis Srl              100   -  -              100  4 
 MF Service Srl         1,198   -  -         1,198  5 
 Class CNBC Spa           1,000                  1,000  6 
 .        
Magnaschi Pierluigi Class Editori  Spa -   -  - -   
 Milano Finanza Editori  Spa           1,250   -  -           1,250   
         
Capolino Gabriele Class Editori  Spa 182,118  7 -  - 182,118  7 
  Milano Finanza Editori Spa           2,500   -  -           2,500   

         
Terrenghi Elena Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Vassallo Maria Grazia Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Bolster William L. Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Del Bue Paolo Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Carfagna Maurizio Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Martellini Maria Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Panerai Luca Class Editori  Spa 8,750 8 9,295  - 18,045 8 

         
Riccardi Angelo Class Editori  Spa           4,400   7,436     11,836   

         
Librio Samanta Class  Editori Spa 12,100  -  - 12,100  

         
Kann Peter Class  Editori Spa -  -  - -  

         
Andrea Mattei (General 
Manager) 

Class  Editori Spa -  -  - -  

         
Executives with 
strategic responsibilities 
(4) Class  Editori Spa 65,200  -  - 65,200 

 

 Telesia Spa           178,125                     -                   -            178,125   
         
Auditors                   

         
Mascheroni Carlo Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Cambieri Lucia Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Mario Medici Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Vieri Chimenti Class Editori  Spa -   -  - -   

         
1) 30,051,148 direct shares and 30,000 indirect category B shares via Compagnia Fiduciaria Nazionale Spa 
2) Indirectly via Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai                                                           
3) Indirectly via Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai   
4) Indirectly via Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai   
5) Indirectly via Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai   
6) Direct                                                                                                                                                             
7) No. 3,000 cat. shares B         
8) No. 2,500 cat. shares B         
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STOCK OPTION PLANS 
 

There are no stock option plans. 

 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS OF SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 
STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Fixed assets 

 
Other non-

current 
assets 

 
Current 

assets 

 
Net Equity 

 
Severance 

Indemnities 

 
Other non-

current 
liabilities 

 
Current 

liabilities 

Aldebaran  Srl 859 -- 893 835 265 -- 652 
Assinform/Dal Cin Editore  Srl 79 520 663 75 74 265 848 

Class Editori Service Srl in liquidation 1 -- 298 128 -- -- 171 
Campus Editori Srl 14 2 3,267 248 53 -- 2,982 
Class TV Service Srl 16 -- 3,502 250 31 -- 3,237 
Cfn / Cnbc Holding B.V. 7,097 1,906 16 8,868 -- -- 151 
Class CNBC Spa 290 4 17,460 3,400 441 -- 13,913 
Country Class Editori Srl 1,641 -- 2,149 23 329 -- 3,438 
DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation -- -- 130 70 -- -- 60 
e-Class Spa 7,026 6 13,100 3,929 362 75 15,766 
Edis Srl -- 2 6,144 13 490 -- 5,643 
EX.CO Srl in liquidation -- -- 121 93 -- -- 28 
Fashion Work Business Club -- -- 86 7 -- -- 79 
Global Finance Media Inc. 1,021 13 1,909 1,599 -- -- 1,344 
Lombard Editori Srl -- -- 1,348 157 -- -- 1,191 
MF Conference Srl -- -- 154 -9 -- -- 163 
MF Dow Jones News Srl 98 1 4,465 725 348 8 3,483 
Milano Finanza Editori Spa 13 3,939 39,290 1,323 684 -- 41,235 
MF Editori Srl -- -- 49 30 -- -- 19 
MF Service Srl 806 3 17,966 30 1,432 -- 17,313 
M.F. Servizi Editoriali Srl 309 2 9,392 263 1,116 -- 8,324 
New Satellite Radio Srl 7 -- 813 13 -- 228 579 
PMF News Editori Spa 1,896 -- 14,965 4,982 -- -- 11,879 
Radio Classica Srl 3,782 2,568 3,899 16 220 12 10,001 
Telesia Spa 1,077 18 7,175 3,287 363 -- 4,620 
CCeC – Class China eCommerce Srl 2 -- 151 73 1 -- 79 
Class Meteo Services Srl in liquidation -- -- 622 -633 -- -- 1,255 
TV Moda Srl 238 -- 867 31 14 -- 1,060 
Classint Advertising Srl in liquidation -- -- 17 -74 -- -- 91 
Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 167 1 2,646 128 101 -- 2,585 
Class Digital Service Srl -- 5,633 124 5,701 -- -- 56 
Class Pubblicità Spa 302 29 52,168 580 739 -- 51,180 
CHTV Srl 54 -- 2,791 (925) -- -- 3,770 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Revenues 

 
Operating 

costs 

 
Depreciation, 

amortisation and 
write-downs 

 
Financial 

income/ 
(charges) net 

 
Result (pre-tax) 

 
Net result 

for year 

Aldebaran Srl 980 869 (90) (17) 4 (10) 
Assinform/Dal Cin Editore  Srl 1,573 1,323 (388) (26) (164) (240) 

Class Editori Service Srl in liquidation 654 246 (95) (97) 216 91 
Campus Editori Srl 1,890 1,600 (49) 27 268 200 
Class TV Service Srl 2,440 2,291 (8) 32 173 112 
Cfn / Cnbc Holding B.V. -- 30 -- -- (30) (30) 
Class CNBC Spa 9,289 7,910 (148) (286) 945 618 
Country Class Editori Srl 1,069 1,643 (1,367) (69) (2,010) (2,050) 
DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation 38 27 -- (2) 9 2 
e-Class Spa 7,873 5,018 (1,889) (243) 723 661 
Edis Srl 853 1,519 (2) (38) (706) (697) 
EX.CO Srl in liquidation -- 4 -- (3) (7) (7) 
Fashion Work Business Club 2 24 (6) 4 (24) (22) 
Global Finance Media Inc. 3,702 3,494 (27) (3) 178 172 
Lombard Editori Srl 130 178 -- (15) (63) (58) 
MF Conference Srl 146 154 -- (11) (19) (33) 
MF Dow Jones News Srl 6,030 5,707 (67) (2) 254 170 
Milano Finanza Editori Spa 23,757 21,739 (22) (480) 1,516 951 
MF Editori Srl 1 -- -- -- 1 1 
MF Service Srl 5,937 5,152 (14) (403) 368 183 
M.F. Servizi Editoriali Srl 4,211 3,562 (23) (48) 578 381 
New Satellite Radio Srl -- 2 (6) (8) (16) (18) 
PMF News Editori Spa 10,233 9,026 (553) 170 824 709 
Radio Classica Srl 1,538 1,640 (157) (218) (477) (556) 
Telesia Spa 4,800 4,305 (315) (9) 171 77 
CCeC – Class China ECommerce Srl 12 75 -- -- (63) (62) 
Class Meteo Services Srl in liquidation 359 287 (58) (34) (20) (35) 
TV Moda Srl 550 533 (4) (14) (1) (9) 
Classint Advertising Srl in liquidation 6 86 -- (2) (82) (79) 
Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 2,924 2,738 (22) (9) 155 87 
Class Digital Service Srl 46 21 -- (1) 24 86 
Class Pubblicità Spa 21,482 20,129 (1,324) 400 429 452 
CHTV Srl 1,003 1,833 (26) (2) (858) (956) 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
 
 
 

 
STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Fixed assets 

 
Other non-

current 
assets 

 
Current 

assets 

 
Net Equity 

 
Severance 

Indemnities 

 
Other non-

current 
liabilities 

 
Current 

liabilities 

Italia OggiEditori-Erinne Srl 64 4,294 34,410 29 1,313 -- 37,426 

Class Roma Srl in liquidation -- -- 34 (60) -- -- 94 

Italia Oggi Srl -- -- 190 189 -- -- 1 

Mito Srl 20 -- 74 80 2 -- 12 

Radio Cina Italia Srl 5,242 -- -- 5,242 -- -- -- 

 
 
 

 
INCOME STATEMENT 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Revenues 

 
Operating 

costs 

 
Depreciation, 

amortisation and 
write-downs 

 
Financial 

income/ 
(charges) net 

 
Result 

 (pre-tax) 

 
Net result for 

year 

Italia Oggi Editori – Erinne Srl 22,969 22,245 (61) (392) 271 152 

Class Roma Srl in liquidation 47 72 (2) (4) (31) (32) 
Italia Oggi Srl 23 1 -- -- 22 10 

Mito Srl 414 393 (7) (9) 5 5 

Radio Cina Italia Srl -- -- -- -- -- -- 
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ACCOUNTING SITUATION OF NON-EEC SUBSIDIARIES 
 

BALANCE SHEET ASSETS 
(thousands of euros) 

31 December 2013 
Global Finance (USA) 

31 December 2014 
Global Finance (USA) 

Intangible assets with an indefinite life 861 922 
Other intangible assets -- 83 
Intangible assets 861 1,005 
Property, plant and equipment 24 16 
Investments measured at equity -- -- 
Other equity investments -- -- 
Financial receivables -- -- 
Other receivables 11 13 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 896 1,034 
   
Inventories -- -- 
Trade receivables 1,411 1,416 
Securities -- -- 
Financial receivables -- -- 
Tax receivables 93 105 
Other receivables 23 20 
Liquid funds 339 368 
CURRENT ASSETS 1,866 1,909 
TOTAL ASSETS 2,762 2,943 
 
 

BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES 
(thousands of euros) 

31 December 2013 
Global Finance (USA) 

31 December 2014 
Global Finance (USA) 

Share capital 2,263 2,571 
Share premium account   
Legal reserve   
Other reserves (1,361) (1,144) 
Net profit (loss) for the year 354 172 
NET EQUITY 1,256 1,599 
   
Financial payables -- -- 
Provisions for liabilities and charges -- -- 
Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions -- -- 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES -- -- 
   
Financial payables -- -- 
Trade payables 1,221 1,173 
Tax payables -- -- 
Other payables 285 171 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,506 1,344 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,506 1,344 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 2,762 2,943 
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INCOME STATEMENT 

 (thousands of euros) 
31 December 2013 

Global Finance (USA) 
31 December 2014 

Global Finance (USA) 
Revenues 3,979 3,523 
Other operating income 73 179 
Total revenues 4,052 3,702 
Purchases (184) (170) 
Services (2,133) (1,978) 
Payroll costs (1,017) (1,033) 
Other operating costs (302) (313) 
   
Gross operating margin – Ebitda 416 208 
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs (22) (27) 
Operating result - Ebit 394 181 
   
Net financial income (charges) (27) (3) 
Pre-tax profit (loss) 367 178 
   
Income taxes (13) (6) 
   
Net profit (loss) for the year 354 172 
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Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 
Table showing the consolidated balance sheet-financial situation as of 31 December 2014 

ASSETS 
(thousands of euros) 

Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2014 

Intangible assets with an indefinite life 1 41,868 42,917 
Other intangible assets 2 9,124 11,773 
Intangible assets  50,992 54,690 
Tangible fixed assets 3 4,965 3,894 
Investments measured at net equity 4 4,440 6,688 
Other equity investments 5 763 812 
Non-current trade receivables 6 16,178 16,961 
Non-current tax receivables 7 23,050 23,549 
Other receivables 8 2,997 2,516 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  103,385 109,110 
    Inventory 9 2,698 2,552 
Securities held for trading 10 -- 2,550 
Trade receivables 11 70,369 76,213 
Financial receivables 12 10,821 7,382 
Tax receivables 13 5,852 7,359 
Other receivables 14 19,760 20,296 
Liquid assets 15 11,943 7,498 
CURRENT ASSETS  121,443 123,850 
TOTAL ASSETS  224,828 232,960 

Table showing the consolidated balance sheet-financial situation as of 31 December 2014 

LIABILITIES 
(thousands of euros) 

Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2014 

Share capital  10,561 28,322 
Share premium account  31,329 52,851 
Legal reserve  2,544 2,544 
Other reserves  19,335 (4,853) 
Net profit (loss) for the period  (22,782) (14,408) 
Group net equity  40,987 64,456 
Minority capital and reserves  5,785 6,539 
Minority profit (loss)  1,095 1,219 
Minority net equity  6,880 7,758 
NET EQUITY 16 47,867 72,214 
    Financial payables 17 6,671 2,897 
Deferred tax liabilities 18 2,421 1,212 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 490 2,632 
Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions 20 5,786 7,298 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  15,368 14,039 
    Financial payables 21 81,696 77,762 
Trade payables 22 56,516 45,169 
Tax payables 23 3,456 2,073 
Other payables 24 19,925 21,703 
CURRENT LIABILITIES  161,593 146,707 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  176,961 160,746 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY  224,828 232,960 
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 
 

 

 (thousands of euros) 
Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2014 

Revenues  78,462 77,353 
Other operating income  5,571 12,681 
Total revenues 25 84,033 90,034 
Purchases  (4,384) (3,798) 
Services  (70,882) (64,100) 
Payroll costs  (18,651) (18,870) 
Other operating costs  (3,551) (3,755) 
Investments measured at equity  (85) 67 
Total Operating Costs 26 (97,553) (90,456) 
Gross operating margin – Ebitda  (13,520) (422) 
Non-recurring income/(expense) 27 (3,249) 1,735 
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 28 (8,244) (10,584) 
Operating result - Ebit  (25,013) (9,271) 
    Net financial income (charges) 29 (3,095) (2,922) 
Pre-tax profit (loss)  (28,108) (12,193) 
    Income taxes 30 6,421 (996) 
    Net Profit  (21,687) (13,189) 
    (Profit)/loss attributable to NCI  (1,095) (1,219) 
    Result attributable to the group  (22,782) (14,408) 
Basic earnings per share  (0.22) (0.05) 
Diluted earnings per share  -- -- 

 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 
(thousands of euros) 
 

Notes 31 December 2013 31 December 2014 

Net Profit  (21,687) (13,189) 
Other components of comprehensive income    
    Profit (loss) from the translation of financial statements 31 (38) 170 
Actuarial income/(charges) not recorded in income 
statement (IAS 19) 

31 (259) (828) 

Cost of capital increase deducted from share premium 
account 

        31                                   
-- 

                           
(502) 

    Taxes on other components of comprehensive income 31 -- -- 
    
Total components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect  (297) (1,160) 
    TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (21,984) (14,349) 
    Attributable to:    
    
MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS  1,039 1,107 
PARENT COMPANY SHAREHOLDERS  (23,023) (15,456) 
    TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT  (21,984) (14,349) 
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Statement of changes in the consolidated shareholders' equity 31/12/2012 – 31/12/2013 
 

 

 (thousands of euros) 

Company 

capital 

Prem. 

reserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Stock 

option 

reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Net profit for 

the year 

Group NE Minority 

NE 

Total NE 

           

BALANCES AS OF 31/12/2012 10,561 31,329 2,544 279 35,023 -- (12,944) 66,792 4,546 71,338 
           
Movements in 2013:           
Allocation of results     (12,944)  12,944 --  -- 
Payment of dividends     --   --  -- 
Changes in reserves     (1,513)   (1,513) 1,569 56 
IAS 19 change in severance indemnities     (1,269)   (1,269) (274) (1,543) 
Capital increase          -- 
Purchase of treasury shares          -- 
Result of the period:           
Income (charges) recognised in equity -- -- -- -- (241) -- -- (241) (56) (297) 
Total income (charges) recognised in 

equity -- -- -- -- (241) -- -- (241) (56) (297) 
Net profit for the year       (22,782) (22,782) 1,095 (21,687) 
Comprehensive income for the year -- -- -- -- (241) -- (22,782) (23,023) 1,039 (21,984) 
           
BALANCES AS OF 31/12/2013 10,561 31,329 2,544 279 19,056 -- (22,782) 40,987 6,880 47,867 

Statement of changes in the consolidated shareholders' equity 31/12/2013 – 31/12/2014 
 
 

 (thousands of euros) 

Company 

capital 

Prem. 

reserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Stock 

option 

reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Net profit 

for the year 

Group NE Minority 

NE 

Total NE 

           

BALANCES AS OF 31/12/2013 10,561 31,329 2,544 279 19,056 -- (22,782) 40,987 6,880 47,867 
           
Movements in 2014:           
Allocation of results     (22,782)  22,782 --  -- 
Capital increase 17,761 22,024      39,785  39,785 
Changes in reserves     (860)   (860) (229) (1,089) 
IAS 19 change in severance 

indemnities 

          

Capital increase          -- 
Purchase of treasury shares          -- 
Result of the period:           
Income (charges) recognised in 

equity -- (502) -- -- (546) -- -- (1,048) (112) (1,160) 
Total income (charges) 

recognised in equity -- (502) -- -- (546) -- -- (1,048) (112) (1,160) 
Net profit for the year       (14,408) (14,408) 1,219 (13,189) 
Comprehensive income for the 

year -- (502) -- -- (546) -- (14,408) (15,456) 1,107 (14,349) 
           
BALANCES AS OF 31/12/2014 28,322 52,851 2,544 279 (5,132) -- (14,408) 64,456 7,758 72,214 
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 
  
 
 
(thousands of euros) 

Notes  2013  2014 

FINANCIAL YEAR ASSETS    
Net profit (loss) for the year  (22,782) (14,408) 
Adjustments:    
 - Depreciation and amortisation  3,628 4,636 
Self-financing  (19,154) (9,772) 
    
Change in inventories  (998) 146 
Change in trade receivables  (8,026) (5,844) 
Change in trade payables  12,072 (11,347) 
Change in other receivables  15,615 2,903 
Change in other payables  3,690 1,778 
Change in tax receivables/payables  1,870 (2,890) 
    
Cash flows of operating assets (A)  5,069 (25,026) 
INVESTMENT ASSETS    
    
Change in intangible assets  (11,351) (6,839) 
Change in property, plant and equipment  (1,264) (424) 
Change in equity investments  2,490 (2,297) 
    
Cash flows of investment assets (B)  (10,125) (9,560) 
FINANCING ASSETS    
    
Change in amounts due to banks and other lenders  3,617 (7,708) 
Change in provisions for liabilities and charges  (660) 2,142 
Change in non-current tax receivables/payables  (7,869) (1,708) 
Change in non-current trade receivables/payables  889 (783) 
Change in other non-current receivables/payables  (24) 481 
Change in severance indemnities  782 1,512 
Payment of dividends  -- -- 
Change in equity reserves  (3,023) 37,877 
Change in equity attributable to NCI  2,334 878 
    
Cash flows from financing activities (C)  3,954 32,691 
    
Change in liquid funds (A)+(B)+(C)  (9,010) (1,895) 
    
Liquid assets at start of financial year  20,953 11,943 

Liquid assets at end of financial year  11,943 10,048 
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Consolidated financial position at 31 December 2014 pursuant to Consob Resolution no. 
15519 dated 27 July 2006 
ASSETS 
(thousands of euros) 

Notes 31 December 
2013 

of which 
related parties 

31 December 
2014 

of which 
related parties 

Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 1 41,868  42,917  
Other intangible assets 2 9,124  11,773  
Intangible assets  50,992  54,690  
Tangible fixed assets 3 4,965  3,894  
Investments measured at net equity 4 4,440  6,688  
Other equity investments 5 763  812  
Non-current trade receivables 6 16,178  16,961  
Non-current tax receivables 7 23,050  23,549  
Other receivables 8 2,997 2,500 2,516 2,000 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  103,385 2,500 109,110 2,000 
      Inventories 9 2,698  2,552  
Securities held for trading 10 --  2,550  
Trade receivables 11 70,369 5,005 76,213 5,495 
Financial receivables 12 10,821 2,173 7,382 2,058 
Tax receivables 13 5,852  7,359  
Other receivables 14 19,760 10,117 20,296 13,322 
Liquid funds 15 11,943  7,498  
CURRENT ASSETS  121,443 17,295 123,850 20,875 
TOTAL ASSETS  224,828 19,795 232,960 22,875 

 

Consolidated financial position at 31 December 2014 pursuant to Consob Resolution no. 
15519 dated 27 July 2006 
LIABILITIES 
(thousands of euros) 

Notes 31 December 
2013 

of which 
related parties 

31 December 
2014 

of which 
related parties 

Share capital  10,561  28,322  
Share premium account  31,329  52,851  
Legal reserve  2,544  2,544  
Other reserves  19,335  (4,853)  
Net profit (loss) for the period  (22,782) (3,989) (14,408) (3,995) 
Group net equity  40,987 (3,989) 64,456 (3,995) 
Capital and reserves attributable to NCI  5,785  6,539  
Minority profit (loss)  1,095  1,219  
Minority net equity  6,880  7,758  
NET EQUITY 16 47,867 (3,989) 72,214 (3,995) 
      Financial payables 17 6,671  2,897  
Deferred tax liabilities 18 2,421  1,212  
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 490  2,632  
Severance indemnities and other payroll 
provisions 

20 5,786  7,298  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  15,368  14,039  
      Financial payables 21 81,696 190 77,762 190 
Trade payables 22 56,516 3,632 45,169 4,590 
Tax payables 23 3,456  2,073  
Other payables 24 19,925 900 21,703 -- 
CURRENT LIABILITIES  161,593 4,722 146,707 4,780 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  176,961 4,722 160,746 4,780 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY  224,828 733 232,960 785 
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 pursuant to Consob 
Resolution no. 15519 dated 27 July 2006 
 
 
 
 

 (thousands of euros) 
Notes 31 December 

2013 
of which related 

parties 
31 December 

2014 
of which 

related parties 
Revenues  78,462 -- 77,353 -- 
Other operating income  5,571 213 12,681 442 
Total revenues 25 84,033 213 90,034 442 
Purchases  (4,384)  (3,798)  
Services  (70,882) (4,199) (64,100) (4,199) 
Payroll costs  (18,651)  (18,870)  
Other operating costs  (3,551) (39) (3,755) (252) 
Investments measured at equity  (85)  67  
Total Operating Costs 26 (97,553) (4,238) (90,456) (4,451) 
Gross operating margin – Ebitda  (13,520) (4,025) (422) (4,009) 
Non-recurring income/(expense) 27 (3,249)  1,735  
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 28 (8,244)  (10,584)  
Operating result - Ebit  (25,013) (4,025) (9,271) (4,009) 
      
Net financial income (charges) 29 (3,095) 36 (2,922) 14 
Pre-tax profit (loss)  (28,108) (3,989) (12,193) (3,995) 
      
Income taxes 30 6,421  (996)  
      
(Profit)/loss attributable to NCI  (1,095)  (1,219)  
      
Result attributable to the group  (22,782) (3,989) (14,408) (3,995) 
Basic earnings per share  (0.22)  (0.05)  
Diluted earnings per share  --  --  

 
 
 

 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Victor Uckmar 
 



 

                                                                                          Page 42 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial 
statements 
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Class Editori Spa and subsidiaries 
Registered office - Via Marco Burigozzo 5, Milan 

 
 

EXPLANATORY NOTES 
 

The economic and financial position of Class Editori at 31 December 2014 comprises the financial 
statements of Class Editori Spa and those of the directly and indirectly-owned companies in which Class 
Editori Spa holds an equity interest of more than 50%, or exercises operational control. 
 
All the amounts reported in these explanatory notes are expressed in thousands of euro. Where this 
convention is not followed, express notice is given. 
 
Content and form of the consolidated financial statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Class Editori Group and the separate financial statements of 
Class Editori Spa at 31 December 2014 have been prepared on a going concern basis, applying the 
international accounting standards represented by the IAS/IFRS adopted by European Commission 
regulation no. 1725/2003 and subsequent amendments, in compliance with European Parliament regulation 
no. 1606/2002, and endorsed together with the related interpretations by EC regulation no. 1126/2008 that, 
from 2 December 2008, abrogated and replaced regulation no. 1725/2003 and subsequent amendments. Both 
the consolidated and the separate financial statements have been audited. 

These financial statements take account of the recommendations contained in Consob resolution no. 15519 
of 27 July 2006 and Consob communications DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006 and 0003907 of 19 January 
2015. 

The comparative amounts are also stated in accordance with the IAS/IFRS. 
 
As required by IAS 1 and having regard for the joint Bank of Italy, Consob, ISVAP document no. 2 of 6 
February 2009, the Report on Operations accompanying the consolidated financial statements contains 
sections regarding the macroeconomic context, the plans for growth and the strengthening of the financial 
position. Accordingly, considering the situation described and the actions taken, the directors believe it 
reasonable to expect that the Publishing House will have sufficient resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future and, consequently, they have adopted the going-concern basis for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014. 
 

Declaration of compliance with International Accounting Standards 
 
The 2014 financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), and with the related interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), 
as endorsed by the European Commission in accordance with the procedure envisaged in art. 6 of Regulation 
no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002, and in force at the reporting 
dates. 
The IAS/IFRS have been applied within a “systematic framework for the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements,” with particular regard for the concepts of substance over form and the meaningfulness 
of information. 
 
On an interpretative level, the documents on the application of the IFRS in Italy prepared by the Italian 
Accounting Body (OIC) have also been taken into account. 
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Accounting policies  
 
The measurement criteria adopted for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 
December 2014 are consistent with those adopted for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
at 31 December 2013, except as described in the paragraph entitled "Accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations applied from 1 January 2014". 
As required by documents no. 2 of 6 February 2009 and no. 4 of 3 March 2010 issued jointly by the Bank of 
Italy, Consob and ISVAP, it is confirmed that the consolidated financial statements of the Class Group have 
been prepared on a going-concern basis. 
With reference to Consob note no. DEM/11070007 of 5 August 2011, it is also confirmed that the Group 
does not hold any bonds issued by central or local governments or by governmental or non-governmental 
agencies and, therefore, is not subject to risks deriving from market fluctuations. 
The consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements identify significant relations with 
related parties and non-recurring items, as required by Consob decision no. 15519 of 27 July 2006. 
 
 
Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied from 1 January 2014 
The following amendments to standards and interpretations are applicable from 1 January 2014: 

• IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements: the Group has adopted IFRS 10, as amended, from 1 
January 2014. The new standard, based on the existing standards, identifies a single control model 
applicable to all businesses, including "structured entities". It also provides guidance for determining the 
existence of control in situations in which this is difficult to establish. As required by the transitional rules 
for IFRS 10, the Group has reviewed the nature of its control over equity investments at 1 January 2014, 
without identifying significant effects from the adoption of the new standard. 

• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities: the Group has adopted IFRS 12, as amended, from 1 
January 2014. This new and complete standard governs the additional disclosures to be made about each 
type of equity investment, including subsidiaries, agreements for joint control, associates, special purpose 
vehicles and other non-consolidated entities. Adoption of the new standard has not had any effect on this 
consolidated annual report. 

• On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements to replace IAS 31 – Interests in Joint 
Ventures and SIC-13 – Jointly-controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions by venturers. Without 
changing the criteria for identifying the presence of joint control, the new standard establishes criteria for 
the accounting treatment of joint arrangements based on the rights and obligations deriving from these 
agreements, rather than on their legal form, distinguishing between joint ventures and joint operations. 
Under IFRS 11, the existence of a separate vehicle is not sufficient to classify a joint arrangement as a 
joint venture. For joint ventures, in which the parties are solely entitled to the net equity of the agreement, 
the standard establishes that the equity method must be used for their recognition in the consolidated 
financial statements. For joint operations, in which the parties are entitled to the assets and obligated by 
the liabilities of the agreement, the standard establishes that the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of 
the joint operation shall be recognised in the consolidated (and separate) financial statements on a 
proportional basis. Adoption of the new standard did not affect the scope of consolidation. 

• On 16th December 2011, the IASB issued some amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 
disclosure and presentation, to clarify the application of some criteria for offsetting the financial assets 
and liabilities illustrated in IAS 32. Adoption of the new standard has not had any effect on this 
consolidated annual report. 
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• On 28 June 2012, the IASB published Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and 
IFRS 12). This document clarifies the transitional rules for IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 

• "Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)" was issued on 31 October 2012, 
introducing an exception to the consolidation of subsidiaries in the case of investment companies, unless 
their subsidiaries provide services that relate to the investment activities of such companies. In applying 
these amendments, the investment companies must measure their investments in subsidiaries at fair value. 
Adoption of the new standard has not had any effect on this consolidated annual report. 

• On 29 May 2013, the IASB issued several amendments to IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets - Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets. The amendments seek to clarify that the supplementary 
information to be provided about the recoverable value of assets (including goodwill) or cash generating 
units, if their recoverable value is based on their fair value net of disposal costs, only relates to the assets 
or cash generating units for which impairment adjustments have been recognised or written back during 
the year. Adoption of the new standard has not had any effect on this consolidated annual report. 

• On 27 June 2013, the IASB published amendments to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting”. The amendments 
introduce certain exemptions from the hedge accounting criteria established in IAS 39 when, specifically, 
an existing derivative must be replaced by a new derivative managed by a Central Counterparty (CCP) 
following the introduction of a new law or regulation. Adoption of the new standard has not had any 
effect on this consolidated annual report. 
 

Consolidation criteria 
 
The consolidation is carried out using the global integration method for all the companies in which Class 
Editori Spa has a stake and exercises control. Control is presumed when the Group holds more than half the 
effective or potential voting rights that can be exercised at the Shareholders' Assembly on the date of the 
financial statements. 
 
Affiliated companies are those in which the Group exercises a significant influence, which is presumed when 
it holds more than 20% of the effective or potential voting rights that can be exercised at the Shareholders' 
Assembly on the date of the financial statements. 
 
Subsidiary companies are consolidated as from the date on which the Group acquires control and are 
deconsolidated from the moment when this ceases.  
 
Subsidiary companies are included in the scope of consolidation by using the line-by-line method. 
 
The criteria adopted for application of this method include the following points: 
 
a) The net book value of the equity holdings in subsidiary companies is offset against the net equity of the 

subsidiary companies and the concomitant assumption of all the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries. 
The goodwill identified as a result of this elimination was 14.99 million euro, while the value directly 
attributed to the publications was 14.37 million euro. 
Amortisation is not changes since both assets have an indefinite useful life, however the fairness of the 
amounts is checked at least annually via the performance of impairment tests. 

 
b) Credit and debit postings of all operations between consolidated companies, as well as profits and losses 

arising from commercial or financial operations between group companies, are eliminated. 
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c) The shares of net equity and of profit pertaining to third party shareholders of the consolidated companies 

are shown separately under special headings of the balance sheet, while the share of the net result of the 
financial year pertaining to the outside shareholders of these companies is stated separately in the 
consolidated income statement. 

 
The equity holdings in subsidiary companies are recorded using the net equity method, that is to say by 
measuring the share pertaining to the Group in the result and the net equity of the subsidiary. Profits and 
losses relating to intra-group operations are omitted for the interest portion. 
 
If the share pertaining to the Group in the losses of a subsidiary company exceeds the value of the equity 
holding, the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has taken on an obligation to do so. 
 
All the financial statements of the Group companies are prepared on the same date and refer to periods of 
equal duration.  
 
The exchange rates used for conversion of balance sheets not expressed in euros are as follows: 
 
 Exchanges on  Average exchanges 
 31/12/2013 31/12/2014   2013 2014 
      
US dollar 1.3791 1.2141  1.32812 1.32884 
      
 
Statement of reconciliation between net equity and pre-tax profit shown in the balance sheet of Class 
Editori Spa and those given in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
The shareholders' equity at 31 December 2014 and results for the year then ended reported in the 
consolidated financial statements are reconciled below with the amounts reported by Class Editori Spa: 
 
€uro/000 Net equity Financial result 
   
Class Editori Spa consolidated financial statements 64,443 (21,129) 
   
Eliminations on consolidation and adjustments 
Positive (negative): 

  

a) adjustment to equity of the carrying amounts of investments:  
 

(29,346) 

 
 

7,034 
   
b) assets that emerged on consolidation 29,359 (313) 
   
c) elimination of intra-group dividends -- -- 
 ___________ ____________ 
   Consolidated financial statements 64,456 (14,408) 
   

Accounting policies 
 
The main evaluation criteria applied when working out the situations included in the scope of consolidation 
are shown below. 
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INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
The editorial publications represent a long-term intangible asset, for which there is no depreciation but a test 
is carried out at least once a year, with the aim of checking the appropriateness of the registered values (so-
called impairment test). 
 
There has recently been an especially lively market in radio frequencies, identifying the prices of the related 
transitions. 
 
As permitted under IFRS 1, the Class Editori Group availed itself of the right to use the fair value of the 
frequencies on the transition date, instead of the cost.  
Subsequent to the first application of the IAS/IFRS, these assets are regarded as long-term, and consequently 
are not amortised but are subject to impairment tests on each statement date. 
 
As regards the goodwill and the consolidation differences, the application of the international accounting 
principles requires that these headings should no longer be amortised but should be subjected to a test, at 
least once a year, to check the appropriateness of the values and whether there have been any losses of value 
(so-called impairment test). 
 
Under IAS 38, the other intangible fixed assets are entered at purchase cost including accessory charges and 
are amortised systematically at constant rates on the basis of the residual possibility of utilisation of the asset, 
which depends on its useful life. 
 
In particular the following depreciation periods have been used: 
 
- Patents                 5 years 
Software                  5 years 
 
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
Buildings, plant and machinery 
These are registered at purchase cost including accessory charges and direct costs. The costs of maintenance 
that preserves the effectiveness of the asset are charged to the income statement in the period when they are 
incurred. Maintenance costs that meet the capitalization requirements set by IAS 16 are entered under 
tangible fixed assets. 
 
 
The cost of the non-current assets is systematically amortized in each financial year. This is done in constant 
shares on the basis of the maximum fiscally permitted rates considered appropriate for apportioning the cost 
according to the estimated residual life. The rates applied are as follows: 
 
Equipment  25% 
Ordinary furniture and machinery 12% 
Electronic equipment 20% 
Vehicles 25% 
Generic facilities 10% 
Expenses for the adjustment of facilities 20% 
Improvements on third party facilities constant quotas in proportion to the duration of the 

contract 
           Costs and expenses relative to leased goods  constant quotas in proportion to the duration of the 

contract or, if lower, the useful life of the asset  
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Leased assets 

The Group's leasing contracts provide for the transfer of all the risks and benefits arising from ownership, 
and can therefore be classified as financial ones.  
Leased assets are posted at the lower of their current value as indicated in the contract or the current value of 
the contract instalments, and the corresponding financial payable to the leasing companies are posted to 
liabilities.  
The assets are amortised in a manner consistent with the other tangible fixed assets. 
Loan charges are booked to the income statement throughout the duration of the contract. 
 
Real estate investments 

Buildings are entered at the cost of purchase or production net of depreciation and of accrued losses caused 
by reduction of value. 
Costs are included where directly attributable to making the asset fit for use, according to company 
requirements. 
Routine maintenance costs are directly posted to the income statement. 
Costs incurred subsequent to purchase are only capitalised if they can be determined reliably and if they 
increase the future economic benefits of the asset to which they relate; other costs are booked in the income 
statement. 
Depreciation, using the straight-line method, is spread over the estimated useful life of the building, which 
ranges from 30 to 50 years. 
Land – given its unlimited useful life - is not depreciated; for this purposes, lands and properties are booked 
separately even if jointly purchased. 
 
As required under IAS 36, at least once a year there is a check on any lasting losses of value of the asset, 
recording the amount by which book value exceeds recoverable value as a loss. 
 
INVENTORY 
 
Raw materials, ancillary materials and finished products are entered at the lower of the purchase or 
manufacturing cost and the scrap value inferable from the market situation, applying the FIFO method. 
In compliance with IAS 18, the cost is represented by the fair value of the price paid or of any other 
consideration received.  
 
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS  
 
The receivables are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and not quoted on an active 
market. 
Assets held for trading, designated at their fair value to the income statement or designated as available for 
sale, are not classified as such. 
The receivables are valued at cost amortized using the effective interest criterion. 
If there is objective evidence that a loss has been incurred because of lasting reduction of value, the book 
value of the asset is reduced, recording the loss directly suffered in the income statement. 
 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value including transaction costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. 
 
For non interest-bearing loans and for those outside market conditions, the fair value is estimated at the 
current value of all the updated revenues, using the prevalent market rate for a similar instrument. 
 
The Group checks, at least on the date of reference of the financial statements, whether there is objective 
evidence that the financial assets have suffered a loss of value. 
Any loss, calculated as the difference between the book value of the asset and the current value of the 
estimated future financial flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, is recorded in the income 
statement. If the amount of the loss decreases in subsequent financial years, a reverse entry is made in the 
income statement , showing the reduction of the loss previously recorded. In any case the new book value 
does not exceed the amortized cost that would have existed if the loss caused by the reduction of value had 
never been recorded. 
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EQUITY INVESTMENTS 
 
The other shareholdings include equity holdings in quoted companies, other than subsidiaries and affiliates, 
which, in compliance with IAS 39, are classified as "assets available for sale", and are valued on each 
reporting date at fair value. Changes in fair value are booked within a net equity reserve.  
 
If there is no active market for the shareholding, the fair value is determined with valuation techniques that 
include the use of recent transactions, analysis of time-discounted financial flows, or models capable of 
giving reliable estimates of the prices practiced in current market operations. 
Investments in equity holdings for which there is no quoted price on an active market and for which the fair 
value cannot be evaluated reliably are valued at the cost adjusted for any lasting losses of value.  
 
If there is objective evidence that a loss has been incurred because of a lasting reduction of value, this loss is 
recorded in the profit and loss account. This loss includes any write-downs that had previously been entered, 
reducing the net equity. 
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED AT THEIR FAIR VALUE AND POSTED TO THE INCOME 
STATEMENT 
 
This category comprises securities and equity mainly purchased for short-term trading or held for sale, 
posted to “securities held for trading” in the current assets section, financial assets which at the moment of 
initial measurement are designated at the fair value posted to the income statement, posted to “other financial 
assets” and derivates (except those designated as effective hedge instruments), posted to “derivative financial 
instruments”. They are posted at their fair value liabilities and set off in the income statement. 
 
Accessory costs are posted to the income statement. 
The purchases and sales of these financial assets are recorded on the date of payment.  
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
These include ready-cash securities, that is to say securities that can be cashed on demand or very quickly, 
that are definitely payable, and that are free from encashment fees. 
 
DEBTS, LOAN DEBTS AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
Pursuant to IAS 39, debts, financial liabilities and other liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and 
subsequently valued at cost, amortised using the effective interest criterion. 
 
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 
The contingency reserves relate to legal or implicit obligations towards third parties for which it is likely that 
the use of Group resources will be necessary and for which a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made. 
 
Variations in the estimate are posted to the income statement of the year in which the variation occurred. 
 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND TERMINATION INDEMNITIES 
 
The provision for severance indemnities covers the liability to all employees accrued at the reporting date, 
pursuant to current legislation and labour contracts. 
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According to the IAS/IFRS, Severance Indemnities represents a "plan of definite benefits" subject to 
valuations of an actuarial nature linked to estimates (such as mortality and foreseeable salary changes) 
designed to express the current value of the benefit, to be paid on termination of employment, that employees 
have accrued at the closing date of the financial period. 
 
Severance indemnities are determined by applying an actuarial method based on demographic forecasts, the 
discount rate reflecting the long-term monetary value of the provision, the inflation rate, and, as regards 
severance indemnities, the current and future salary levels, in accordance with IAS 19. 
 
 
ENTRY OF REVENUES, PROCEEDS, COSTS AND CHARGES 
 
Revenues are entered at the fair value of the consideration received, net of returns, discounts, rebates and 
premiums, as well as taxes directly connected with sale of the products. 
Revenues from services are recorded on a percentage of completion basis. 
Revenues of a financial nature are recognised by using the principle of relating items to the correct period. 
Costs are recorded on the basis of recognition of the related revenues. 
 
INCOME TAXES 
 
Taxes on current income are entered, for each company, on the basis of the estimate of taxable income in 
compliance with the current rates and laws, or those substantially approved at the financial year closing date, 
while taking account of applicable exemptions and any tax receivables due. 

Pre-paid and deferred taxes are calculated on the timing difference between the value attributed to assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding values recognised for tax purposes, on the basis 
of the rates in force when the timing differences are reversed. When the results are directly posted to net 
equity, current taxes, pre-paid taxes assets and deferred taxes liabilities are also posted to net equity. 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal right to counterbalance the positive and 
negative current taxes and when they relate to the same tax authority and the Group plans to settle the current 
assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends are recorded in the accounting period in which the distribution is decided. 
 
Changes of accounting principles, errors and changes of estimates 

A change in the accounting estimates is defined by IAS 8 as an adjustment of the book value of an asset or 
liability, or of the amount representing the periodic consumption of an asset, derived from a valuation of the 
current situation and of the expected future benefits and obligations of the assets and liabilities. Changes in 
accounting estimates therefore arise from new information and developments and not from correction of 
errors. 

The correction of errors of previous financial years arises when there are omissions or erroneous 
representations in the financial statements of one or more previous periods arising from non-use or incorrect 
use of reliable information that: 
- were available when the financial statements of those financial years were approved; 
- should reasonably have been obtained and used in the preparation and publication of the relative 

financial statements. 
 
Pursuant to IAS 8, the effect of a change in the accounting estimates is allocated in advance to the income 
statement, starting from the financial year in which the estimates are adopted. 
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Scope of consolidation 
 
Consolidation on a line-by-line basis 

The following subsidiaries of Class Editori Spa, apart from Class Editori Spa itself, have been consolidated 
using the global line-by-line consolidation method: 
 
 Percentage 

ownership 
 

   
- Milano Finanza Editori Spa 
               and subsidiaries: 

88.827 % 

               - MF Servizi Editoriali Srl 99.00     % 
               - MF Editori Srl 100.00 % 

- Lombard Editori Srl 50.10 % 
- Class Digital Service Srl 
               and subsidiaries: 

68.75 % 

               - PMF News Editori Spa 100.00     % 
               - E-Class Spa 100.00 % 

- Campus Editori Srl 70.00 % 
- MF Service Srl (formerly Milano Finanza Service Srl) 75.01 % 
- Edis Srl 99.50 % 
- MF Conference Srl 51.00 % 
- DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation 94.73 % 
- EX.CO Srl in liquidation 100.00 % 
- Class Editori Service Srl in liquidation 100.00 % 
- Class TV Service Srl 100.00 % 
- Classpi Spa 76.00 % 
- Global Finance Media Inc. 73.52 % 
- Class CNBC Spa (1) 2.73 % 
- CFN/CNBC B.V. 68.43 % 
- Radio Classica Srl 99.00 % 
- MF Dow Jones Srl (2) 50.00 % 
- Telesia Spa (3) 85.625 % 
- Country Class Editori Srl 100.00 % 
- Fashion Work Business Club Srl 100.00 % 
- Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl 95.00 % 
- I Love Italia Srl in liquidation 51.00 % 
- Class Meteo Services Srl in liquidation 100.00 % 
- TV Moda Srl 51.00 % 
- Classint Advertising Srl in liquidation 100.00 % 
- Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 100.00 % 
- New Satellite Radio Srl 100.00 % 
- Aldebaran Srl 100.00 % 
-  CHTV Srl 100.00 % 
-  Class China eCommerce Srl (2) 50.00 % 

 
(1)  Consolidated using the line-by-line method as it is 63.34% controlled by CFN CNBC Holding B.V.. 
(2)  Consolidated using the line-by-line method as Class Editori Spa has operational control  
(3)   Classpi Digital Srl was absorbed by Telesia Spa, its parent company, on 19 November 2014. 
 



 

                                                                                          Page 52 

 
Net equity method 

The following associates of Class Editori Spa have been consolidated using the equity method: 
 
- Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne Srl 
   and subsidiaries 

48.90 % 

   - Upcube Srl in liquidation 25.00 % 

   - Mito Srl 50.00 % 

   - Radio Cina Italia Srl 49.00 % 

 
The following events relating to subsidiaries and associates took place during the year: 
 
- 100% of Aldebaran Srl was acquired for 4.0 million euro on 24 January 2014. The company is active in 

the Outdoor TV sector, which the Publishing House believes will develop significantly; 
 
- a further 4.5% interest in Milano Finanza Editori SpA was purchased on 21 May 2014 for 2.4 million 

euro, raising the equity interest held from 84.327% to 88.827%; 
 
- a further 25% interest in Class Pubblicità SpA was purchased on 21 May 2014 for 2.59 million euro, 

raising the equity interest held from 51% to 76%; 
 

- CCeC (Class China e-Commerce) Srl was formed in May 2014, with Class Editori initially holding 
20%. A further 30% interest was acquired on 22 October 2014, raising the interest held by Class Editori 
to 50%. This company has been consolidated on a line-by-line basis since Class Editori has operational 
control; 

 
- Class Editori purchased 50% of Mito Srl for 5,000 euro on 5 June 2014. This company operates in the e-

commerce sector linked to the Chinese market. Give the very recent acquisition, the holding is carried at 
cost in these consolidated financial statements; 

 
- Class Editori waived receivables totalling 123 thousand euro on 6 June 2014 to cover losses and 

subscribe in full to an increase in capital by CHTV Srl, thereby raising its equity interest from 30% to 
100%. The company has been consolidated on a line-by-line basis since that date; 

 
- as shown in the above tables, a number of essentially dormant companies included within the Publishing 

House's scope of consolidation were put into liquidation during the year. This reflects the reorganisation 
of the Publishing House, in order to rationalise the corporate structure and the use of resources; 

 
- Radio Cina Italia Srl was formed on 23 December 2014 via the contribution of a line of business by 

Radio Classica Srl. The company has been consolidated using the equity method since the 51% equity 
interest is classified among current assets as available for sale. In particular, a preliminary contract 
between Radio Classica S.r.l. and Italian International Radio & Media Srl for the sale of the investment 
was signed on 19 November 2014.. This contract envisages the purchase by IIRM of 51% of the capital 
of Radio Cina Italia, to which Radio Classica contributed a line of business comprising all its 
frequencies except for those covering Lombardy. By 31 December 2014, Radio Classica had collected 
the first two advance payments envisaged in the contract, amounting to 2 million euro, with respect to 
the total price agreed for the 51% interest of 2,550,000 euro. 
 

Agefi-Class S.A. has been deconsolidated since it is dormant. 
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DETAILED SCHEDULES AND EXPLANATORY NOTES 
 
 
ASSETS 
 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
1) Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 
  
The composition of these intangible fixed assets can be summarised as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 

Editorial titles 20,344 22,477 

Frequencies 9,600 3,730          

Goodwill 11,924 16,710 

Total intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 41,868 42,917 

 
The changes in intangible assets with an indefinite life are summarised below: 
 

Editorial publications  
 
€uro/000  

Carrying amount as of 31/12/2013 20,344 

Increases during the year 2,355 

Decreases during the year -- 

Exchange differences 61 

Impairment write-downs during the year (283) 

Balance at 31/12/2014 22,477 

 
 
The increase during the year reflects the additional value recognised by Class Editori when purchasing a 
further 4.5% interest in Milano Finanza Editori. 

The exchange differences relate to the value of the title recorded in the balance sheet of Global Finance Inc., 
the US subsidiary. 

Following the impairment tests carried out at year end by management, the value of the TV Moda title 
recognised on consolidation was written down, as shown in the following table. The carrying amount of the 
In Aereo title was written off for the sake of prudence. 
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Details of the titles owned and the changes during the previous year are described in the table below: 
 
€uro/000 Initial value Decreases 

and write-
downs 

Exchange 
differences 

Increases Net value 

1. Value of publications at time of 
consolidation:      

Milano Finanza 6,882   2,355 9,237 
Campus 60    60 
DP Analisi 84    84 
MF 3,165    3,165 
Fashion Work Business Club --    -- 
Assinform 1,374    1,374 
TV Moda 634 (188)   446 

Total 12,199 (188) -- 2,355 14,366 

2. Value of publications recorded by:      

Global Finance 827  61  888 
Class (Nistri Listri) 122    122 
MF Interactive TV (In Aereo) 95 (95)   -- 
CFN CNBC B.V. 7,097    7,097 
TV Moda 4    4 

Total 8,145 (95) 61 -- 8,111 

Total editorial publications 20. 344 (283) 61 2,355 22. 477 

 
 
 
Frequencies  
 
€uro/000 Amounts 

Carrying amount as of 31/12/2013 9,600 

Increases during the year -- 

Decreases during the year (5,870) 

Depreciation charge for the year -- 

Balance at 31/12/2014 3,730 

 
The decrease during the year reflects the contribution by Radio Classica Srl of the line of business containing 
all radio frequencies other than those covering Lombardy, as discussed further in the report. Disposal of the 
line of business resulted in recognising a loss of 718 thousand euro with respect to the carrying amount of the 
frequencies transferred.  

The carrying amount of the residual frequencies and related concessions owned by Radio Classica was 
subjected to impairment testing, without identifying any losses in value. 
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Goodwill  
 
€uro/000  

Carrying amount as of 31/12/2013 11,924 

Increases due to change in scope of consolidation 3,750 

Increases during the year 2,522 

Exchange differences -- 

Impairment write-downs during the year (1,486) 

Balance at 31/12/2014 16,710 

 
The composition of the goodwill attributed to the individual Group companies is analysed below: 
€uro/000 Initial 

value 
Decreases 
and write-

downs 

Change in 
scope of 

consolidation 

Increases Net value 

Goodwill at time of consolidation:      
Classpi Class Pubblicità Spa 7,293   2,480 9,773 
EX.CO. Srl 72    72 
E – Class Spa 385    385 
Telesia Spa 1,103    1,103 
Country Class Srl 125 (125)   -- 
Aldebaran Srl --  3,660  3,660 
      

Total consolidation goodwill. 8,978 (125) 3,660 2,480 14,993 

2. Goodwill value recorded by:      

Country Class Srl 2,946 (1,361) -- -- 1,585 
MF Service Srl -- -- -- 42 42 
Aldebaran Srl -- -- 90 -- 90 
      

Total goodwill booked 2,946 (1,361) 90 42 1,717 

Total goodwill 11,924 (1,486) 3,750 2,522 16,710 

 
The increase during the year includes the additional value recognised by Class Editori when purchasing a 
further 25% interest in Classpi Pubblicità. The entire equity interest in Aldebaran was also acquired during 
the year, with the recognition of goodwill represented by the difference between the price paid and the value 
of net equity, as supported by a specific appraisal prepared at the time of the acquisition. The additional 
goodwill recognised during the year was generated by the purchase by MF Service of lines of business from 
associates, as part of the overall reorganisation of staff and line activities. 

The impairment tests carried out by the directors also resulted in the write-down by 1,486 thousand euro of 
the goodwill recorded in relation to Country Class Editori. 
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Impairment tests carried out by the Publishing House and related results. 
 
There are three categories of intangible asset with an indefinite life recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Publishing House: editorial titles, goodwill and radio frequencies. 
 
The recoverable value of the radio frequencies was measured with reference to their market value (fair 
value), based on specific appraisals. With regard to the titles and goodwill, reference was made to their 
value in use. 

 
Asset impairment 

 
IAS 36 requires any losses in the value of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and equity 
investments to be assessed (so-called impairment test) if there is any evidence that this problem might 
exist.  This assessment is carried out annually, or more frequently, in the case of goodwill, intangible assets 
with an indefinite life and equity investments. 

 
The recoverability of the amounts recorded is checked by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets 
concerned with their selling prices, if an active market exists, or their value in use if this is greater. 
 
Fair value is estimated as follows: 
    

• identification of the asset to be measured; 
 

• determination of the configuration of value deemed appropriate for measurement purposes; 
 

• identification of the principal (or more advantageous) market for the asset to be measured; 
 

• definition of the most appropriate measurement technique: market approach, income approach 
or cost approach; 

 
• classified of the fair value determined within the three-level hierarchy envisaged by IFRS 13, namely: 

 
- LEVEL 1: prices quoted in an active reference market for the same asset; 

 
- LEVEL 2: measurements based on inputs regarding the assets to be measured, other than the 

quoted prices used in level 1, that are directly or indirectly observable, with indication of the 
sources of the parameters used; 
 

- LEVEL 3: inputs not based on observable market data that reflect management assumptions 
about the hypotheses that "market participants" would use to determine the value of the 
assets to be measured, describing all the assumptions made and indicating if the values 
adopted reflect past experience and are consistent with external sources of information and, 
if not, explaining how and why they differ;  

 
• quantification of any disposal costs to be deducted from fair value. 

 
The process of determining estimated fair value is summarised as follows: 

 
1. identification of the "cash generating units" (CGUs); 
 
2. identification of the carrying amounts of each CGU, with the allocation of goodwill or assets with an 

indefinite life to the individual CGUs (or groups of CGU), as well as the other assets directly 
attributable to each CGU;  

 
3. identification of evidence of possible impairment; 
 
4. determination of recoverable value, being the greater of value in use or fair value; 
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5. preparation of disclosures about the impairment test: the company prepares a document in support of 

the impairment test, on the basis of which it is possible to reconstruct the measurement process 
carried out. 

 
In case of radio frequencies, the assets to be measured comprise a group of assets consisting of the 
ministerial concession, the technical installations and the "user rights" over the operation of the radio 
broadcasting equipment. 
 
The measurement of the frequencies by the independent expert is based on inputs that differ from quoted 
prices, but which are directly observable in an active reference market for such assets.  
When determining the qualitative value of the radio broadcasting equipment, the independent expert 
identified all the measurement parameters attributable to the asset to be measured, allocating each of them 
a score based on a qualitative assessment using a scale of values that is generally used and accepted by 
economic operators in the sector concerned. The resulting scale of values was given a monetary weighting 
by defining a correction coefficient that transforms the results of the qualitative assessment into economic 
value. This coefficient essentially represents a unit of measurement similar to the price per square meter 
used as a reference parameter in property transactions.   
 
Estimate of value in use 

 

The value in use was determined by discounting the cash flows expected from use of the asset, or a 
combination of assets (so-called cash generating unit or CGU), and adding the disposal value expected at 
the end of its useful life. The cash generating units were identified with reference to the organisational and 
business structure of the Group, as homogeneous aggregations that generate autonomous cash flows from 
the continuous use of the assets allocated to them. 
 
The value in use determined for the impairment test complies with the requirements of IAS 36. This test 
calculates the recoverable value of each cash generating unit to which the intangible assets to be measured 
are allocated, by discounting their expected cash flows using a discounting rate that reflects the specific 
business risks involved.  
The cash flows for the period considered were adjusted to take account of any changes in working capital 
that might affect them.  
If the change in working capital for the last year was negative, this was prudently deducted from the cash 
flow representing the terminal value; if positive, it was not included in the terminal value. 
 
The resulting economic value of the capital invested (enterprise value) was adjusted by the net financial 
position (NFP) at the measurement date and for any non-operating assets (surplus assets), thus obtaining 
the equity value to be compared with the carrying amount recorded in the financial statements. 

 
 

1. Identification of the "cash generating units" (CGUs) 
 

As in the past, the CGUs were identified with reference to the business areas to which the various lines of 
business belong, namely: newspapers, periodicals, events, digital (TV, radio, business information), 
advertising, other. 
 
The definition of the CGUs took account of the following main criteria: 

 homogeneous nature of the products and/or service supplied by the company and/or the type of customers; 

 the ability of each activity to be sold separately, thus creating an autonomous CGU, rather than 

necessarily having to be aggregated with other activities to obtain the expected returns; 

 the loss that the closure of an activity would cause for another related activity. 
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 These activities coincide in some cases with one or more legal entities to which the assets with an 
indefinite life are allocated, while in other cases they are just part of them. 

 
These are: 

NEWSPAPERS AREA 
MF-Milano Finanza / MF Fashion (financial newspaper) 
 
PERIODICALS AREA 
Assinform (insurance publishing) 
Global Finance (international finance magazine) 
Patrimoni and Lombard (Italian finance magazines) 
Class (magazine for men) 
Capital (magazine for men) 
Gentleman (magazine for men) 
Ladies (magazine for women) 
Case & Country (magazine on furnishings and country life) 
MFF & MFL (Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living) 
Eccellenza Italia (magazine for the Chinese market) 
 
EVENTS AREA: 
Campus (student fairs) 
MF Conference (conferences on finance, business and fashion) 
 
DIGITAL AREA:  
Class CNBC (financial TV) 
Class TV and Class Life (general information, news and lifestyle TV) 
Class TV Moda (fashion) 
Telesia and Aldebaran (Outdoor TV: TV for metro systems, motorway service areas and airports) * 
Corporate TV (internal TV for banks and companies) 
E-class (digital business information)  
MF Dow Jones News (financial press agency) 
website and tablet and smartphone applications  
Radio frequencies 
 
ADVERTISING AREA:  
Classpi (advertising concessionaire) 
 
OTHER AREA: 
Analitica (business valuations) 
Tagliamare (“Portolano” illustrated books) 
In Aereo 
 
 
∗ The purchase of Aldebaran was strategically important given its involvement in video communications 

for overland transportation. The organisation and technology owned by Aldebaran made it possible for 
Telesia to win the tender launched by ATAC / Rome, and obtain the related exclusive advertising 
concession in Rome for 9 years. This situation underpins the projects for the development of Outdoor 
TV and has resulted in aggregation of the activities within one CGU, given the losses that 
closure/disposal of this activity would cause for the Outdoor TV business. 

 
Of course, only some the above CGUs are relevant for impairment testing purposes, since the amounts 
relating to the titles and goodwill are recognised separately in the statement of financial position. 
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2. Identification of the carrying amounts of each CGU  
 
The carrying amount of individual CGUs was determined by allocating to each of them the attributable 
goodwill and other assets with an indefinite life, as well as any assets that contribute directly to its 
operations. 
 
3. Identification of evidence of possible impairment 
 
In accordance with IAS 36, the Company determines at the reporting date if there is any evidence, from 
either external or internal sources, that the value of the assets subjected to impairment testing may be 
impaired. This analysis is carried out in the manner indicated in para. 12 of IAS 36, as supplemented by 
all the information available to the Company at the time.  

 
4. Determination of recoverable value, being the greater of value in use or fair value 

 
Principal decisions made when applying the accounting standards and sources of uncertainty when 
making estimates 

 
Principal uncertainty factors when making estimates 

 
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the explanatory notes has required the use of 
estimates and assumptions, both with regard to the determination of certain assets and liabilities and for the 
measurement of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions made were based on 
historical experience and other relevant factors. 

 
In view of the current macroeconomic situation, still destabilised by the effect of the financial crisis that 
began at the end of 2008, the estimates were made using assumptions about the future that are in any case 
subject to some degree of uncertainty.  

 
It was necessary to carry out impairment tests to determine if there has been any loss in the value of assets 
with an indefinite life.  The principal uncertainties that might influence the estimates relate to the 
discounting rate (WACC), the growth rate (g) and the assumptions made when determining the amount of 
expected cash flows. 
In particular, the prospective data used was based on hypothesised future events and actions by 
management that are subject to estimates and uncertainties. These are subject to the risk that the expected 
events might not take place, or might take place to an extent or with timing that differs from that 
hypothesised or, on the other hand, that events might take place that were unforeseeable by management at 
the time. 

  
Principal assumptions made when determining the recoverable value of intangible assets with an indefinite 
life 

  
These assets are measured whenever there is evidence that their value might be impaired. The goodwill 
relating to cash generating units is measured each year, or more frequently, even if there is no evidence of 
impairment. 
 
The impairment test carried out at 31 December 2014 reflects the deterioration in the macroeconomic 
situation, with respect to that hypothesised at the start of the year in the business plan of the Publishing 
House: the reduction in the expected cash flows (included in the budgets approved by the Boards of the 
legal entities to which the CGUs belong) and the increase in the discounting rates used, despite a reduction 
in the opportunity cost of capital (risk free), due in part to the more uncertain market conditions, resulted in 
the write-down of titles and goodwill by 1.8 million euro. 

  
In order to determine the discounting rates, management compared the actual results for 2014 with the 
corresponding forecasts used when carrying out the impairment tests as of 31 December 2013, analysing 
the variances in order to assess their impact on the estimated discounting rate (WACC) to be applied to the 
expected cash flows. 
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In general, the scenario resulting from the analysis of the impairment tests indicated, in most cases, that the 
2014 results for the CGUs considered were in line with expectations. The projections for the explicit period 
were generally revised downwards however, due to the continuation of the market crisis. The discounting 
rates used were increased due to the great level of risk and the value attributed to each CGU was reduced. 
Should the impairment tests carried out in future identify a recovery in the value of assets with an 
indefinite life that have been written down, this greater value will be recognised up to the amount of the net 
carrying value originally recorded in the financial statements.   

 
The marked appreciation of the share price and the market capitalisation of the Group, subsequent to the 
capital increase in 2014, has significantly increased (roughly doubled) the value attributed to the Publishing 
House by the market with respect to the situation about one year ago.  
Procedurally, as recommended in the document issued jointly by Consob, the Bank of Italy and ISVAP 
dated 4 March 2010, if the market capitalisation is significantly lower than consolidated shareholders' 
equity at the time of preparing the financial statements, the company must analyse the reasons for this 
difference in value expressed by the financial market and document its considerations regarding the results 
obtained from its own impairment testing procedures. 
 
In order to understand the impact of small changes in the assumptions made on the recoverable amounts 
calculated, reference is made to the sensitivity analysis presented later. This sensitivity analysis is an 
integral part of the assessment of the impairment tests. 
 
The principal criteria adopted for the assessment of the impairment tests are set out below: 
 
- determination of the cash flows of the CGUs: the cash flows derive from the five-year economic and 

financial budgets approved by the Boards of the legal entities to which the CGUs belong.  
The cash flow considered is the so-called free cash flow, net of tax effects and any investment needed 
in order to generate it, as adjusted for the changes in working capital;  

- the explicit forecast period, during which the expected revenues and costs of the CGU are detailed, 
was generally determined to be 5 years; 

- beyond that period, an implicit period of indefinite duration was identified for the cash flow 
projection. This decision is consistent with the measurement of the titles or the related goodwill, whose 
lives are effectively indefinite, as can be seen from the time elapsed since they were launched. 

- the cash flow considered is stated net of tax effects and any investment needed in order to generate it; 
in addition, budgeted balance sheets were prepared for each CGU covering the explicit period, in order 
to identify the changes in working capital to be reflected in the explicit period in order to determine the 
free cash flow to be used; 

- based on this, a "target" balance sheet has been determined for each CGU, making assumptions about 
the changes in the various balance sheet accounts. This balance sheet was used as a reference when 
calculating the weighted average cost of capital (WACC); 

- the cash flows expected were based on the results historically generated by the CGUs, including the 
period prior to the crisis (in the expectation of an economic upturn), as well as on assumptions and 
forecasts about the development of projects and business areas where the Group is already active, 
whose growth forecasts are contained in the 2015-2019 budget; 

- the growth rate during the terminal period (g) was generally taken to be 0%.  
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With reference to the choice of discounting rate, the following methodology was employed to determine 
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) used for discounting purposes in the explicit and implicit 
periods: 

 
- The risk-free cost of capital was estimated with reference to the average for ten-year bonds (BTP) 

issued with maturities in 2024-2025, which have an average yield of 1.58%; even considering the 
current opportunity cost of capital, this decision appears prudent in view of the most recent movements 
in the interest rates on government securities, which appear to be declining as a result, at least in part, 
of recent manoeuvres by the ECB; 

- The risk-free rate determined above was then associated with a risk premium, which for a mature stock 
market (source: Damodaran) was estimated to be 5.75% (5% last year), that was multiplied by a 
conversion factor, beta, which for the two-year period 2013-2014 Bloomberg specifically indicated to 
be 1.2 for Class (0.94 last year). It was deemed prudent to use a rate that takes account of a longer time 
period, given the significant market fluctuations;  

- In some cases, where management considered the environment to be subject to greater risk than that 
reflected in the above parameters, the beta parameter was uplifted by another component linked to the 
size of the CGU or the greater uncertainties affecting the specific reference market. This adjustment 
caused the beta parameter for the CGUs concerned to fall in a range from 1.20 to 1.50; 

- The cost of borrowing was determined with reference to the actual cost of the resources borrowed from 
third parties, net of tax effect; 

 
The following table identifies the cash generating units to which goodwill and other intangible assets with 
indefinite life have been allocated, together with the principal assumptions used to carry out the 
impairment testing of each cash generating unit: 
 

 SUMMARY OF IMPAIRMENT TEST AMOUNTS 31/12/2014 

CGU 

Goodwill 
prior to 

write-down 
31/12/14 

Value 100% 
CGU 

31/12/14 
% interest 

Econ. 
value of 

CGU 
interest 

∆ 
Explicit 

forecasting 
period 

Growth 
rate 

terminal 
period (g) 

Capital remuneration rates 
Equity / 

Total 
funding 

WACC Risk 
free 
rate 

Risk 
premiu

m 
Beta Total Ke 

              

Mf / Milano Finanza 12,402 28,870 88.83%  25,645 13,243 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 75.00% 7.8% 
              

Classpi 9,773 19,019 76.00%  14,454 4,681 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 96.00% 8.9% 
              

Assinform 1,374 1,830 95.00%  1,738 364 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.20 8.48% 100.00% 8.5% 
              

Country Class -Capital 3,071 1,585 100.00%  1,585 (1,486) 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.44 9.86% 92.10% 9.4% 
              

Tv Moda 638 881 51.00%  449 (189) 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.50 11.21% 65.50% 8.4% 
              

Class Cnbc 7,097 20,183 63.34%  12,784 5,687 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 100.00% 9.2% 
              

E-class - Finance 385 9,282 68.75%  6,381 5,996 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 79.90% 8.1% 
              

Telesia 4,853 11,648 85.63%  9,973 5,120 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 100.00% 9.2% 
              

Campus 60 2,789 70.00%  1,952 1,892 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 94.70% 8.9% 
              

Global Finance 888 7,686 73.52%  5,651 4,763 5 0.00% 1.58% 5.8% 1.32 9.17% 100.00% 9.2% 
              

Residual CGUs (*) 415   320 (95)  0.00%    0.00%   
              

Total Goodwill and 
Titles 40,956 103,772  80,934 39,978         

 
(*) Dp Analisi, EX.CO, MF Interactive Tv (In Aereo), Class (Nistri Listri) 
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The CGUs that did not pass the impairment test were those (Capital, TV Moda, CGU Other) whose forecast 
cash flows were worse than in the prior year, or for which the use of stricter parameters reduced their value 
in use below the related carrying amounts. 
The total of the differences requirement an impairment adjustment was 1.8 million euro. 
 
The allocation of Group assets to cash generating units and the criteria used to identify them were essentially 
unchanged with respect to the situation reported at 31 December 2013, except as stated in relation to 
Telesia/Aldebaran.  
 
The principal assumptions made by management to calculate value in use related to the discount rate 
(WACC), the growth rate (g), always assumed to be 0%, and the expected changes in selling prices and 
direct costs during the period considered for the calculation. 
 
The rate used to discount future cash flows reflects the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which 
weights the following two elements: 
 
- the cost of risk capital represented by the return from risk-free assets (including the country risk 

implicit in market prices), plus the risk premium for a virtuous country multiplied by the beta 
parameter;  

- the cost of borrowing, net of tax effect. 
 

The results obtained from the analyses performed by the Company were compared with those of the specific 
appraisals prepared by an independent expert, who essentially confirmed the value estimated by the 
Company. 

The discount rate (WACC) and growth rate used in 2013 and 2014 by the independent expert appointed to 
estimate the value in use of the assets concerned are indicated below:  

 
SUMMARY OF IMPAIRMENT TEST AMOUNTS 31/12/2014 
 

CGU 

Company data 31/12/2013 
 

Company data 31/12/2014 Expert data 

Wacc 
Growth rate 

terminal period 
(g) 

Wacc 
Growth rate 

terminal 
period (g) 

Wacc 
Growth rate 

terminal 
period (g) 

MF-Milano Finanza 6.8% 0.0% 7.8% 0.0% 7.7% 0.0% 

Classpi 8.9% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% 9.1% 0.0% 

Assinform 7.8% 0.0% 8.5% 0.0% 8.0% 0.0% 

Country Class - Capital 6.2% 0.0% 9.4% 0.0% 9.7% 0.0% 

TV Moda 8.9% 0.0% 8.4% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% 

Class CNBC 7.1% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% 8.1% 0.0% 

Telesia 8.9% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% 10.1% 0.0% 

E-Class - Finance 8.9% 0.0% 8.1% 0.0% n/a n/a 

Campus 7.2% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% n/a n/a 

Global Finance 8.9% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% n/a n/a 
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The amounts obtained from the external valuations would have generated a level of impairment essentially 
similar to that identified by the Company.  
 
Key data determined by the sensitivity analysis is summarised below, setting out the values of the CGUs 
that would have resulted from changes in the WACC and the growth rates (g), and those would have been 
obtained with a theoretical ratio of own funds to third-party funds of 50%/50%. 
 
MF-Milano Finanza: 
 

         
D/E 

= 
50/50* 

     Wacc    
Sensitivity analysis        

  6.31% 6.81% 7.31% 7.81% 8.31% 8.81% 9.31% 6.40% 

 0.00% 36,313 33,470 31,012 28,870 26,986 25,316 23,826 35,765 

 
0.50% 38,781 35,522 32,742 30,344 28,253 26,414 24,784 38,144 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 41,707 37,927 34,747 32,034 29,693 27,651 25,856 40,964 

 1.50% 45,242 40,786 37,097 33,992 31,344 29,059 27,066 44,360 

 2.00% 49,599 44,239 39,889 36,288 33,258 30,673 28,442 48,529 
 
* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 

Classpi: 
         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
7.42% 7.92% 8.42% 8.92% 9.42% 9.92% 10.42% 6.40% 

 
0.00% 21,648 20,661 19,791 19,019 18,328 17,706 17,144 24,157 

 

0.50% 22,437 21,334 20,371 19,521 18,767 18,092 17,485 25,284 
Terminal value growth 

rate = g 
1.00% 23,347 22,104 21,028 20,088 19,258 18,522 17,363 26,619 

 
1.50% 24,412 22,994 21,781 20,730 19,812 19,002 18,283 28,228 

 
2.00% 25,673 24,035 22,650 21,466 20,440 19,543 18,752 30,201 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 

Assinform: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
6.98% 7.48% 7.98% 8.48% 8.98% 9.48% 9.98% 6.31% 

 
0.00% 2,273 2,106 1,959 1,830 1,715 1,612 1,519 2,541 

 
0.50% 2,410 2,222 2,058 1,915 1,789 1,677 1,576 2,716 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 2,571 2,356 2,172 2,012 1,873 1,749 1,640 2,924 
 

1.50% 2,760 2,512 2,303 2,123 1,967 1,831 1,710 3,175 
 

2.00% 2,987 2,697 2,456 2,251 2,076 1,924 1,790 3,484 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
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Country Class - Capital: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
7.87% 8.37% 8.87% 9.37% 9.87% 10.37% 10.87% 6.50% 

 
0.00% 2,426 2,112 1,833 1,585 1,362 1,161 978 3,541 

 
0.50% 2,674 2,325 2,018 1,746 1,504 1,286 1,090 3,935 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 2,959 2,568 2,227 1,927 1,661 1,425 1,212 4,400 
 

1.50% 3,287 2,845 2,464 2,131 1,838 1,579 1,343 4,958 
 

2.00% 3,672 3,167 2,735 2,362 2,037 1,752 1,499 5,641 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 
 
TV Moda: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
6.88% 7.38% 7.88% 8.38% 8.88% 9.38% 9.88% 7.42% 

 
0.00% 1,218 1,090 979 881 796 720 652 1,081 

 

0.50% 1,330 1,184 1,059 951 856 772 698 1,174 
Terminal value growth 

rate = g 
1.00% 1,460 1,293 1,151 1,029 923 831 749 1,232 

 
1.50% 1,615 1,421 1,258 1,119 1,000 897 806 1,408 

 
2.00% 1,802 1,572 1,382 1,223 1,088 972 871 1,557 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 
 
Class CNBC: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
7.67% 8.17% 8.67% 9.17% 9.67% 10.17% 10.67% 6.40% 

 
0.00% 25,603 23,575 21,781 20,183 13,750 17,457 16,285 32,192 

 

0.50% 27,198 24,943 22,964 21,213 19,652 18,252 16,990 34,659 
Terminal value growth 

rate = g 
1.00% 29,033 26,502 24,301 22,369 20,658 19,134 17,767 37,584 

 
1.50% 31,165 28,295 25,824 23,675 21,788 20,118 18,630 41,107 

 
2.00% 33,673 30,378 27,576 25,164 23,065 21,223 19,592 45,430 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
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E-Class - Finance: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
6.56% 7.06% 7.56% 8.06% 8.56% 9.56% 6.40% 6.40% 

 
0.00% 12,344 11,175 10,164 9,282 8,506 7,819 7,206 12,758 

 
0.50% 13,362 12,028 10,888 9,901 9,041 8,283 7,613 13,838 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 14,563 13,023 11,722 10,608 9,646 8,806 8,067 15,118 
 

1.50% 16,002 14,196 12,693 11,423 10,337 9,397 8,577 16,660 
 

2.00% 17,757 15,602 13,840 12,372 11,133 10,072 9,155 18,552 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 
 
Telesia: 
 

Sensitivity analysis 
Wacc 

D/E 
= 

50/50* 
  

7.67% 8.17% 8.67% 9.17% 9.67% 10.17% 10.67% 6.40% 
 

0.00% 14,460 13,404 12,474 11,648 10,910 10,247 9,648 17,909 
 

0.50% 15,381 14,198 13,163 12,250 11,440 10,716 10,066 19,317 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 16,439 15,102 13,942 12,927 12,032 11,237 10,528 20,985 
 

1.50% 17,670 16,141 14,829 13,692 12,696 11,819 11,039 22,994 
 

2.00% 19,117 17,349 15,850 14,563 13,447 12,471 11,610 25,460 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 
 
Campus: 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
7.36% 7.86% 8.36% 8.86% 9.36% 9.86% 10.36% 6.40% 

 
0.00% 3,279 3,095 2,933 2,789 2,661 2,545 2,441 3,717 

 
0.50% 3,428 3,222 3,042 2,884 2,743 2,618 2,505 3,925 

Terminal value growth 
rate = g 

1.00% 3,599 3,367 3,165 2,990 2,835 2,698 2,576 4,171 
 

1.50% 3,800 3,534 3,307 3,111 2,939 2,788 2,655 4,468 
 

2.00% 4,039 3,730 3,471 3,249 3,057 2,890 2,743 4,832 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
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Global Finance: 
 

         

D/E 
= 

50/50* 

     Wacc    

Sensitivity analysis        

  
7.67% 8.17% 8.67% 9.17% 9.67% 10.17% 10.67% 6.40% 

 
0.00% 9,170 8,615 8,123 7,686 7,294 6,940 6,620 10,973 

 

0.50% 9,609 8,991 8,449 7,969 7,542 7,159 6,814 11,651 
Terminal value growth 

rate = g 
1.00% 10,114 9,420 8,816 8,287 7,819 7,401 7,027 12,454 

 
1.50% 10,700 9,913 9,235 8,646 8,129 7,672 7,265 13,422 

 
2.00% 11,390 10,485 9,717 9,056 8,480 7,976 7,529 14,610 

* theoretical structure of balance sheet relationship and “targeted” rate 
 
 

2) Other intangible fixed assets  

Other intangible assets amount to 11,773 thousand euro at 31 December 2014 after the following changes 
during the year: 

 
€uro/000 Start-up 

and 
expansion 

costs 

Costs of 
R&D and 

advert. 

Patent 
rights 

Authorization
s, licenses, 
trademarks 

Assets 
under 

constr. 
and part-
payments 

Other non-
current 

assets 

Total 

Historical cost -- -- 10,012 139 31 29,779 39,961 
Prior revaluations        
Prior devaluations        
Prior amortisation -- -- (9,972) (123) -- (20,742) (30,837) 

Opening balance -- -- 40 16 31 9,037 9,124 
Change in scope of 
consolidation      833 833 

Additions during the year -- -- 37 2 191 4,732 4,962 
Reclassifications 
(-)        

Reclassifications 
(+)      (5) (5) 

Disposals during the year        
Write-ups for financial year        
Write-downs during the year        
Exchange differences        
Depreciation and 
amortisation during the year -- -- (20) (3) -- (3,118) (3,141) 

Total -- -- 57 15 222 11,479 11,773 
Movements pursuant to Art. 
2426, n° 3        

Tot. other intang. assets -- -- 57 15 222 11,479 11,773 

 
The increase in the value of other intangible assets was mainly due to the investment in software by Class 
Editori, as well as by E-Class and PMF News which operated in the financial information sector. 
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3) Tangible fixed assets 
 
At 31 December 2014, property, plant and equipment comprise: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Land and buildings 308 304 
Plant and machinery 2,452 2,013 
Industrial and commercial equipment -- -- 
Other assets 2,205 1,577 
Assets under construction -- -- 

Total 4,965 3,894 

 
The changes in property, plant and equipment are indicated below: 
 
€uro/000  

Balance at 31/12/2013 4,965 

Change in scope of consolidation 329 
Increases during the year 477 
Decreases during the year (382) 
Reclassifications -- 
Depreciation charge for the year (1,495) 

Balance at 31/12/2014 3,894 

 
Details and the related changes between years are presented in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other assets 

Assets 
under 

constructi
on 

Total 

Historical cost 364 22,900 1,641 18,273 -- 43,178 
Prior revaluations       
Prior devaluations       
Accumulated amortisation (56) (20,448) (1,641) (16,068) -- (38,213) 

Opening balance 308 2,452 -- 2,205 -- 4,965 

Change in scope of consolidation  120 24 185  329 
Additions during the year  155 -- 322  477 
Reclassifications (-)       
Reclassifications (+)       
Disposals during the year  (142) (24) (216)  (382) 
Revaluations during the year       
Write-downs during the year       
Exchange differences       
Depreciation and amortisation during 
the year (4) (572) -- (919) -- (1,495) 

Total 304 2,013 -- 1,577 -- 3,894 
Movements pursuant to Art. 2426, n° 
3       

Total Intangible Fixed Assets 304 2,013 -- 1,577 -- 3,894 
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4) Equity investments valued at net equity 
 
This item refers to the value of equity holdings in affiliates and amounts to 6.69 million euros against 4.44 
million euros on 31st December 2013. Compared with the prior year, the investment in CHTV is now 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis since the company became wholly owned during 2014.  A 50% interest 
in Mito Srl was acquired during the year and Radio Cina Italia Srl (49% of capital classified as a non-current 
financial asset) was formed from a line of business contributed by Radio Classica. In addition, the 
investments in Class Roma and Up Cube Srl have been written off on a prudent basis following the decision 
to put them into liquidation.  
 
 
The changes during the year are summarised in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 Carrying 

amount as 
of 

31/12/2013 

Increases Disposals / 
Reclassif. 

Write-ups / 
(Write-
downs) 

Changes 
recognised in 

SE 

Balance at 
31/12/2014 

Italia Oggi Editori Erinne Srl 4,109   79 (92) 4,096 

Editorial Class S.A. 14     14 

Class Roma Srl in liquidation 12   (12)  -- 

Borsa 7 Editori Srl --     -- 

Emprimer Spa 5     5 

Romaintv Spa in liquidation --     -- 

 CHTV Srl -- 123 (123)   -- 

Up Cube Srl in liquidation 300   (300)  -- 

Mito Srl -- 5    5 

Radio Cina Italia Srl -- 2,568    2,568 

Total 4,440 2,696 (123) (233) (92) 6,688 

 
 
5) Other equity investments 

 
€uro/000 Carrying 

amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Increases Disposals/Writ
e-downs Reclassifications Balance at 

31/12/2014 

      Analitica --    -- 
Il Manifesto 10    10 
Proxitalia 5    5 
Agefi Group --    -- 
E-finance --    -- 
Cons Vinco --    -- 
Co.Na.It --    -- 
Borfin --    -- 
Entropic Synergies 300    300 
Banca Popolare di Vicenza 448 49   497 

Total 763 49 -- -- 812 
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6) Non-current trade receivables 

The reported balance, 16,961 thousand euro, relates entirely to the non-current portion of the trade 
receivable generated on the sale in 2011 of software developed by E-Class and PMF. This receivable was 
assigned by them to Class Editori in 2012. In accordance with IFRS, the book value of the receivables was 
discounted back with the posting of a reserve amounting to 1.631,000 euros. 

7) Non-current tax receivables 
 
These total 23.5 million euro and include deferred tax assets at 31 December 2014 of 6.87 million euro, 
compared with 5.13 million euro at 31 December 2013, as well as IRES credits for the losses reported by the 
tax group of 16.68 million euro, compared with 17.92 million euro at 31 December 2013. This last amount 
was reported as a current tax receivable in the prior year. The reclassification of this credit as a non-current 
asset was first reported in the consolidated half-year report at 30 June 2014, when non-current tax 
receivables at the end of 2013 were restated as 23.05 million euro. For the sake of prudence, the Publishing 
House did not consider it appropriate to recognise deferred tax assets in relation to the IRES loss incurred in 
2014. This caption is analysed in the table presented below in note 30) Taxes. 
 
8) Other non-current receivables 
 
The amount of other non-current receivables was equal to 2.52 million euros as of 31st December 2014 
compared to a value of 3.0 million euros as of 31st December 2013. 
 
The balance mostly reflects guarantee deposits paid when signing contracts to rent buildings. These include a 
deposit of 2.0 million euro paid by Class Editori to Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa during the 
renovation by the CIA group of the property located in Milan at the intersection of Corso Italia and Via 
Burigozzo, part of which is used as offices by the Publishing House. Class Editori signed the related rental 
contract with Diana Bis Srl, a subsidiary of CIA Spa, with effect from 1 July 2012. 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
9) Inventory 
 
They total overall 2.55 million euros versus the 2.70 million euros of the previous year. Paper is valued on a 
FIFO basis, while photographic services, finished products and goods held for resale are stated at purchase 
cost, which is less than or equal to their market value. 

The inventory item is made up as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Paper 197 243 
Raw and consumable materials -- 186 
Editorial materials 107 89 

Raw materials, subsidiary materials and consumables 304 518 
   Finished products and goods 2,197 2,034 
Work in progress 197 -- 
   
Total warehouse inventory 2,698 2,552 

 



 

                                                                                          Page 70 

 

Finished products at 31 December 2014 are stated net of an inventory allowance of 537 thousand euro, while 
editorial materials are stated net of an allowance totalling 80 thousand euro. The allowances adjust the 
carrying amount of the products held at year end to their fair value. 
 
 
10) Securities available for sale 

 

At 31 December 2014 these amount to 2.55 million euro. Securities available for sale comprise 51% of the 
capital of Radio Cina Italia Srl. As discussed in the report, this investment has been classified as a current 
asset following the signature, on 19 November 2014, of a preliminary contract for its sale at a price of 2.55 
million euro, of which 2 million euro already collected at 31 December 2014. This reclassification as a 
current asset involved writing down the securities by 124 thousand euro, to align their carrying amount with 
their estimated realisable value. 

 
 
11) Current trade receivables 

 
Current trade receivables have increased from 70.37 million euro at 31 December 2013 to 76.21 million 
euro at 31 December 2014. 

They are analysed below: 
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Regular customers 45,738 46,903 

Invoices to be issued 2,888 10,748 

Trade notes 195 281 

Distributors (Italia Oggi - Erinne) 10,096 3,955 

Due from associates 13,122 16,248 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,670) (1,922) 
   
Total trade receivables 70,369 76,213 

 
Amounts due from customers are mainly of a commercial nature, linked to the advertising revenues 
generated by Classpi Spa, the Group's sub-licensee for the collection of advertising business.  

The overall increase in trade receivables during the year was due to the recognition of invoices to be issued 
to Sky Italia, totalling 8 million euro, in relation to the sale of the licence to transmit on channel LCN27. The 
first-time consolidation of Aldebaran and CHTV (an associate of the Publishing House at 31 December 
2013) increased trade receivables by about 0.67 million euro. 

Receivables totalling about 3.16 million euro were written down during the year, of which 1.42 million euro 
was covered by the release of allowances. Further provisions for doubtful accounts of about 1.60 million 
euro have been recorded following an analysis of recoverability. 

It should be mentioned that, as required by International Reporting Policies, the value of customer 
receivables accounts for the so-called time value which led to estimate the collection times to their 
discounting back. The reduction in the value of current trade receivables, due to discounting them to their 
present value at 31 December 2014, amounts to 0.3 million euro. 
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12) Current financial receivables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Italia Oggi - Erinne C/A 6,808 4,247 

Class Roma C/A 180 -- 

Financial receivables from other associates 103 -- 

Financial receivables from Euroclass Multimedia Holding -- 245 

Financial receivables from others 3,730 2,890 
   
Total financial receivables 10,821 7,382 

 
The financial receivables due from others principally comprise loans to companies in the CIA group. A loan 
was granted on market terms to Euroclass during the year. 
 
13) Current tax receivables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Bank withholding tax -- 24 

IRES/IRAP tax credits 722 981 

VAT recoverable 3,198 4,464 

Other amounts due from tax authorities 1,932 1,890 

Total tax receivables 5,852 7,359 

 
The increase in tax receivables essentially reflects the increase in VAT recoverable by the Group. 
As mentioned, IRES credits for the losses reported by the tax group have been reclassified as non-current tax 
receivables. At 31 December 2013 these amounted to 17.92 million euro, compared with 16.68 million euro 
at 31 December 2014. 
 
14) Other current receivables 

 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Sales commission advances 1,630 1,558 

Credit notes to be received/advances to suppliers 9,222 12,746 

Due from employees 246 254 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 4,579 4,228 

Due from other publishers 670 686 

Due from social security institutions  313 580 

Due from sale of investments  3,000 -- 

Other receivables 100 244 

Total other receivables  19,760 20,296 
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The increase in credit notes to be received from suppliers reflects a number of important agreements to settle 
outstanding balances reached during the year. 

Deferred charges include the deferral of costs to future years, generated from maxi initial fees, on operational 
leasing contracts connected with the use of software and user licences for electronic publishing. 

The amount due at 31 December 2013 from the sale of equity investments related to the sale of sales in 
Milano Finanza to Agorà Finance. This receivable was used during 2014 as part payment for the purchase of 
the investment in Aldebaran Srl. 

The increase in other receivables from 100 thousand to 244 thousand euro was mainly due to the first-time 
consolidation of CHTV Srl. The receivables of this company include 50 thousand euro due from FISE, in 
relation to prior commercial agreements, the collection of which is currently being negotiated. they also 
include 90 thousand euro due from CHTV Global Srl, following its acquisition of the TV channel line of 
business. 
 
15) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Bank deposits 11,793 7,319 

Postal accounts 97 144 

Cash and equivalents on hand 53 35 

Total Liquid Funds 11,943 7,498 
 
The total net financial position and its primary components are presented below in the format recommended 
by Consob. 

Net total financial position 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

• Cash on hand 
 

a) Bank deposits 
b) Postal deposits 

• Other liquid funds 

53 
 

11,793 
97 

11,890 

35 
 

7,319 
144 

7,463 
• Liquid funds and other financial assets (A+B) 11,943 7,498 

• Securities held for trading 
 

c) Financial receivables from affiliated companies 
d) Derivative instruments and other financial assets 

• Receivables and other financial assets 

-- 
 

7,091 
3,730 

10,821 

2,550 
 

4,247 
3,135 
7,382 

• Current financial assets (D+E) 10,821 9,932 

• Current financial payables 
 

e) Loans 
f) Loans 

• Current quota of non-current debt 
 

g) Financial payables due to affiliated companies 
h) Derivative instruments and other financial assets 

• Other current financial payables 

 
26,764 

 
2,499 

51,250 
53,749 

 
1,183 

-- 
1,183 

 

 
19,303 

 
3,965 

50,139 
54,103 

 
4,356 

-- 
4,356 

 

a) Payables due to banks and other current financial liabilities (G+H+I) 81,696 77,762 

b) Net current financial position (C+F-L) (58,932) (60,332) 
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i) Loans 
j) Loans 

c) Part of non-current debt 
 
d) Other non-current financial payables 

 
6,671 

-- 
6,671 

 
-- 

 
2,897 

-- 
2,897 

 
-- 

e) Non-current financial debt (N+O) 6,671 2,897 

f) Net financial position (M-P) (65,603) (63,229) 

 
 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 
 
NET EQUITY 
 
 
16) Net equity movements 
 
€uro/000 Balance at 

31/12/2013 
Allocation 

of results 
Translation 
difference 

IAS 19 
change in 
severance 

indemnities 

Capital 
increase 

Other 
changes 

Net result 
for the year 

Balance at 
31/12/2014 

Net equity:         
         
Of the Group:         
Share capital 10,561    17,761   28,322 
Share premium account 31,329    22,024 (502)  52,851 
Revaluation reserve         

Legal reserve 2,544       2,544 
Treasury shares reserve (94)       (94) 
Reserves under the 
articles of association         

Consolidation reserves (6,269) 936 125 (640)  (860)  (6,708) 
Other 25,698 (23,718)  (31)    1,949 
Profit (loss) for the year (22,782) 22,782     (14,408) (14,408) 

Group net equity 40,987 -- 125 (671) 39,785 (1,362
) (14,408) 64,456 

         
Minority:         
Capital and reserves 
attributable to NCI 5,785 1,095 45 (157)  (229)  6,539 

Net profit (loss) 
attributable to NCI 1,095 (1,095)     1,219 1,219 

Minority net equity 6,880 -- 45 (157) -- (229) 1,219 7,758 

Total Net Equity 47,867 -- 170 (828) 39,785 (1,591
) (13,189) 72,214 
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In addition to the allocation of the results for the prior year and the loss for the year of 14.4 million euro, the 
main changes during 2014 were as follows: 

- capital increase completed in August with subscriptions and payments totalling 39.8 million euro, 
comprising a rise of 17.8 million euro in the nominal value of share capital and an increase in the share 
premium account of 22.0 million euro; 

- reduction in the share premium account by 502 thousand euro to cover the cost of the advisory services 
received in relation to the parent company's capital increase; 

- effect of discounting the provision for severance indemnities, as required by IAS 19, which is recognised 
directly in equity, -0.67 million euro; 

- first-time consolidation of CHTV, the effect of which was to decrease the consolidation reserve by 1.1 
million euro. 

 
Minority net equity pertaining to third parties was 7.76 million euros at 31st December 2014 against 6.88 
million euros at 31st December 2013. The increase was due to the results for the year. 
 
 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
17) Non-current financial payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Loans received (M/L-term amounts) 6,671 2,897 

Total financial payables 6,671 2,897 

 
The decrease in non-current financial payables since last year reflects the reclassification as current financial 
payables of instalments falling due within 12 months of 31 December 2014. 
 
18) Deferred tax liabilities 
 
Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2014 amount to 1.21 million euro, compared with 2.42 million euro 
at 31 December 2013. This caption is analysed in the table presented below in note 30) Taxes. 
 
19) Provision for risks and charges 
 
€uro/000  

Balance at 31/12/2013 490 

Change in scope of consolidation -- 

Provisions for the year 2,165 

Utilisations during the year (23) 

Exchange differences -- 

Balance at 31/12/2014 2,632 

 
The utilisations covered the instalment payments made in relation to the disputes with agents. 



 

                                                                                          Page 75 

 

The provisions for the year were recorded by the parent company to cover the cost of shutting down the 
Class TV channel, following the disposal (formalised during the year) of the licence to transmit on digital 
terrestrial channel 27, as discussed further in the report. 

The other provisions for liabilities and charges are adequate in relation to the contingencies identified by the 
Publishing House, which mainly relate to proceedings arising from publishing activities. 
 
20) Post-employment benefits 
 
€uro/000 Balance at 

31/12/2013 
Change in 

scope of 
consolidation 

Transfers/Util
isations 

Financial 
charges 

Actuarial 
charges 

Allocations Balance at 
31/12/2014 

Category:        
        Executives 516 -- (72) 2 89 40 575 
        Journalists 2,565 -- (38) 8 136 147 2,818 
        
Clerical staff 2,705 262 (1) 11 601 327 3,905 
        Total Employee 
severance 
indemnities 

5,786 262 (111) 21 826 514 7,298 

 
The following table analyses the actuarial assumptions used to determine the provision for employee 
severance indemnities as of 31 December 2014 in accordance with IAS 19: 
 
Actuarial assumptions     

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS:   

Discounting rate   Eur Composite AA curve 
at 31.12.2014 

   

 Terms (years) Rates 

 1 0.136% 
 2 0.163% 
 3 0.225% 
 4 0.316% 
 5 0.424% 
 7 0.663% 
 8 0.790% 
 9 0.917% 
 10 1.035% 
 15 1.305% 

   

Inflation rate   1.50% 
Expected rate of pay increases (inc. inflation)   1.97% 
Percentage of indemnity requested in advance*   70.00% / 100.00% 

* 100% only for Milano Finanza and Class Editori; 70% for all other companies   
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POPULATION ASSUMPTIONS:   

Maximum retirement age   According to the latest 
legislative provisions 

Mortality tables   RGS 48 
Average annual percentage of leavers**   6.95% 
Annual probability of requesting an advance   3.50% 

** considering any reason for leaving in the ten years after the year concerned  

   
   
Sensitivity analysis Sensitivity New DBO 

Discounting rate 
+0.50% 6,447,133 
-0.50% 7,177,572 

   

Additional information     

Duration (in years)   13.51 

   
Expected payments     

Expected payments as of 31.12.2015   476,372 

Expected payments as of 31.12.2016   487,450 

Expected payments as of 31.12.2017   414,366 

Expected payments as of 31.12.2018   575,361 

Expected payments as of 31.12.2019   396,192 

Expected payments between 1.01.2020 and 31.12.2024   2,307,130 

 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
 
21) Financial payables - current 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Bank overdrafts and commercial lines of credit 26,764 19,303 

Associates C/A 1,183 4,356 

Amounts due to other lenders 53,749 54,103 

Total financial payables 81,696 77,762 

 
Amounts due to other lenders include hot money and stand-by loans arranged by Class Editori and 
amounting to about 50.14 million euro. Further details can be found in the report on operations, in the section 
that discusses the net financial position. 
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22) Current trade payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Due to suppliers and collaborators 34,495 27,510 

Invoices to be received and credit notes to be issued 11,827 14,457 

Due to advertising concessionaire -- -- 

Due to associates 10,194 3,202 

Total trade payables 56,516 45,169 
 
The significant reduction in trade payables with respect to the prior year was principally due to the settlement 
of past-due amounts, which was generally accompanied by the allowance of discounts on the outstanding 
balances and tariffs charged.  
 
23) Current trade payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

VAT payable 150 119 

Due to payable 2,326 987 

Other tax payables -- 119 

Current tax payables 980 848 

Total Tax Payables 3,456 2,073 
 
Current tax payables relate to the taxes on the results for the year. The reduction in withholding taxes 
payable reflects the payment of past-due amounts in 2014.  
 
24) Other current payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Due to social security institutions 1,132 1,162 

Due to agents for commissions 2,693 2,623 

Due to employees 786 568 

Dividends payable 97 97 

Deferred subscription income 570 770 

Returns to be received 9,995 11,122 

Other accrued expenses and deferred income 3,467 2,779 

Client advance accounts 7 2,032 

Other payables 1,178 550 

Total other payables 19,925 21,703 

 
Client advance accounts include the 2 million euro collected in relation to the sale of a 51% interest in Radio 
Cina Italia Srl. 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
 

Concerning the economic performance of Class Editori Spa and subsidiaries, in addition to the matters 
discussed in the interim report on operations, the main items are set out below, divided into classes. 
 
25) Revenues  

 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change (%) 

Revenues from subscriptions and copies 31,222 29,601 (5.2) 

Advertising revenues 47,240 45,418 (3.9) 

Other revenues 5,211 14,720 182.5 
 

Total operating revenues 83,673 89,739 7.2 

Operating grants 360 295 (18.1) 

Total  84,033 90,034 7.1 

Extraordinary income 1,926 6,417 233.2 

Total revenues 85,959 96,451 12.2 

 

 
26) Production costs 
 
Details of Operating costs are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change (%) 

Purchases 4,384 3,798 (13.4) 

Services 70,882 64,100 (9.6) 

Payroll costs 18,651 18,870 1.2 

Investments measured at equity 85 (67) (178.8) 

Other operating costs 3,551 3,755 5.7 
    
Total operating costs 97,553 90,456 (7.3) 

Non-recurring expense 5,175 4,682 (9.5) 

    
Total operating costs 102,728 95,138 (7.4) 
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Services are analysed in more detail below: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Cost of production 26,482 25,510 (3.7) 

Editorial costs 6,126 4,981 (18.7) 

Commercial/advertising costs 21,040 18,261 (13.2) 

Distribution costs 4,122 4,313 4.6 

Other costs 13,112 11,035 (15.8) 

Total service costs 70,882 64,100 (9.6) 

 
 
27) Non-recurring income and charges 
 
These are analysed as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change 

(%) 

Out-of-period income 1,925 5,915 207.3 

Gains on/revaluations of equity investments 1 502 n.a. 
    
Total non-recurring income 1,926 6,417 233.2 
    

Out-of-period expenses (2,888) (2,123) (26.5) 

Losses on receivables (not covered by allowances) (1,773) (1,734) (2.2) 

Reimbursement of losses and settlements (514) (825) 60.5 
    
Total non-recurring income (5,175) (4,682) (9.5) 
    
Net non-recurring items (3,249) 1,735 153.4 

 

The substantial non-recurring income recorded in 2014 comprises the elimination of payables following the 
negotiation of discounts with suppliers, the correction of differences in the prior-year current and deferred 
tax calculations, elimination of the deferred tax liabilities recorded in prior years in relation to the radio 
frequencies included in the line of business contributed to a newco in 2014, revenues relating to prior years, 
payouts from bankruptcies in relation to receivables already written off, differences between actual costs and 
those estimated in prior years, and the elimination of payables for which no cash outflow is expected.  
Capital gains include 500 thousand euro representing the economic effect of the disposal of the line of 
business operated by CHTV Srl. 

Non-recurring expense included out-of-period expenses, losses on receivables and period costs relating to 
disputes and other settlements. As in the prior year, the size of the losses recognised is a direct reflection of 
the current crisis afflicting the Italian economy, with the consequent closure of businesses that were 
customers of the Publishing House and the related adverse effects.  
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In more detail, out-of-period expenses included losses on the disposal of fixed assets, mainly in relation to 
the contribution of lines of business, totalling 808 thousand euro, the correction of differences in the prior-
year current and deferred tax calculations amounting to 120 thousand euro, costs not recognised in the 
correct accounting period and the reversal of income not earned that was recorded in prior years. 
 
28) Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 
 
This caption comprises the depreciation and amortisation charges relating to property, plant and equipment 
and to intangible assets. A detailed breakdown by asset is shown in earlier tables, while a summary is 
presented below: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 Change (%) 

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,085 3,211 54.0 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,543 1,769 14.6 

Provision for doubtful accounts, liabilities and charges 1,201 3,765 213.5 

Write-down of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 3,415 1,839 (46.1) 

Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs 8,244 10,584 28.4 

 
The increased amortisation of intangible assets principally reflects the investment made in the finance area 
by the Publishing House over the past few years. As a result of the current economic crisis, which has made 
the routine collection of trade receivable ever more problematic, a prudent decision was made during the 
year to increase the allowance for doubtful accounts by 1.6 million euro. In addition, a provision of 2.16 
million euro was recorded to cover the cost of shutting down the Class TV channel. The write-down of 
intangible assets with an indefinite life is also explained by the difficult situation in the publishing sector. 
Based on the impairment tests carried out at the end of the year, the directors decided to write-down certain 
intangible assets with an indefinite life, as described further in the notes to the statement of financial 
position. 
 
29) Net financial income/(charges) 
 
The details of financial income and expenditure for the period are shown below: 
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Bank interest income 288 137 

Financial income from associates 181 232 

Other financial income 640 1,301 

Total financial income 1,109 1,670 
   
Bank and loan charges (343) (418) 

Bank interest expense (1,309) (1,356) 

Financial charges from associates (19) (24) 

Other financial charges (2,533) (2,794) 

Total financial charges (4,204) (4,592) 

Net financial income/(charges) (3,095) (2,922) 
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Other financial income and charges include the effects of discounting receivables to their present value, in 
order to recognise the time value of money. The trend in interest rates has had a positive effect on this aspect, 
with the recognition of financial income of 1.23 million euro. 
 
 
30) Income taxes 
 
Details are shown as follows: 
 
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Taxes for the year 1,327 2,168 

Change in deferred taxation (7,748) (1,172) 
   
Total taxes of the period (6,421) 996 

 
 
For the sake of prudence, the Publishing House did not consider it appropriate to recognise deferred tax 
assets in relation to the IRES loss incurred in 2014. 
 
Paragraph 14 of art. 2427 requires a prospect to be drawn up indicating: 
 
a) the description of the temporary differences which led to finding advance and deferred taxes, specifying 
the rate applied and any changes with respect to the previous year, the amounts credited or debited to the 
Income Statement or to Net Equity, the items excluded from the calculations and their respective 
justification; 
 
b) the deferred tax assets recognised in relation to current and prior year losses and the reasons for such 
recognition, together with the amount not yet recognised and the reasons for this omission. 
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 Balance at 31/12/2013 Balance at 31/12/2014 

 Amount of 
temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on net 
profit 

Amount of 
temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on net 
profit 

Tax rate applied 27.50%     27.50%     

Tax rate applied 31.40%     31.40%     

Advance/Deferred taxes:            

Tax benefit of IRES losses (6,351) 1,747 (126) (5,885) 1,618 (134) 

Tax benefit of IRES losses (20) 6 -- (1,742) 479 -- 

Goodwill (titles) 2,479 (778) (101) 2,703 (849) (82) 
Write-down of investments - Change in scope of 
consolidation (42) 12 -- -- -- -- 

Taxed allowance for doubtful accounts (1,274) 350 (60) (1,713) 471 121 
Taxed allowance for doubtful accounts - Change in 
scope of consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Provisions for liabilities and charges  (443) 122 (219) (2,370) 652 530 
Provisions for liabilities and charges - scope of 
consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Provision for the discounting of receivables (728) 200 (25) (652) 179 (21) 
Provision for the discounting of receivables -  Change 
in scope of consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Time Value fund adjustment 73 (20) -- 73 (20) -- 

Maintenance expenses (171) 53 (14) (131) 41 (12) 
Maintenance expenses - Change in scope of 
consolidation -- -- -- (27) 7 -- 

Inventory write-down provision (156) 43 10 (126) 35 (8) 
Inventory allowance - Change in scope of 
consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

4/5ths of gain on disposal of lines of business -- -- -- 1,045 (287) (287) 

Directors' remuneration (528) 145 13 (413) 114 (32) 
Directors' remuneration - Change in scope of 
consolidation    (12) 3  

Excess financial charges (9,412) 2,588 625 (12,030) 3,308 640 
Excess financial charges - Change in scope of 
consolidation (291) 80 -- -- -- -- 

Adjustments to financial charges 51 (14) -- 51 (14) -- 

Differences in severance indemnities (114) 31 22 (68) 19 (13) 
Severance indemnities - Change in  scope of 
consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Revaluation of frequencies 7,700 (2,421) (134) 3,827 (1,202) 1,219 

Transfer of excess financial charges to the group 713 (196) -- 704 (194) 2 

Excess GOP (1,826) 502 250 (2,857) 786 284 

Unused ACE (290) 80 (1) (1,213) 334 254 

Barter goods at fair value (115) 36 -- (115) 36 -- 

Amortisation differences 160 (51) -- 159 (50) 1 

Intangible assets Change in scope of consolidation -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Depreciation differences (647) 204 (5) (647) 204 -- 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)   2,719 235   5,670 2,462 

Net effect:            

on results for the year   235     2,462  

out-of-period effect on opening balance  (154)   --  
on opening shareholders' equity - change in scope of 
consolidation   490      486   

on opening shareholders' equity  2,136     2,707  

On closing Net Equity   2,707     5,655  

 
The overall effect on the income statement indicated in the table, 2,462 thousand euro, includes out-of-period 
income of 1,393 thousand euro and out-of-period expenses of 103 thousand euro. 
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31) The fiscal effect relative to the other items of the overall consolidated interim income statement 
 
The other components of consolidated comprehensive income derive from the following: 

- changes in the consolidated translation reserve recognised on translation of the shareholders' equity of 
Global Finance Inc., the US subsidiary. This reserve is positive by 170 thousand euro at 31 
December 2014 (Group interest of 125 thousand euro; non-controlling interest of 45 thousand 
euro). The effect was negative by 38 thousand euro at 31 December 2013 (Group interest of 28 
thousand euro; non-controlling interest of 10 thousand euro). 

- the amendment of IAS 19 relating, in particular, to the method used to recognise severance indemnities 
abolished use of the corridor method to record actuarial gains and losses. The actuarial gains that arose 
during the year, 828 thousand euro (671 thousand euro attributable to the Group, 157 thousand euro to the 
non-controlling interest), were therefore recorded directly in an equity reserve; 

- costs totalling 502 thousand euro were incurred during the year in relation to the capital increase. These 
costs were deducted directly from the share premium account. 

These items, recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, do not generate any tax effects. In 
particular, since the company reported a tax loss for which, on a prudent basis, no deferred tax assets were 
recognised, there are no tax effects in 2014 in relation to the cost of the capital increase. 
 
 
32) Memo accounts 
 
Details are shown as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Sureties for prize competitions 120 120 

Guarantees given on behalf of third parties 1,763 1,143 

Total furnished guaranties 1,883 1,263 

Goods/electronic machines with third parties 1,222 1,165 

Paper with third parties 198 243 

Total of goods with third parties 1,420 1,408 

Shares with Centralised Securities Administration 377 372 

Total securities with third parties 377 372 
   

Total 3,680 3,043 
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

As required by IAS 32, the following table compares the amounts reported in the financial statements at 31 
December 2014 with the fair value of financial assets and liabilities: 
 
€ (thousands) Accounts 

value 
Fair value 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 10,048 10,048 

Trade receivables 95,078 93,174 

Equity investments and securities 7,500 7,500 

Other receivables 61,102 61,102 
   
Financial liabilities   

Loans   

- fixed interest 6,862 6,862 

- floating interest 54,494 54,494 

Trade payables 45,169 45,169 

Other payables 24,988 24,988 

Due to banks 19,303 19,303 

 
 
SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 
The following sector information is provided in compliance with IAS 14. 

The main sector data of the companies is given below: 

A. Newspapers  
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change 
(%) 

Revenues 20,893 18,830 (2,063) (9.9) 

Direct operating costs 12,717 11,172 (1,545)  (12.2) 

Contribution margin 8,176 7,658 (518) (6.3) 

% of revenues 39.1 40.7   

B. Periodicals 
 

€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 15,740 14,789 (951) (6.0) 

Direct operating costs 15,842 14,897 (945) (6.0) 

Contribution margin (102) (108) (6) (5.9) 

% of revenues (0.6) (0.7)   
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C. Digital area 
 

€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 31,978 33,723 1,745 5.5 

Direct operating costs 34,247 35,201 954 2.8 

Contribution margin (2,269) (1,478) 791 34.8 

% of revenues (7.1) (4.4)   

 

D. Professional Services 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/13 31/12/14 Absolute 
change 

Change (%) 

Revenues 9,916 11,323 1,407 14.2 

Direct operating costs 8,736 9,520 784 9.0 

Contribution margin 1,180 1,803 623 52.8 

% of revenues 11.9 15.9   

 

Disputes in progress  
 
In 2005, the Milan office of the Tax Authorities served assessment notices on the Milano Finanza Editori 
Spa, relating to the 2002 and 2003 tax years. After the appeal filed by Milano Finanza, the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan filed its own first instance judgment on 17 July 2007, partially granting the grievances 
submitted by the company, and essentially cutting in half the value of the initial taxable amounts. In the 
meantime, however, as required by law, 50% of the amount assessed has been entered in the tax rolls. The 
payment of the tax payment requests was made in July 2006, for an amount of approximately 354,000 Euros. 
The hearing at the CTP of Milan was held on 6th July 2009. The judgment, which was filed on 11th 
November 2009, dismissed the Agency's appeal regarding the notice of assessment for the year 2003, while 
the appeal was partially granted concerning the notice of assessment for 2002. Specifically, the Agency's 
petition regarding point n° 4 of the notice of assessment was granted, that is, the failure to book receivable 
interest (Art. 56 Income Tax Consolidation Act-TUIR), entailing the recovery of the respective taxes in 
connection with direct taxation, for 340,901.46 euros. The company, assisted by Studio Legale Tributario 
Gallo, established by Franco Gallo, presented an appeal to the Supreme Court of Cassation in December 
2010. The date of the hearing has yet to be established. 
 
A dispute is currently underway with Inpgi with respect to the companies Class Editori Spa and Milano 
Finanza Spa (as well as the affiliated company Italia Oggi Editori – Erinne Srl); the institute has put forth 
claims on alleged contribution violations which the company considers groundless. Given the available 
amnesty in relation to disputes with Inpgi, the Publishing House determined that it would be expedient to 
settle the disputes regarding the initial assessments received. The amounts agreed were paid in instalments, 
terminating in 2013. As a consequence, the provision recorded to cover this liability, 400 thousand euro, was 
used in full.  
The dispute concerning the assessments made by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. The request amounts to 
approximately 1.6 million euros overall. Supported by the opinion of Ichino-Brugnatelli e Associati, the 
defence lawyers, it has not been deemed necessary to record any provisions in this regard (consistent with 
the requirements of IAS 37). In further support of the approach taken by the Publishing House, in April 2014 
the Rome Court of Appeal accepted in full the appeal presented by Italia Oggi in relation to a similar dispute 
with Inpgi, overturning the adverse first-level ruling (no. 11131/2). 
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With regard to the dispute involving Class Editori, on 31 October 2014 the Rome Court of Appeal rejected 
the company's appeal and, accordingly, a further appeal to the Court of Cassation will be filed by the 
deadline set of 24 May 2015. In relation to the dispute involving Milano Finanza Editori, the ruling of the 
Rome Court of Appeal filed on 30 May 2014 partially revised the first-level ruling made in 2011, with a 
more favourable outcome for the company. Accordingly, a possible appeal to the Court of Cassation by Inpgi 
is awaited. 
 
Classpi Spa was served with assessments following inspections carried out at the principal concessionaires 
covering the tax years from 2002 to 2007. These related to the alleged non-deductibility of VAT on costs for 
negotiation rights paid to Media Centres, as is the practice in the sector. The first-level ruling was favourable 
to the company, except in relation to the 2005 tax year. In that case, the Milan CTP (Section 1) unexpectedly 
rejected the company's appeal by ruling no. 191 of 7 June 2011, which was filed on 7 September 2011. An 
appeal was therefore made to the Lombardy Regional Tax Commission whose ruling no. 19/13/13, filed on 
23 January 2013, was adverse to the company. Accordingly, an appeal to the Court of Cassation was filed on 
7 October 2013. Equitalia-Esatri had already issued an enforcement demand for 50% of the assessed taxes 
(except for IRES), totalling 346 thousand euro. This demand covered the matters raised in the inspection of 
the 2005 tax year, as well as those relating to the negotiating rights recorded in the 2005, 2006 and 2007 tax 
years. After the usual rejection of the suspension petition, an application to pay the demand by instalments 
was presented. The request was accepted at the beginning of 2011. The Company has paid about 221 
thousand euro, which is more than the overall amount due based on the outcome of the first-level ruling. 
Payment by instalment plan was therefore suspended, following the issues of relief measures by the Tax 
Authorities. On 29 May 2012, the Company received a rebate of 126 thousand euro, corresponding to the 
excess amount paid with respect to the ruling of the Provincial Tax Commission. 
With regard to the 2002, 2003 and 2004 tax years, ruling no. 81/14/12 of the Lombardy Regional Tax 
Commission, filed on 10 July 2012, confirmed the first-level ruling in favour of the Company. On 18 July 
2013, the Tax Authorities filed an appeal to the Court of Cassation against ruling no. 8/14/12. Classpi 
counter-appealed on 24 October 2013. 
Lastly, with regard to the 2006 and 2007 tax years, ruling no. 58/12/13 of the Lombardy Regional Tax 
Commission, filed on 15 March 2013, confirmed the first-level ruling in favour of the Company. Here too, 
the Tax Authorities have appealed to the Court of Cassation against this ruling in favour of the Company 
which, on 17 December 2013, filed a counter-appeal. 
The date of the hearing for all three cases has not yet been set, but will presumably be in about 3 years. 

On 25 February 2010, Classpi received a notice of assessment following an inspection carried out by the Tax 
Authorities in relation to the 2005 tax year. The notice of assessment includes IRES/IRAP disallowances of 
about 2.5 million euro and VAT disallowances of about 2 million euro. Various disallowances were the 
result of failure by the tax inspectors to consider the actual situation in the advertising market in general, and 
the typical outcome of barter contracts in particular, since the entire publishing sector inevitably re-sells the 
materials/services received at prices below those at which they were purchased. The principal objection 
relating to failure to account for revenues concerning the failure to re-charge to Group companies the 
advertising costs incurred for the promotion of editorial publications. However, those services are governed 
by intra-group agreements that envisage specific remuneration for Classpi. Ruling no. 191 of the Milan 
Provincial Tax Commission (Section 1) was filed on 7 September 2011. This ruling was very favourable 
overall, accepting almost all the company's observations and considerably scaling down the initial objections. 
The Tax Authorities appealed against this ruling and, in turn, the company filed its counter arguments. On 23 
January 2013, the Milan Regional Tax Commission essentially confirmed the first-level ruling and the 
general propriety of the company's actions. 
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Although both rulings were extremely favourable, reducing the original claim by the Tax Authorities for 
additional taxable income of 2.5 million euro to about 370 thousand euro, the company nevertheless decided 
to appeal to the Court of Cassation in view of the adverse ruling made on the matter of negotiation rights in 
relation to the tax year concerned. 
 
Privacy information  
 
In compliance with point 26 of Attachment B of [Italian] Legislative Decree No. 196/2003 containing the 
Privacy Act, the directors acknowledge that the Company has taken measures to ensure compliance with the 
Privacy Act in light of the provisions introduced by said Legislative Decree in accordance with the deadlines 
and modalities specified therein. In particular, the Security Planning Document pursuant to point 19 of said 
Attachment B (on file at the company's registered office and freely consultable) was prepared on 28 March 
2006 and constantly updated according to regulations. 
 
Significant extraordinary events and transactions 
 

Pursuant to Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, it is confirmed that the Publishing 
House did not enter into any significant, non-recurring transactions during 2014, except for the capital 
increase authorised during the year that is discussed further in the report. 
 
Atypical and/or unusual transactions 
 

Pursuant to Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, it is confirmed that during the year 
the Publishing House did not enter into any atypical and/or unusual transactions, as defined in that 
Communication. 
 
Opt-out from the obligation to publish prospectuses at the time of special transactions 
 

In a press release dated 1 February 2013, Class Editori notified its election from that date to opt-out pursuant 
to para. 8 of art. 70 and para. 1-bis of art. 71 of the Issuers' Regulations, as amended by Consob decision no. 
18079 dated 20 January 2012. This exercises a right to make exceptions to the requirement to publish 
prospectuses at the time of significant mergers, spin-offs, capital increases via the contribution of assets in 
kind, purchases and disposals. 
 
Balance sheet highlights after 31 December 2014 
 
Class Editori has been a shareholder of WeToBusiness, the operational vehicle of WeChat in Italy, since the 
middle of March. The partnership between the Publishing House and the official reseller involves Class 
becoming a shareholder as well as offering services, based on the WeChat platform, aimed at Italian 
companies that wish to exploit the opportunities of the Chinese market. 
Due to the collaboration with WeChat Italia, Class Editori and the operational vehicle are also able to offer a 
presence on WeChat in China to Italian companies that do not have a local legal entity there, which was 
previously impossible under Chinese regulations. 
By opening an official account on WeChat, small, medium-sized and large companies can offer sales 
services directly, provide customer support and carry out marketing actions that address Chinese customers 
and prospects, reaching a pool of over 1 billion registered users. 
Opening a WeChat account also offers an opportunity for companies that use the e-commerce platform 
CCIGMall, represented in Italy by Class Editori, to strengthen their development strategy in the Asian 
market, positioning themselves on what is a formidable social media as well as a comprehensive 
communication tool. 
In addition, WeChat’s direct presence in Italy, where there are already millions of registered users, positions 
the country as a trampoline for developing the platform in Europe assisted by the offer of Class services. 
The services offered by Class Editori are not aimed solely at companies interested in exporting or at building 
business relationships in China, but also at all Italian companies that wish to target Chinese tourists in Italy 
(over 1 million expected this year for the Expo). 
The forthcoming WeChat account of Eccellenza Italia, the Class Editori information system, comprising a 
magazine delivered in China to Italian visa applicants, an app and a traditional website, will make it possible 
to carry out advertising campaigns geographically targeted at Chinese visitors to Italy. 
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Thanks to WeChat and WeClass (the special division of Class Editori), Italian shops and companies can talk 
to tourists and offer their services directly by chatting, as well as being then able to monitor customers and 
profile them using CRM. 
  
This further completes the two-way publishing and communication system established by Class Editori in 
relation to China, which includes www.vendereaicinesi.it, www.turisticinesi.it and the tourist guide App, as 
well as ChinatoItaly shopping, which is work in progress. 
  
A new structure for Class Pubblicità was launched in February, based on principles of integration, 
verticalisation, centrality and customer development, with the aim of responding to changes in a market that 
is moving towards multiple media and which, finally, is showing signs of an improvement in 2015.  
The organisational structure is responsive to customer requirements, which guide the communication 
process. It is also flexible, so the lines will present all forms of communication to the market, while 
maintaining specialisation in specific sectors. 
Another opportunity for ClassPi is the partnership with Sky for digital terrestrial channel 27, currently used 
by SkyTg24.  
The agreement includes a commercial partnership between the two concessionaires Sky Pubblicità and Class 
Pubblicità, which will cover the development of the portfolio of specialist customers in the finance, banking 
and insurance sector. Class Pubblicità has the concession to sell on-air advertising space from 1 March 2015 
for these sectors using different methods for different customer types. 
  
Business outlook 
 
Management has been engaged in checking the progress of the strategic and business plan. In the light of the 
results achieved and the most recent market data available, as well as the ongoing crisis and the opportunities 
that have opened up in digital business and e-commerce in China, on 13 March 2015 the Board of Directors 
approved a revision of the business plan produced under a mandate granted by the Board to the Vice 
Chairman and Managing Director and the executive directors on 13 November 2014. 

This revision is based on the following guidelines: 

• Maintaining the market share of the daily newspapers; 
• improving the turnover of the periodicals (already started in 2014); 
• concentrating the television part on Class CNBC and Out-of-Home TV, as well as on corporate TV and 

on Class TV Moda; 
• expanding significantly the Internet sector; 
• Continuing the development of advanced digital financial services for banks; 
• seeking new openings on e-commerce and digital platforms, especially through the Chinese platform 

CCIGMall, which deals with B2B and B2C e-commerce and with the opportunities opened up by the 
agreement with WeChat. 

 
In the current year, major activity is planned in relation to Expo 2015, with further 
internationalisation that will include the publications (MF International in China, Brazil, UAE, 
Russia, Eccellenza Italia, Global Finance, foreign editions of Gentleman and other initiatives). 
Healthy revenues are expected.  
 

The Board of Directors 
The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 

https://mail.tencent.com/owa/redir.aspx?C=2b91aa420e9841c788d5f2d23c1221e5&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.vendereaicinesi.it
http://www.turisticinesi.it/
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Schedule of significant equity stakes pursuant to Art. 
120 of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 
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In accordance with art. 126 of the regulation approved by Consob Resolution no. 11971/1999, we 
provide information on the significant equity stakes pursuant to Art. 120 of Legislative Decree no. 
58/1998 
 

Name City or 
State 

Share 
capital 

Consolidated 
% of group 

Method of 
equity 

holding 

Shareholder % of 
stake in 
capital 

Campus Editori Srl Milan  50,000 70.00  direct Class Editori Spa 70.00 

PMF News Editori Spa Milan  156,000  68.75  indirect Class Digital 
Service Srl 

68.75 

Country Class Editori Srl  Milan  10,329  100.00  direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Edis Srl Milan  10,400  99.50  direct Class Editori Spa 99.50 

Lombard Editori Srl Milan  52,000  50.10  direct Class Editori Spa 50.10 

MF Conference Srl Milan  10,329  51.00  direct Class Editori Spa 51.00 

Milano Finanza Editori Spa Milan  291,837 88.827  direct Class Editori Spa 88.827 

MF Editori Srl Milan 10,400 88.827 indirect Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

100.00 

MF Servizi Editoriali Srl Milan 10,400 88.94 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

1.00      
99.00 

MF Service Srl Milan  10,000  75.01  direct Class Editori Spa 75.01 

DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in 
liquidation (1) 

Milan  47,500 94.73  direct Class Editori Spa 94.73 

Ex.co Srl in liquidation (1) Milan  17,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Global Finance Media Inc. ($) USA  151 $ 73.52 direct Class Editori Spa 73,520 

E-Class Spa  Milan  608,400  68.75  direct Class Digital 
Service Srl 

68.75 

Classpi Spa Milan  260,000 76.00  direct Class Editori Spa 76.00 

New Satellite Radio Srl Milan  10,000 100.00  direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Class TV Service Srl Milan 10,400 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Class Servizi Televisivi Srl Milan 10,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Class Digital Service Srl Milan 100,000 68.75 direct Class Editori Spa 68.75 

Classint Advertising Srl in 
liquidation (1) 

Milan 10,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Editorial Class  Spain  60,101  44.00  direct Class Editori Spa 44.00 

CFN CNBC Holding Holland 702,321 68.43 direct Class Editori Spa 68.43 

Italia Oggi Editori Erinne Srl Milan  10,000 48.90  direct Class Editori Spa 47.00 

    indirect  Assinform Srl 2.00 

Italia Oggi Srl Milan 10,400 48.90 indirect Italia Oggi Editori 
Erinne  Srl 

100.00 

Fiorentina.it Srl  Florence 10,000 46.45 indirect Italia Oggi Erinne  
Srl 

95.00 

Class Roma Srl in liquidation 
(1) 

Milan  10,400 59.12 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Italia Oggi Editori 
Srl 

20.00      
80.00 

Borsa 7 Editori  Milan  52,000 14.00  direct Class Editori Spa 14.00 
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Name City or 
State 

Share 
capital 

Consolidated 
% of group 

Method of 
equity 

holding 

Shareholder % of 
stake in 
capital 

Agefi Class     50.00 direct Class Editori Spa 50.00 

Class Cnbc Spa Milan  627,860 46.07 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
CFN CNBC Holding 

2.73      
63.32 

Radio Classica Srl Milan 10,000 99.818 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

99.00      
1.00 

Telesia Spa               Rome 1,500,000 85.625 direct Class Editori Spa 85.625 

Emprimer Spa Milan 1,000,000 10.00 direct Class Editori Spa 10.00 

MF Dow Jones News Srl Milan 100,000 50.00 direct Class Editori Spa 50.00 

Fashion Work Business Club 
Srl 

Milan 10,400 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Class Editori Service Srl in 
liquidation (1) 

Milan 300,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa       100.00       

Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl Pordeno
ne 

50,000 95.00 direct Class Editori Spa 95.00      

I Love Italia Srl in liquidation (1) Palermo 10,000 51.00 direct Class Editori Spa 51.00 

Class Meteo Services Srl in 
liquidation (1) 

Milan 10,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Tv Moda Srl Milan 40,000 51.00 direct Class Editori Spa 51.00 

 CHTV Srl Milan 30,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Aldebaran Srl Milan 10,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 100.00 

Class China eCommerce Srl Milan 10,526 50.00 direct Class Editori Spa 50.00 

MITO Srl Cuneo 10,000 50.00 direct Class Editori Spa 50.00 

Banca Popolare Vicenza Vicenza 260,594,490 0.008 direct Class Editori Spa 0.008 

Radio Cina Italia Srl (2) Milan 10,000 100.00 direct Class Editori Spa 0.008 

Up Cube Srl Milan 119,000 25.00 direct Class Editori Spa 25.00 

 
(1) Company put into liquidation during 2014 
(2) 49% classified as a financial asset, the remaining 51% as securities held for sale 
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Related-party transactions at 31 December 2014 
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Following the Consob communication issued on 24 September 2010 governing related-party transactions 
pursuant to Consob resolution no. 17221 of 12 March 2010 and subsequent amendments, the Board of 
Directors of Class Editori Spa has approved a procedure for related-party transactions that came into force on 
1 January 2011. 
 
The economic and financial relations with related and relevant parties at 31 December 2014 are summarised 
below. These commercial and financial relations are settled on the same terms as those applied to suppliers 
and customers. 
 
Parent company: Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 
 
With regard to Euroclass Multimedia Holding, a related party, other prepaid expenses include 1,333 
thousand euro recorded on the deferral of an initial balloon payment made in 2006 in relation to a contract 
for the use of software original held by Tenfore International Ltd and the related trademark. Prepaid 
expenses also include 375 thousand euro relating to the recognition on an accruals basis of the cost of using 
that software. 
Following the purchase by Class Editori of 5% of Telesia from Euroclass in the prior year, the 
consideration of 525 thousand euro was paid during 2014. 
In December 2014, Class Editori granted Euroclass a loan on market terms of 245 thousand euro, 
repayable on demand. New Satellite Radio, on the other hand, has a loan from Euroclass of 190 
thousand euro and trade receivables of 220 thousand euro. In both cases, the balances arose from 
transactions arranged by the subsidiary before it came within Class Editori's scope of consolidation. 
 
Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA Group), a subsidiary of Compagnie Fonciere du Vin, 
which was formed as a result of a proportional partial spin-off from Euroclass Multimedia Holding: 
 
- property lease contracts (as the lessee), necessary for operating in the locations where Class Editori and 

its subsidiaries have their offices; 

- facility management contracts for services provided by CIA to Class Editori and other Group companies 
regarding the maintenance and management of the above properties; 

- during 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the offices of 
Class - with the partial designation of that complex for use by the Publishing House - the latter paid CIA 
a security deposit of 2.0 million euro, partly to cover the cost of adapting the property to its needs; 

- contracts on market conditions for the supply of administrative, financial, technical and legal consulting 
services in support of the routine operations of CIA, as well as in relation to a number of special 
financial investment and property-related projects in progress. 

 

Other transactions with related parties during the year 
In view of the strong performance achieved in the newspapers area and by the advertising concessionaire, as 
well as the good prospects for their growth, in June further interests were acquired in Milano Finanza Editori 
Spa (4.5% for 2.4 million euro) from Marmora Srl and in Classpi Spa (25% for 2.6 million euro) from PP 
Editori. In addition, receivables totalling 5 million euro due from CHTV (formerly an associate, now wholly 
owned following disposal of the TV operations) were sold to Marmora Srl at nominal value, without 
recourse. Class Editori will collect the other amounts due from third parties, mostly the tax authorities, and 
expectd to close the TV shutdown operations successfully. 
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On purchasing the 25% interest in Classpi, the Company obtained a discount from the related-party seller 
with respect to the appraised value of 0.875 million euro. This is because, on 28 September 2012, Class 
Editori had waived receivables totalling 3.5 million euro due from Classpi, in the context of reorganisations 
described in prior reports, while the minority investor did not. On selling its 25% interest, the latter therefore 
agreed to reduce the selling price by its share of the indirect equity benefit deriving from the above waiver of 
receivables. 
 
Lastly, a loan has been made on market terms to Case Editori Srl. This originally amounted to 0.55 million 
euro. 
 
The balance sheet effects of the above relationships are shown in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 Balance sheet 

item 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Balance Sheet Relationships    

Due from CIA for security deposit (8) 2,000 2,000 
Due from Euroclass for option to purchase equity investments (8) 500 -- 

Total other non-current receivables from related parties (8) 2,500 2,000 
    
Trade receivables from CIA Group for goods/services  (11) 4,445 4,445 
Trade receivables from World Space It.  (11) 340 340 
Trade receivables from Euroclass  (*) (11) 220 220 
Due from Euroclass for loan interest (11) -- 1 
Trade receivables from CHTV Global  (11) -- 479 
Trade receivables from Marmora Srl  (11) -- 10 

Total trade receivables from related parties (11) 5,005 5,495 
    
Financial receivables from World Space It.  (12) 424 424 
Financial receivables from CIA Group (12) 1,749 1,389 
Financial receivables from Euroclass (12) -- 245 

Total financial receivables from related parties (12) 2,173 2,058 
    
Receivables from other publishers (14) 670 686 
Sundry receivables from CIA Group (14) 7,700 10,928 
Prepaid expenses charged by CIA Group (14) 289 -- 
Prepayments on services provided by Euroclass Multimedia (14) 1,458 1,708 

Total other current receivables from related parties (14) 10,117 13,322 
    
Financial payables to Euroclass  (*) (21) (190) (190) 

Total financial payables to related parties (21) (190) (190) 
Trade payables to CIA for rentals and facility management (22) (2,530) (4,520) 
Trade payables to CIA Group (22) (1,102) -- 
Trade payables to CHTV Global (22) -- (70) 

Total trade payables to related parties (22) (3,632) (4,590) 
    
Due to Euroclass for the purchase of equity investments (24) (525) -- 
Accrued cost of services provided by Euroclass Multimedia (24) (375) -- 

Total other current payables to related parties (24) (900) -- 

    
(*) Items relating to operations prior to the inclusion of NSR within Class Editori's scope of consolidation. 
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The income statement effects of the above relationships are shown in the following table: 
 
 
€uro/000 Balance sheet 

item 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Income statement relationships    
Revenues from administrative and consulting services provided to 
CIA (25) 150 150 

Costs recharged to companies within the CIA Group (25) 39 29 

Sale of goods to companies within the CIA Group (25) 24 -- 

Advertising revenues charged to companies within the CIA Group (25) -- 9 

Costs recharged to CHTV Global (25) -- 223 

Revenues from services provided to CHTV Global (25) -- 31 

Total revenues from related parties (25) 213 442 
    
Cost of software licenses (26) (500) (500) 

Cost of leasing from CIA Group (26) (3,068) (3,089) 

Cost of facility management services from CIA Group (26) (586) (589) 

Costs recharged by companies within the CIA Group (26) (39) (29) 

Cost of services from companies within the CIA Group (26) (29) -- 

Costs recharged by CHTV Global (26) -- (223) 

Cost of services from Studio Israel Terrenghi (26) (16) (21) 

Total service costs from related parties (26) (4,238) (4,451) 
    
Financial income from Euroclass (29) -- 1 

Financial income from CIA Group (29) 23 2 

Financial income from Case Editori (29) 13 11 

Total financial income from related parties (29) 36 14 

 

 
With regard to affiliated companies, we should point out that some of them are linked to the company by 
relationships of a financial and commercial nature. Concerning the relationships of a financial nature with 
the affiliates, these are regulated by a market rate. 
 
 
The most significant of these relationships is with the company Italia Oggi Editori-Erinne Srl with which 
commercial agreements exist for work and services regarding, on the one hand, advertising sales and the 
supply of administrative, legal and financial services, and on the other, the domestic distribution of daily and 
periodical publications for which Italia Oggi Editori-Erinne Srl represents the primary national distributor. 
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The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships with affiliates: 
 
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Distribution receivables (Italia Oggi - Erinne) 10,096 7,603 
Trade receivables from Italia Oggi – Erinne 5,765 12,563 
Trade receivables from Class Roma 255 35 
Trade receivables from CHTV 7,108 -- 
Financial receivables from Italia Oggi – Erinne 6,808 4,248 
Financial receivables from Class Roma 180 -- 
Financial receivables from  CHTV 103 -- 
Other amounts due from  CHTV 3 -- 
Prepaid expenses charged by Italia Oggi Erinne 1,200 -- 
   
Financial payables to Italia Oggi Erinne (1,003) (4,473) 
Financial payables to Class Roma (7) -- 
Financial payables to  CHTV (173) -- 
Financial payables to Up Cube -- -- 
Trade payables to Italia Oggi - Erinne (8,950) (3,026) 
Trade payables to Class Roma (349) -- 
Trade payables to CHTV (694) -- 
Distribution payables (Italia Oggi - Erinne) (201) (175) 
Deferred income from CHTV -- -- 
   
€uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Income statement relationships   

Revenues from services provided to Italia Oggi – Erinne 1,908 1,848 
Revenues from services provided to Class Roma 23 -- 
Revenues from services provided to CHTV 1,807 -- 
Costs recharged to associates 571 52 
Advertising revenues from associates 250 150 
Recharge of selling costs 3 1,332 
Sale of paper and goods to associates 294 951 
   
Advertising services provided by Italia Oggi – Erinne (173) (30) 
Distribution costs (Italia Oggi - Erinne) (3,928) (4,313) 
Services provided by Italia Oggi – Erinne (240) (130) 
Services provided by Class Roma -- -- 
Services provided by CHTV -- -- 
Expenses recharged by associates (571) (52) 
Selling costs recharged by associates (355) (99) 
   
Financial income from associates 181 232 
Financial charges from associates (19) (27) 

 

No information is provided about the CHTV balance sheet amounts at 31 December 2014 since the company 
is now consolidated by Class Editori.   
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Other intergroup relations 
 
VAT consolidation agreement 

Class Editori Spa has established a VAT group for companies within the Class group that satisfy the 
requirements of the relevant legislation (art. 73, subsection 3 of D.P.R. 633/72). The group VAT recoverable 
at December 2014 amounts to 13 thousand euro. 

The following sureties are outstanding in relation to the VAT credits of the companies belonging to the VAT 
group 

Class Editori – 5,978 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2012 
tax return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 September 2016; 299 thousand euro for the credit 
transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2012 tax return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 
September 2016; 70 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2013 tax 
return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 September 2017; 2,378 thousand euro for the credit 
transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2013 tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 
September 2017. 

E-Class – value 1,262,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. 
The effect of this surety will cease on 30 September 2015; 849 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the 
parent company at the time of the 2013 tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 
2017. 

Milano Finanza – value 3,996,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 
return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 September 2015; 20 thousand euro for the credit transferred 
to the parent company at the time of the 2013 tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 
September 2017. 

Country Class Editori – 135 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of 
the 2011 tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 2015. 

Edis – value 187,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. The 
effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 2015. 

Radio Classica – 111 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2011 
tax return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 September 2015; 68 thousand euro for the credit 
transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2012 tax return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 
September 2016; 62 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2013 
tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 2017. 

MF Conference – 35 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2012 
tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 2016. 

PMF New – 3,826 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2012 tax 
return. The effect of this surety will cease on 20 September 2016; 115 thousand euro for the credit 
transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2013 tax return. The effects of this surety will cease on 
20 September 2017. 

Exco – 10 thousand euro for the credit transferred to the parent company at the time of the 2013 tax return. 
The effects of this surety will cease on 20 September 2017. 
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IRES tax consolidation 

Following the renewal of the tax group by Class Editori SpA for the three year period 2013-2015, Class 
Editori Spa and its main subsidiaries calculate IRES on a group basis. Relations between the members of this 
tax group are governed by special agreements.  
 
 
 
In compliance with Art. 149-duodicies of the Issuers' Regulation, the following schedule reports the fees 
earned by the auditing firm in 2014, analysed by type of service: 
 
 
€uro  Year 2014 

 

Audit of the separate financial statements at 31 December 2014  15,000 
Audit of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014  11,000 
Limited examination of the consolidated half-year report at 30 June 2014  25,000 
Accounting checks during 2014  4,500 

Total auditing for the parent company  55,500 

Other certification services for the parent company   39,500 

Total costs of the parent company  95,000 

   
Audit of the financial statements at 31 December 2014 of subsidiaries  90,400 
Accounting checks during 2014 at subsidiaries  18,100 

Total auditing of subsidiaries  108,500 

Other certification services for subsidiaries (ADS certification)  9,000 

Total costs borne by subsidiaries  117,500 

Total cost of the auditing firm  212,500 
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements 
pursuant to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation No. 

11971/1999 and subsequent amendments and additions 
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to Art. 81-ter of 
Consob Regulation No. 11971/1999 and subsequent amendments and additions 
 
 
 
1. The undersigned Paolo Panerai as Managing Director and Emilio Adinolfi as the Responsible Executive 

of Class Editori Spa, taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, paras. 3 and 4 of Decree no. 58 
of 24 February 1998, certify that the administrative and accounting procedures applied for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014: 

1.1. are consistent with the administrative/accounting system and the company's structure; 

1.2. are adequate and have been effectively applied; 

 
2. No items worth noting emerged from this assessment. 

3. It is also certified that the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014: 

a) are consistent with accounting ledger entries and records; 

b) has been drawn up in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 
respective interpretations published by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and 
ratified by the Commission of the European Union by Regulation No. 1725/2003 and subsequent 
amendments, consistent with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament, as well as the 
provisions issued in implementation of Art. 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/2005, and to our 
knowledge, is suitable to provide an accurate and proper picture of the asset, economic and 
financial situation of Class Editori Spa and all of the companies included in the consolidation; 

c) the report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the performance, results of operations and 
situation of the Issuer and its consolidated companies, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed. 

 
 
 
Milan, 19 March 2015 
 
 
 
Managing Director Entrusted Executive 
 
Paolo Panerai Emilio Adinolfi 
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors on the 
consolidated financial statements 
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CLASS EDITORI S.p.a. 

Via M. Burigozzo 5, Milan  

Share Capital 28,321,907.40 euro 

Tax Code and Milan Companies Register no. 08114020152  

Milan Business Register (REA) no. 1205471    

***** 

 
Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors of the Class Editori Group  

to the Shareholders' Meeting  

on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 

 
Shareholders, 

 

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 of the "Class Editori Group", delivered 

to us together with the separate financial statements of the parent company Class Editori S.p.a., 

comprise the statement of financial position, the income statement, the cash flow statement, the 

statement of changes in shareholders' equity, the segment information, the explanatory notes and the 

report on operations. 

They were prepared in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed 

by the European Union and report consolidated shareholders' equity of 64,456 thousand euro and a 

net loss attributable to the Group of 14,408 thousand euro. 

The information obtained from PKF Italia S.p.a., appointed to audit the financial statements, 

enables us to note that the amounts reported therein correspond to the accounting entries of the 

Parent Company and the information formally supplied by its subsidiaries.  

The auditing firm has released a report expressing an unqualified opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements, certifying that they have been prepared clearly and present a true and fair view 

of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in shareholders' equity and the cash 

flows of the Class Editori Group. 

In addition, the report of the auditing firm does not contain any emphasis of matter. 

The report on operations contains and illustrates the elements, data and information required by art. 

2428 of the Italian Civil Code and art. 40 of Decree no. 127/1991. 
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The required information concerning the Group considered as a whole, as expressed by the 

economic and financial information contained in the consolidated financial statements, is described 

extensively in the directors’ report. This provides a true, balanced and complete analysis of the 

situation of all consolidated companies taken together, as well as of their performance and results of 

operations   considered both overall and with regard to the various sectors of operations carried out 

by the parent company and its subsidiaries. In particular, the report discusses their costs, revenues 

and investments, as well as the principal risks and uncertainties to which the companies in the Class 

Editori Group are exposed. 

 

Other 

It is noted that: 

- Pierluigi Galbussera, Alternate Auditor, resigned on 10 March 2015.. This information was 

filed with the Companies Register on 12 March 2015; 

- on 12 March 2015 a registered letter was received from the Chairman of the Board of 

Statutory Auditors, Carlo Maria Mascheroni, announcing his resignation with effect from 

the day after that on which the Board of Statutory Auditors signs and files the "Report of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors on the financial statements at 31/12/2014" of Class Editori 

S.p.a.   

 

Milan, 7 April 2015 

 

The Board of Statutory Auditors 

Carlo Maria Mascheroni 

Lucia Cambieri 

Mario Medici 
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Report of the Independent Auditor  
on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 









 

                                                                                          Page 108 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Management report of the parent company 
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Class Editori Spa 
Registered offices - Via Marco Burigozzo 5, Milan 

 
REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

DURING THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 
 
 
Company performance 
 
The value of production rose from 29,642,742 euro in the year to 31 December 2013 to 34,378,375 euro in 
2014 (+16.00%). 
 
The increase was principally due to the disposal, for 8 million euro, of both the authorisation to transmit on 
digital terrestrial frequency LCN 27 and the ownership of that position. In terms of core revenues, the main 
factor was a contraction in advertising and circulation revenues due to the crisis in the advertising and 
publishing market. 
 
Operating costs contracted sharply, from 52,110,972 euro to 43,737,421 euro. 
This reduction was due to the strong and incisive manoeuvres to contain costs that were implemented from 
the start of year. The positive effects of this action should also benefit the Company in future years. 
In particular, there was: 
 
• a significant (29%) decline in purchasing costs, mainly associated with paper consumption following 

the production volume efficiencies achieved; 
• a 16% reduction the cost of services, with savings obtained with regard to both production services and 

publishing, promotional and advertising expenses. A significant saving was also made on the services 
provided by associates; 

• a 28% reduction in payroll costs; 
• a 16% increase in other operating costs. 

 
The overall effect was a 17.3% drop in operating costs.. 
 
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) improved significantly, from -22,468,230 euro to -9,359,046 euro, 
due to the effects described above. 
 
Net non-recurring income amounted to 442,999 euro, compared with a loss of 2,968,992 euro in the prior 
year. 
 
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs totalled 11,904,368 euro, compared with 3,769,218 euro in the 
prior year. This increase was principally due to the provisions recorded following the impairment tests 
carried out in accordance with IAS 36, which are discussed further in the explanatory notes. These identified 
that the carrying amounts of certain equity investments exceeded their fair value by 4.9 million euro. In 
addition, an intangible asset with indefinite life (the Class Life title) was written down by 2.45 million euro. 
In addition, after putting a number of companies into liquidation, their carrying amounts were found to 
exceed their equity values by about 0.85 million euro. 
 
The net loss after taxation was 21,129,168 euro, compared with 23,718,504 euro in the prior year. 
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Primary economic – financial events of the period 
 
With GDP falling 0.4%, 2014 was another year of recession for the Italian economy, with clear repercussions 
for all market sectors, especially publishing, advertising and communications.  
Nielsen data for the advertising market in Italy in 2014 highlights an overall decline of 2.5% (-2.4% in the 
first half).  
 
With regard to the Company's sectors, the revenues of the periodicals market fell by 6.5%, while TV 
advertising eased by 0.5%. 
 
The titles published directly by the parent company (the monthlies Class and Case & Country and Class TV, 
broadcast on digital terrestrial channel 27) suffered particularly from the market crisis, due to the sharp 
reductions experienced in the periodicals and television sectors. 
 
Consistent with the market as a whole, average circulation fell significantly in 2014, with a resulting marked 
reduction in production costs. The average circulation of Class was 56 thousand copies (average of 79 
thousand in 2013. 
 
Notable events during the year: 

 
• on 9 January, the Board of Directors approved the business plan which identified a need to strengthen 

the financial structure in order to operate more effectively in the future; 
 

• Angelo Sajeva arrived from Mondadori Pubblicità, where he was chairman and managing director, in 
addition to being deputy chairman of Mediamond. He is now the director responsible for strategy and 
business development at Class Editori, as well as the chairman of Class Pubblicità, a subsidiary of Class 
Editori; 
 

• the capital increase authorised on 12 May at the shareholders' meeting of Class Editori was implemented 
at the end of July and, despite the poor market conditions at the time, the market subscribed for 42.4% 
of the issue reserved for it. The business plan originally provided for an increase in financial resources 
of 45-50 million euro; however, given the poor capital market conditions, this was scaled back to an 
increase of 39.8 million euro. The difference in the amount and timing of the capital increase means that 
use of the proceeds will need to be optimised even further, partly in collaboration with the various 
stakeholders; 
 

• the contract between Class Editori Spa and Century Fortunet Limited, a Chinese group, was signed on 
11 June at the first Sino-Italian Business Forum held in Beijing in the presence of Prime Ministers 
Matteo Renzi and Li Keqiang. This contract covers a series of activities that Class Editori will carry out 
in Italy, both directly and via its subsidiaries and associates, to develop CCIG Mall. Managed by 
Century Fortunet Limited, this B2B e-commerce platform is promoted and sustained by a number of 
leading groups and governmental institutions, including Bank of China, China Union Pay, China 
Telecom and the China Council for the promotion of international trade. 
The new e-commerce platform will facilitate trade with the Chinese retailers that have already registered 
and those which will join the platform in future, enabling them to access thousands of types of imported 
products.  
The Class Group will be the principal supplier for Italy in the first sector (food & beverages), with an 
option to become the sole supplier on the achievement of targets to be set in the near future; the Group 
will be the main agent for Italy in the second sector. 
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In addition to the above, Class Editori will work directly as the exclusive agent for Italy for the sale of 
advertising on the CCIGMall platform and the production of content about products, for delivery via the 
platform. This will provide Chinese retailers with all necessary information in order to make their 
purchases. Lastly, Class Editori will coordinate the activities of the agents responsible for other sectors; 
 

• the Cremonini Group, one of the leading European producers and distributors of food products 
internationally, signed an agreement with Class Editori to become a 5% shareholder of CceC (Class 
China eCommerce) and one of its strategic and operational partners, helping to manage the partnership 
operationally and logistically via Inalca Food & Beverage (IF&B Srl), a subsidiary; 

 
• on 27 October Class Editori and its subsidiary CCeC (Class China eCommerce) launched the Chinese e-

commerce B2B CCIG MALL platform of which Class Editori and CCeC are exclusive agents and the main 
suppliers. 
The 50 leading Italian products in the food sector are presented on the platform's website. In early 
December the e-commerce platform was presented to the market and to all Chinese media, with events 
organised in the main Chinese cities. 

 
• On 29 December Sky Italia and Class Editori signed an agreement to create a partnership concerning 

digital terrestrial, in order to launch a new Sky channel. The value of this part of the agreement is 
around 9 million euro. 
The partnership includes collaboration between the two advertising concessionaires, Sky Pubblicità and 
Class Pubblicità, covering development of the portfolio of specialist customers in the finance, banking, 
insurance and business sectors. 
A new, co-branded financial and business information website will also be launched alongside 
www.milanofinanza.it, thus strengthening the information system of Class Editori and Sky by enabling 
them to relaunch the analysis of financial news on the new platform. The advertising will be sold by 
Class Pubblicità. 
The information provided by SkyTg24 will be enriched by Class Editori media, including editorial 
content focused on the financial sector. 
The partnership may lead to further publishing and production joint ventures, also promoting the Class 
channels already present on Sky. 

 
With regard to the balance sheet: 
 
 current trade receivables has risen from 41.2 million euro at 31 December 2014 to 61.7 million euro. A 

significant part of this increase was due to deferring collection of the proceeds from the disposal of LCN 
27 until January 2015;  
 

 shareholders' equity amounts to 64.4 million euro, compared with 46.3 million euro at 31 December 2013; 
 

 the net financial position amounts to -37.2 million euro, compared with -36.6 million euro in 2013. 
 
Details of the net financial position are as follows: 
 
€ (thousands) 

31/12/2013 31/12/2014 Changes 
2014/2013 Change % 

Securities -- -- -- -- 
Due from banks 5,297 4,673 (624) (64.5) 
Non-current financial receivables -- -- -- -- 
Current financial receivables 35,306 35,660 354 1.0 
Non-current financial payables (6,027) (2,633) (3,394) (56.3) 
Current financial payables to banks (71,131) (74,853) 3,722 5.2 
     
Net financial position (36,555) (37,153) (598) (1.6) 

http://www.milanofinanza.it/
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In implementation of Directive 2003/51/EC ("Modernisation of Accounts Directive") ratified by Legislative 
Decree 32/2007 and the consequent amendments to article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, below we present 
the principal information 
 
- financial performance indicators/ratios 
- the analysis of risks and uncertainties to which the company is exposed; 
- Information concerning the environment and personnel; 
- analysis of the sectors in which the company operated  (Business segments). 
 
Financial parameters 
 
For a better understanding of the company's financial and equity situation and result, we include a 
comparison of certain financial indicators/ratios for two reference periods, and the outline of the income 
statement reclassified in accordance with the weight of each business areas 

€uro/000 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 % Change 

    
Revenues from sales 28,363 33,103 16.7 

Internal production -- -- -- 

Value of production 28,363 33,103 16.7 

External operating costs (48,703) (40,728) (16.4) 

Value added (20,340) (7,625) (62.5) 

Payroll costs (2,131) (1,525) (28.4) 

Gross operating profit (GOP) (22,471) (9,150) (59.3) 

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (3,769) (11,904) 215.8 

Operating Result (26,240) (21,054) (19.8) 

Results of the ancillary area 2 (209) n.a. 

Net results of the financial area -- -- -- 

Normalised EBIT (26,238) (21,263) (19.0) 

Results of the non-recurring area (2,969) 443 114.9 

Total EBIT (29,207) (20,820) (28.7) 

Net financial income (charges) (1,460) (1,516) (3.8) 

Profit before tax (30,667) (22,336) (27.2) 

Income taxes 6,948 1,207 (82.6) 

Net Profit (23,719) (21,129) (10.9) 
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The trend over the past five years in revenues, including non-recurring revenues for consistency with the 
prior years, and net results is presented below: 
 
€uro/000 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Total revenues 48,650 64,549 35,818 30,048 35,330 

Net profit (477) 8,186 (13,981) (23,719) (21,129) 
 
  31/12/13 31/12/14 

Financing of fixed assets    
    Fixed asset coverage - Primary indicator 
(Own Equity - Fixed Assets) 

€/000 (38,927) (25,819) 

    
Primary capital ratio 
(Own Equity / Fixed Assets) 

% 0.54 0.71 

    
Fixed asset coverage - Secondary indicator 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities - Fixed Assets) 

€/000 (32,473) (20,643) 

    
Secondary capital ratio 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities / Fixed Assets) 

% 0.62 0.77 

    
These ratios show how the long-term applications of funds are financed and the composition of the sources 
of funds. 
    
Borrowing ratios    
    Total debt-equity ratio 
(Long-term + Current Liabilities/ Own Equity) 

% 3.01 2.28 

    
Financial debt-equity ratio 
(Loans + current liabilities / Own Equity) 

% 1.55 1.13 

    
These ratios show the composition of the sources of funds. 
    
Profitability ratios    
    Net ROE 
(Net Profit / Own Equity) 

% (51.21) (32.79) 

    
Gross ROE 
(Profit before tax / Own Equity) 

% (66.21) (34.66) 

    
ROI 
(Operating Result / Fixed Assets) 

% (30.78) (23.33) 

    
ROS 
(Operating Profit / Revenues from sales) 

% (169.82) (259.96) 

    
 
These are the profitability parameters most frequently used in business practice to compare the results of 
the business with the structural sources of funds. 
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Solvency indicators    
    Working capital 
(Current Assets - Current Liabilities) 

€/000 (33,250) (22,628) 

    
Working capital ratio 
(Current Assets / Current Liabilities) 

% 0.75 0.84 

    
Liquidity margin 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity - Current Liabilities) 

€/000 (33,483) (22,928) 

    
Liquidity ratio 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity / Current Liabilities) 

% 0.75 0.84 

    
The solvency parameters consider current assets in relation to the short-term liabilities of the business. 
    

 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACED BY THE COMPANY 
 
The economic and financial crisis that afflicted western markets and had a significant impact on the 
publishing market is, without doubt, the main element of risk for the Publishing House, whose advertising 
revenues are principal component of total turnover and generate the greatest margin.  
The economic recovery is slow to arrive: investment in communications by firms, which underpins the 
advertising revenues of publishing companies, depends heavily on the structural situation of the country's 
economy. The awaited and desired recovery is therefore, at present, the principal risk conditioning the future 
of the company. 
Given the continuing uncertainty, the Publishing House has revised the business plan approved at the start of 
the year, considering both the greater risks associated with revenue performance and the opportunities 
deriving from the new digital businesses and from cost savings, many of which have already been obtained.  
 
With regard to the specific risks faced by the newspaper sector, which particularly affect Milano Finanza 
Editori (subsidiary) and Italia Oggi Editori – Erinne (associate), reference is made to the information 
published in the prospectus for the capital increase of Class Editori: Decree no. 66 dated 24 April 2014 on 
urgent measures for competition and social justice” abolished the obligatory advertising in national and local 
newspapers of contract announcements and tenders (required by Decree no. 163 dated 12 April 2006), 
adopting a proposal made many times by previous governments but always deferred in view of the profound 
impact on the national and local press. However, para. 1-bis of the law converting this decree (Law no. 
89/2014), approved definitively by the Chamber of Deputies on 18 June 2014 deferred application of the new 
provisions until 1 January 2016. 

In addition, as mentioned in the quarterly report and the prospectus for the capital increase, during 2014 the 
Company still faced the risks deriving from the abrogation by Decree 91/2014 of the obligation to publish 
required information about listed companies in a daily newspaper, as well as the notices of meetings of 
participants in investment management companies. Subsequent to the end of the first half, the Senate 
approved the conversion into law of Decree 91/2014 after deleting the provisions that would have abolished 
the requirement to publish specified information about listed companies in a daily newspaper. Following 
publication in the Official Gazette of the law converting Decree 91/2014, the requirement for listed 
companies to publish extracts of shareholders' agreements in a daily newspaper has been reinstated, together 
with the notice of shareholders' meetings and other specified information. 
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In addition, the conversion law amended article 22 to require investment management companies to publish 
their notices of meetings of participants "in at least two national daily newspapers" (para. 5-quinquies of 
article 22).  
 
Credit risk associated with commercial relations with customers  
 
Following the write-down of receivables, the Publishing House now has a solid portfolio of leading 
customers. At the moment, these do not give rise to solvency concerns, although the average collection 
period did deteriorate during the year. The value of receivables booked in the financial statements, in any 
case, takes into account both the risk of default on payment - by means of opportune write-downs – as well 
as the deferment of the collection over time by means of the relative discounting of cash flows associated 
with the changed collection times for receivables (time value), in accordance with the requirements of 
international accounting principles. 
The Publishing House intends to continue monitoring outstanding receivables closely, especially in a market 
context that has caused major problems and financial difficulties for many businesses operating in Italy. 
 

Interest-rate risks 
 
Group policy does not contemplate speculative investment in financial products. Despite the situation 
involving markets with low interest rates, no bank exposure hedging operations were implemented. In 
addition to the cash flows from operations, Group companies obtain finance in the form of lines of credit 
from the parent company, which are remunerated on normal market terms. 
The deterioration of results in recent years has lowered the credit rating of Group companies. This, together 
with the financial squeeze imposed on businesses by the banking system, has caused interest rates to rise to 
the current level paid, which is deemed to be stable. Further changes in market interest rates may influence 
the return on investments and the cost of financing, thereby affecting the financial income and charges 
reported in the income statement. At this time, considering the general state of economic recession, the 
incentives for lending made available by the ECB, the rate curve expressed by the market and the overall 
level of interest charges paid by the Company, the risk of further rises is limited. 
 

Exchange-rate risks 
 
With the exception of the US activities managed by Global Finance Inc. and the services acquired directly 
from China for the production and distribution of Eccellenza Italia, the Company and its subsidiaries operate 
almost entirely within the Euro area. Transactions settled in currencies other than the Euro are very limited. 
There therefore do not seem to be significant exchange rate risks.  
 

Liquidity risks 
 
The financial market and the liquidity crisis that has spread from the banks to the private sector make it more 
difficult to renew banking, commercial and financial lines of credit, although about 95% of these have been 
renewed until 31 December 2015 by the Publishing House. 
Given confirmation of the banking lines of credit until 31/12/2015 and the residual availability of funds 
deriving from the capital increase, there are not thought to be any liquidity risks in the short term.  
 
Information concerning the environment and personnel. 
 
There are no significant matters to be reported, given the specific nature of the Company's activities. 
No damage has been caused to the environment, nor have any related penalties or charges been made. 
There have not been any events in the workplace involving injury of any kind to employees. 
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Performance and relationships with subsidiaries and related parties 
 
Regarding relationships with subsidiary and affiliated companies, it should be noted that some of them are 
linked to the company by relationships of a financial and commercial nature, also as regards the re-debiting 
of operating costs and the crediting of part of the revenues arising from the advertising concession contract. 
The relationships of a financial nature with subsidiary and affiliated companies are based on market rates. 
 
Certain commercial relations with related parties involve the leasing of property and provision of the related 
facility management services. These services are provided by CIA (Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa) 
in particular. In addition, a loan, originally amounting to 550,000 euro, has been granted to Case Editori Srl 
on market terms. Commercial and financial relations with related parties are settled on the same terms as 
those applied to suppliers and customers. 
 
As required by Consob (Communication no. 15 dated 17 December 2008), details of the transactions with 
related parties at 31 December 2014 are presented below: 
 
Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA Group), a subsidiary of Compagnie Fonciere du Vin, which 
was formed as a result of a proportional partial spin-off from Euroclass Multimedia Holding: 
 
- property lease contracts, arranged as the lessee on market terms, necessary for operating in the locations 

where Class Editori has its offices; 

- facility management contracts for services provided by CIA to Class Editori regarding the maintenance 
and management of the above properties; 

- during 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the offices of 
Class - with the partial designation of that complex for use by the Publishing House - the latter paid CIA 
a security deposit of 2.0 million euro, partly to cover the cost of adapting the property to its needs; 

- contracts on market conditions for the supply of administrative, financial, technical and legal consulting 
services in support of the routine operations of CIA, as well as in relation to a number of special 
financial investment and property-related projects in progress. 

 
Parent company: Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 

In December 2014, Class Editori granted Euroclass a loan on market terms of 245 thousand euro, repayable 
on demand. 

Following the purchase by Class Editori of 5% of Telesia from Euroclass in the prior year, the consideration 
of 525 thousand euro was paid during 2014.  
 
Other transactions with related parties during the year 

In view of the strong performance achieved in the newspapers area and by the advertising concessionaire, as 
well as the good prospects for their growth, in June further interests were acquired in Milano Finanza Editori 
Spa (4.5% for 2.4 million euro) from Marmora Srl and in Classpi Spa (25% for 2.6 million euro) from PP 
Editori. In addition, receivables totalling 5 million euro due from CHTV (formerly an associate, now wholly 
owned following disposal of the TV operations) were sold to Marmora Srl at nominal value, without 
recourse. Class Editori will collect the other amounts due from third parties, mostly the tax authorities, and 
expectd to close the TV shutdown operations successfully. 

On purchasing the 25% interest in Classpi, the Company obtained a discount from the related-party seller 
with respect to the appraised value of 0.875 million euro. This is because, on 28 September 2012, Class 
Editori had waived receivables totalling 3.5 million euro due from Classpi, in the context of reorganisations 
described in prior reports, while the minority investor did not. On selling its 25% interest, the latter therefore 
agreed to reduce the selling price by its share of the indirect equity benefit deriving from the above waiver of 
receivables. 
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The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships described above: 
  €uro/000 

31/12/13 31/12/14 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Due from CIA for security deposit 2,000 2,000 

Due from Euroclass for option to purchase equity investments 500 -- 

Receivables from Case Editori for loans 670 686 

Due from CIA Group for goods/services 11,343 14,732 

Due from Euroclass for loan -- 245 

Due from Euroclass for loan interest -- 1 

Due from CHTV Global  -- 112 

Due from CIA for loan 659 659 

Loans to other CIA Group companies 1,082 690 

Deferred income from services to CIA Group  256 -- 

Due from Worldspace Italia  225 225 

Due from Marmora Srl  -- 10 

Due to CIA Group for rentals, facilities and services (3,534) (4,500) 

Due to Euroclass for the purchase of equity investments  (525) -- 

Income statement relationships   

Revenues from administrative and consulting services provided to CIA Group 150 150 

Recharge of expenses to CIA Group  17 10 

Costs recharged to CHTV Global -- 223 

Interest income from Euroclass  -- 1 

Interest income from Diana Bis  16 12 

Cost of leasing from CIA (1,887) (1,898) 

Cost of leasing from Diana Bis (1,026) (1,034) 

Cost of facility management services from CIA (586) (589) 

Costs recharged by CIA Group (17) (10) 

Costs recharged by CHTV Global -- (223) 

Cost of services from Studio Israel Terrenghi (18) (10) 

 
All equity investments were initially recorded at purchase cost. Their  measurement is discussed in the 
explanatory notes to the 2014 financial statements. 
 
Although there are differences between the carrying amount and the equity interest in certain investments, 
none of these represents lasting impairment with respect to their purchase cost. 
 
Lastly, we specify, for the purposes of the provisions of Art. 10 of Act 72/83, that no assets booked in the 
financial statement as of 31 December 2014 have in the past been subject to financial or monetary 
revaluation. 
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Class Editori Spa carries out its activities at its registered offices, Via Burigozzo 5, Milan, and also at the 
following operating offices: 
Milan - Via Burigozzo 8 
Rome - Via Santa Maria in Via 12   
 
With regard to the contingencies associated with the outstanding legal disputes with customers, suppliers and 
other third parties, management has consulted counsel and considered the requirements of international 
accounting standards. As a result, the provisions for liabilities and charges recorded at 31 December 2014, 
2,307,625 euro, are deemed to be adequate. 
  
Concerning disputes underway we provide information regarding the most significant positions. 
Inpgi has made disputed claims about violations regarding the payment of pension contributions, which the 
Company considers groundless. Given the available amnesty in relation to disputes with Inpgi, the Company 
determined that it would be expedient to settle the disputes regarding the initial assessments received. The 
amounts agreed were paid in instalments, terminating in 2013. As a consequence, the provision recorded to 
cover this liability, 400 thousand euro, was used in full.  
The dispute concerning the assessments made by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. The request amounts to 
approximately 0.4 million euros overall. Supported by the opinion of Ichino-Brugnatelli e Associati, the 
defence lawyers, it has not been deemed necessary to record any provisions in this regard (consistent with 
the requirements of IAS 37). In further support of the approach taken by the Company, in April 2014 the 
Rome Court of Appeal accepted in full the appeal presented by Italia Oggi in relation to a similar dispute 
with Inpgi, overturning the adverse first-level ruling (no. 11131/2). Lastly, the Rome Court of Appeal 
rejected the company's appeal on 31 October 2014 and, accordingly, a further appeal to the Court of 
Cassation will be filed by the deadline set of 24 May 2015. 

By the deadline envisaged in Legislative Decree no. 196/03, the Company issued a Planning Document on 
the security of personal data in 2006 following approval from the Audit Committee. This document is 
updated regularly in accordance with legal requirements. 
 
Research & development costs 
 
There was no significant expenditure on R&D during the year. 
 
Report on Corporate Governance 2014 
 
This report, presented for approval by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2015, is contained in a separate 
document that is available on the Company's website (www.classeditori.it), in the section entitled Bilanci e 
relazioni. 
 
Balance sheet highlights after 31 December 2014 
 
Class Editori has been a shareholder of WeToBusiness, the operational vehicle of WeChat in Italy, since the 
middle of March. The partnership between the Publishing House and the official reseller involves Class 
becoming a shareholder as well as offering services, based on the WeChat platform, aimed at Italian 
companies that wish to exploit the opportunities of the Chinese market. 
Due to the collaboration with WeChat Italia, Class Editori and the operational vehicle are also able to offer a 
presence on WeChat in China to Italian companies that do not have a local legal entity there, which was 
previously impossible under Chinese regulations. 
By opening an official account on WeChat, small, medium-sized and large companies can offer sales 
services directly, provide customer support and carry out marketing actions that address Chinese customers 
and prospects, reaching a pool of over 1 billion registered users. 
Opening a WeChat account also offers an opportunity for companies that use the e-commerce platform 
CCIGMall, represented in Italy by Class Editori, to strengthen their development strategy in the Asian 
market, positioning themselves on what is a formidable social media as well as a comprehensive 
communication tool. 
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In addition, WeChat’s direct presence in Italy, where there are already millions of registered users, positions 
the country as a trampoline for developing the platform in Europe assisted by the offer of Class services. 
The services offered by Class Editori are not aimed solely at companies interested in exporting or at building 
business relationships in China, but also at all Italian companies that wish to target Chinese tourists in Italy 
(over 1 million expected this year for the Expo). 
The forthcoming WeChat account of Eccellenza Italia, the Class Editori information system, comprising a 
magazine delivered in China to Italian visa applicants, an app and a traditional website, will make it possible 
to carry out advertising campaigns geographically targeted at Chinese visitors to Italy. 
Thanks to WeChat and WeClass (the special division of Class Editori), Italian shops and companies can talk 
to tourists and offer their services directly by chatting, as well as being then able to monitor customers and 
profile them using CRM. 

This further completes the two-way publishing and communication system established by Class Editori in 
relation to China, which includes www.vendereaicinesi.it, www.turisticinesi.it and the tourist guide App, as 
well as ChinatoItaly shopping, which is work in progress. 
   
Business outlook 
 
During the year, management has been engaged in checking the progress of the strategic and business plan. 
In the light of the results achieved and the most recent market data available, the sale of the broadcasting 
permit on digital terrestrial LCN 27, the ongoing crisis and also the opportunities that have opened up in 
digital business and e-commerce in China, on 13 March 2015 the Board of Directors approved a revision of 
the business plan produced under a mandate granted by the Board to the Vice Chairman and Managing 
Director and the executive directors on 13 November 2014. 
 
This revision is based on the following guidelines: 
 
• maintaining and increasing the market share of the daily newspapers; 
• improving the turnover of the periodicals (already started in 2014); 
• concentrating the television part on Class CNBC and Out-of-Home TV (Telesia and Aldebaran); 
• expanding significantly the Internet sector; 
• continuing the development of advanced digital financial services for banks; 
• seeking new openings on e-commerce and digital platforms, especially through the Chinese platform 

CCIGMall, which deals with B2B e-commerce and with the opportunities opened up by the WeChat 
channel. 

 
Following full implementation of the plan, the overall level of EBITDA is expected to be similar to that 
reflected in the earlier plan, albeit with a different mix of revenues and active business lines. 
There will also be increased activity linked to EXPO 2015 and the international profile of the Group's titles 
(as shown by the success in 2012 and 2013 of the special MF International issues covering China, Brazil, the 
United Arab Emirates, Russia and other initiatives); Class Editori is working to strengthen this line of 
business via agreements with foreign publishing houses. 
 
Board of Directors' proposals 
 
   Shareholders, 

You are invited to approve the financial statements at 31 December 2014 and to carry forward the loss for 
the year of 21,129,168 euro. 
 

for the Board of Directors 
The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 

https://mail.tencent.com/owa/redir.aspx?C=2b91aa420e9841c788d5f2d23c1221e5&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.vendereaicinesi.it
http://www.turisticinesi.it/
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Separate financial statements of the parent company 
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  Headquarters in Milan, Via M. Burigozzo, 5 
  Company Capital € 28,321,907.40 fully paid 
  Tax Code and VAT Registration No. 08114020152 

  
Registration within the Economic & Administrative Index of the Chamber of Commerce of Milan 

under n° 1205471 
                
   
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION – ASSETS 
 

        
                
    ASSETS Notes   31/12/2013   31/12/2014 
                
  NON-CURRENT ASSETS           
    Intangible assets with an indefinite life 1   2,572,464   122,464 
    Other intangible assets 2   1,477,427   1,514,815 
                
    Total intangible fixed assets     4,049,891   1,637,279 
                
    Tangible fixed assets 3   2,411,089   2,059,489 
    Equity investments 4   41,035,939   48,552,532 
    Financial receivables    --   -- 
    Trade receivables 5   16,177,861   16,960,945 
  Pre-paid tax receivables 6  18,693,729  18,668,406 
    Other receivables 7   2,879,208   2,383,902 

  TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS     85.247.717   90,262,553 
                
  CURRENT ASSETS           
    Inventory 8   233,316   299,657 
    Trade receivables 9   41,197,631   61,730,377 
  Securities   --   -- 
    Financial receivables 10   35,306,171   35,659,920 
    Tax receivables 11   1,735,353   1,795,477 
    Other receivables 12   16,951,703   17,104,939 
    Liquid assets 13   5,297,013   4,672,708 
                
  TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS     100,721,187   121,263,078 

  TOTAL ASSETS     185,968,904   211,525,631 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 
 
 

                
    LIABILITIES     31/12/2013   31/12/2014 
                
  NET EQUITY           
    Share capital     10,560,751   28,321,907 
    Share premium reserve     31,329,259   52,851,223 
    Legal reserve     2,543,881   2,543,881 
    Other reserves     25,489,644   1,742,212 
    Retained earnings (accumulated losses)     113,925   113,925 
    Net profit (loss) for the year     (23,718,504)   (21,129,168) 
                
  TOTAL NET EQUITY 14   46,318,956   64,443,980 
                
  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES           
    Financial payables 15   6,026,806   2,632,889 
    Provisions for liabilities and charges 16   143,025   2,307,625 
    Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions 17   284,168   234,949 
                
  TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     6,453,999   5,175,463 

                
                
  CURRENT LIABILITIES           
    Financial payables 18   71,131,321   74,852,674 
    Trade payables 19   56,359,086   62,672,146 
    Tax payables 20   500,767   170,297 
    Other payables 21   5,204,775   4,211,071 

  TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES     133,195,949   141,906,188 

  TOTAL LIABILITIES     139,649,948   147,081,651 

  TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     185,968,904   211,525,631 
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SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT 
                
    INCOME STATEMENT     31/12/2013   31/12/2014 
                
  REVENUES           
    Revenues     15,451,926   13,789,434 
    Other operating income     14,190,816   20,588,941 
                
  TOTAL REVENUES 23   29,642,742   34,378,375 
                    Purchase costs 24   (1,364,670)   (974,009) 
    Service costs 25   (47,338,417)  (39,753,831) 
    Payroll costs 26   (2,130,521)   (1,525,112) 
    Other operating costs 27   (1,277,364)  (1,484,469) 
                
  TOTAL OPERATING COSTS    (52.110.972)  (43.737.421) 

  Gross operating profit - EBITDA     (22,468,230)   (9,359,046) 
                    Extraordinary income/(charges) 28   (2,968,992)  442,999 
    Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 29   (3,769,218)   (11,904,368) 
                
  Operating profit - EBIT     (29,206,440)   (20,820,415) 
                    Net financial income (charges) 30   (1,459,705)   (1,516,271) 
                
  Pre-tax profit (loss)     (30,666,145)   (22,336,686) 
                
    Income taxes 31   6,947,641  1,207,518 
                

  NET PROFIT     (23,718,504)  (21,129,168) 

 
The above balances agree with the underlying accounting records. 
 
 
 

 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT AS OF 31st DECEMBER 2014 

 
(Euro) 
 

Note

s 
31 December 2013 31 December 2014 

Net Profit  (23,718,504) (21,129,168) 

    

Other components of comprehensive income    

    

Actuarial Income/(charges) not recorded in income statement (IAS 19)  (9,501) (28,928) 

Cost of capital increase deducted from share premium account  -- (501,870) 

    

Taxes on other components of comprehensive income  -- -- 

    

Total components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect  -- -- 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (23,728,005) (21,659,966) 



 

                                                                                          Page 124 

 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN QUOTAHOLDERS' EQUITY 31/12/2012 – 31/12/2013 
 

 

 

Company 

capital 

Share 

premiumreserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Extraordinary 

reserve 

IAS/IFRS 

transition 

reserve 

Stock 

option 

reserve 

Own shares 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings 

(acc. losses) 

Net profit for 

the year 

Total Net 

Equity 

BALANCES AS OF 

31/12/2012 

10,560,75

1 

31,329,260 2,543,881 44,779,401 (5,295,736) 278,707 (94,438)  

(13,981,383) 

70,120,443 

           

Movements in 2013:           

Allocation of results    (13,981,383)     13,981,383 -- 

IAS 19 change in 

severance indemnities 

    (187,407)   113,925  (73,482) 

Result of the period:           

Income (charges) 

recognised in equity -- -- -- -- (9,501) -- 

  

-- (9,501) 

Total Income/(Charges) 

posted to SE -- -- -- -- (9,501) -- 

  

-- (9,501) 

Net profit for the year         (23,718,504) (23,718,504) 

Comprehensive income 

for the year -- -- -- -- (9,501) -- 

  

(23,718,504) (23,728,005) 

           

BALANCES AS OF 

31/12/2013 

10,560,75

1 

31,329,260 2,543,881 30.798.018 (5,492,644) 278,707 (94,438) 113,925 

(23,718,504) 

46,318,956 

 
 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET EQUITY 31/12/2013 – 31/12/2014 
 

 

 

Company 

capital 

Share 

premiumreserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Extraordinary 

reserve 

IAS/IFRS 

transition 

reserve 

Stock option 

reserve 

Own shares 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings 

(acc. losses) 

Net profit for 

the year 

Total Net 

Equity 

BALANCES AS OF 

31/12/2013 

10,560,75

1 

31,329,260 2,543,881 30.798.018 (5,492,64

4) 

278,707 (94,438) 113,925 

(23,718,504) 

46,318,956 

           

Changes in 2014:           

Allocation of results    (23,718,504)     23,718,504 -- 

Capital increase 17,761,15

6 

22,023,834        39.784.990 

Other changes           

Result of the period:           

Income (charges) 

recognised in equity -- (501,870) -- -- (28,928) -- 

  

-- (530,798) 

Total Income/(Charges) 

posted to SE -- (501,870) -- -- (28,928) -- 

  

-- (530,798) 

Net profit for the year         (21,129,168) (21,129,168) 

Comprehensive income 

for the year -- (501,870) -- -- (28,928) -- 

  

(21,129,168) (21,659,966) 

           

BALANCES AS OF 

31/12/2014 

28,321,90

7 

52,851,224 2,543,881 7.079.514 (5,521,572) 278,707 (94,438) 113,925 

(21,129,168) 

64,443,980 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 
 

    (amounts in €)     31/12/2013   31/12/2014 
       
  Operating activities           
                
    Net result for the year     (23,718,504)   (21,129,168) 
    Amortisation and depreciation     1,140,848   1,290,643 
                
  Self-financing     (22,577,656)   (19,838,525) 
                
    Change in inventories     163,702   (66,341) 
    Change in trade receivables     (2,338,664)   (21,315,830) 

    Change in trade payables     15,921,338   6,313,060 

    Change in other current and non-current receivables     16,225,775   (11,679) 

    Change in other payables     691,012   (993,704) 

    Change in tax receivables/payables     (6,687,816)   (365,271) 
    Variazione ratei e risconti passivi           
                
  Cash flows from operating activities (A)     1,397,691   (36,278,290) 
                
  Investing activities           
                
    Intangible assets     (275,046)   (255,703) 
    Property, plant and equipment     (634,517)   1,729,272 
    Financial assets     (7,315,911)   (7,516,593) 
                
  Cash flows from investing activities (B)     (8,225,474)   (6,043,024) 
                
  Financing activities           
                
    Change in amounts due to banks and other lenders     (7,060,236)   327,436 
    Change in provisions     (694,976)   2,164,600 
    Change in severance indemnities     29,353   (49,219) 
    Payment of dividends     --   -- 
    Change in reserves     (82,983)   39,254,192 
                
  Cash flows from financing activities (C)     (7,808,842)   41.697.009 
                
  Change in liquid funds (A)+(B)+(C)     (14,636,625)   (624,305) 
                
  Liquid funds at start of year     19,933,638   5.297.013 
                
  Liquid funds at end of year     5.297.013   4.672.708 
                

for the Board of Directors 

The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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Class Editori Spa 
Registered Offices: Milan, Via M. Burigozzo, 5 

Share Capital € 28,321,907.40 fully paid 
 Milan Business Register (REA) no. 1205471 

Tax Code and VAT no. 08114020152 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements as of 
31/12/2014 

Form and content 
 
The financial statement at 31 December 2014 were drawn up in compliance with the International 
Accounting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
ratified by the European Union. IFRS is understood to include all the revised International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) and all the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”), previously named the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).  
European Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 introduced the obligation to apply the above 
standards (“IFRS”) from the 2005 financial year, when consolidated financial statements are prepared for 
companies whose shares and/or debt securities are listed on a regulated market in the European Union.  
Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005 adopted this European Regulation into Italian legislation. The legislator 
also extended use of the IFRS, on a voluntary basis, to preparation of the separate and/or consolidated 
financial statements of unlisted companies. 
 
Declaration of compliance with International Accounting Standards 
 
The 2014 Financial Statement is prepared in compliance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and the relative interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRC) ratified by 
the European Commission according to the procedure set forth in Art. 6 of Regulation No. 1606/2002 of 19 
July 2002 of the European Parliament and the Council, in effect at the reference date of the Financial 
Statement. 
The IAS/IFRS have been applied with reference to the “framework for the preparation and presentation of 
financial statements,” with particular reference to the fundamental principle of substance over form, while 
ensuring that the information provided is both significant and meaningful. 
The interpretative documents on the application of the IFRS in Italy, issued by the Italian Accounting Body 
(OIC), have also been considered. 
 
Form and content of the financial statements 
 
The financial statements prepared in compliance with the IFRS comprise the Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and these 
Explanatory Notes. They are accompanied by the Directors' report on operations.  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards 
represented by the IAS/IFRS endorsed by European Commission regulation no. 1126/2008, taking account 
of the recommendations contained in Consob Resolution no. 15519 of 27 July 2006 and Consob 
communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006. These financial statements have been audited. 
 
The comparative amounts are also stated in accordance with the IAS/IFRS. 
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Accounting principles adopted 

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the financial statements at 31 December 2014 are 
unchanged with respect to those applied in the prior year. 
 
As required by IAS 1 and having regard for the joint Bank of Italy, Consob, ISVAP document no. 2 of 6 
February 2009, the Report on Operations contains sections regarding the macroeconomic context, the plans 
for growth and the strengthening of the financial position. Accordingly, considering the situation described 
and the actions taken, the directors believe it reasonable to expect that the company, together with the 
Publishing House, will have sufficient resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and, 
consequently, they have adopted the going-concern basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements at 31 December 2014. 
 
Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied from 1 January 2014  
 
The following amendments to standards and interpretations are applicable from 1 January 2014: 
 
• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities: the Company has adopted IFRS 12, as amended, from 

1 January 2014. This new and complete standard governs the additional disclosures to be made about 
each type of equity investment, including subsidiaries, agreements for joint control, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and other non-consolidated entities. Adoption of the new standard has not had any effect 
on this document . 

 
• On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements to replace IAS 31 – Interests in Joint 

Ventures and SIC-13 – Jointly-controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions by venturers. Without 
changing the criteria for identifying the presence of joint control, the new standard establishes criteria for 
the accounting treatment of joint arrangements based on the rights and obligations deriving from these 
agreements, rather than on their legal form, distinguishing between joint ventures and joint operations. 
Under IFRS 11, the existence of a separate vehicle is not sufficient to classify a joint arrangement as a 
joint venture. For joint ventures, in which the parties are solely entitled to the net equity of the agreement, 
the standard establishes that the equity method must be used for their recognition in the consolidated 
financial statements. For joint operations, in which the parties are entitled to the assets and obligated by 
the liabilities of the agreement, the standard establishes that the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of 
the joint operation shall be recognised in the consolidated (and separate) financial statements on a 
proportional basis. Adoption of the new standard did not affect the Company. 

 
• On 16th December 2011, the IASB issued some amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 

disclosure and presentation, to clarify the application of some criteria for offsetting the financial assets 
and liabilities illustrated in IAS 32. Adoption of the new standard did not affect the financial statements 
of the Company. 

 
• On 28 June 2012, the IASB published Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and 

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and 
IFRS 12). This document clarifies the transitional rules for IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: This document does 
not apply to the Company. 

 
• "Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)" was issued on 31 October 2012, 

introducing an exception to the consolidation of subsidiaries in the case of investment companies, unless 
their subsidiaries provide services that relate to the investment activities of such companies. In applying 
these amendments, the investment companies must measure their investments in subsidiaries at fair value. 
This document does not apply to the Company. 
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• On 29 May 2013, the IASB issued several amendments to IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets - Recoverable 

Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets. The amendments seek to clarify that the supplementary 
information to be provided about the recoverable value of assets (including goodwill) or cash generating 
units, if their recoverable value is based on their fair value net of disposal costs, only relates to the assets 
or cash generating units for which impairment adjustments have been recognised or written back during 
the year. Adoption of the new standard did not affect the financial statements of the Company. 

 
• On 27 June 2013, the IASB published amendments to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting”. The amendments 
introduce certain exemptions from the hedge accounting criteria established in IAS 39 when, specifically, 
an existing derivative must be replaced by a new derivative managed by a Central Counterparty (CCP) 
following the introduction of a new law or regulation. Adoption of the new standard did not affect these 
financial statements. 

Accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the financial statements are summarised below: 

Fixed assets 
 
Intangible fixed assets 
Intangible fixed assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and 
amortised over their estimated residual useful lives. Their useful lives are 
reviewed yearly and, where possible, any changes are made on a 
prospective basis. 
Except for development costs, the internal costs of creating intangible 
fixed assets are not capitalised and are expensed as incurred. 
Intangible fixed assets are reviewed annually to identify any losses in 
value: these reviews can be performed on individual intangible fixed 
assets or on units generating financial flows. 
 
Real Estate Investments and Tangible Fixed Assets 
Investment properties and Property, plant and equipment are recorded at 
purchase cost. The purchase cost is represented by the fair value of the 
price paid to acquire the asset plus all direct costs incurred to make the 
asset fit for use.  
Costs incurred to expand, modernise or improve property that is owned or 
leased are only capitalised to the extent that they meet the criteria for 
separate classification as assets or parts of an asset. 
Land, whether undeveloped or linked to civil or industrial buildings, is 
recorded separately and is not depreciated since its has an unlimited 
useful life. 
 
The depreciation charged to the income statement is determined with 
reference to the expected utilisation, allocation and residual economic-
technical lives of the assets concerned,  
as summarised in the following table: 
- buildings:  30 years 
- Equipment:  4 years 
- Furniture and office machines:  8 years 

 
The depreciation criteria, useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
and revised at the end of each accounting period, or more frequently, in 
order to take any significant changes into account. 

Receivables Trade receivables are recorded at the fair value of the related future cash 
flows, less any impairment write-downs. 



 

                                                                                          Page 130 

Payables Payables are recorded at their nominal value. The company does not 
discount payables as this is considered too burdensome compared with 
the importance of their impact on the balance sheet. 

Accruals and deferrals Accruals and deferrals are determined in accordance with the matching 
principle. 
For accruals and deferrals extending over more than one year, the original 
basis for recording them is reviewed and changes are made where 
necessary. 

Equity investments Those in subsidiary, affiliated and other companies which it is planned to 
retain for a long period are entered  at their purchase or subscription 
cost. 
The main differences between balance sheet value and share of net equity 
are indicated in the following tables. 
 

Financial assets at fair value 
and posted to the income 
statement 

This category comprises securities and equity mainly purchased for short-
term trading or held for sale, posted to “securities held for trading” in the 
current assets section, financial assets which at the moment of initial 
measurement are designated at the fair value posted to the income 
statement, posted to “other financial assets” and derivates (except those 
designated as effective hedge instruments), posted to “derivative financial 
instruments”. They are posted at their fair value liabilities and set off in 
the income statement. Accessory costs are posted to the income 
statement. 
The purchases and sales of these financial assets are recorded on the date 
of payment. 
 

Employee severance 
indemnities 

The provision for severance indemnities covers the liability to all 
employees accrued at the reporting date, pursuant to current legislation 
and labour contracts. 

Severance indemnities are determined in accordance with IAS 19, by 
applying an actuarial method (projected unit credit method) based on 
demographic assumptions, as well as the discount rate needed to reflect 
the time value of money, the inflation rate, and current and future salary 
levels. 

The resulting actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the income 
statement as income or costs when the cumulative net value of the 
actuarial gains and losses not recognised at the end of the previous year 
exceeds by more than 10% the greater of the defined benefit plan liability 
or the fair value of the plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are 
recognised over the average expected residual working lives of those 
employees who are plan members. 
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Revenue recognition 

 

Leasing 

Revenues from sales of products and/or services are recognised upon 
transfer of ownership and/or completion of the service. 
Financial revenues and those deriving from services recognised on an 
accruals basis. 
 
The leasing contracts signed by the Company are classified as finance 
leases pursuant to IAS 17, since they envisage transferring substantially 
all the risks and benefits arising from ownership of the related assets. 
Assets held under finance leases are measured at the current value of the 
leased asset or, if lower, as the present value of the contractually-agreed 
minimum future lease instalments. The total lease instalments are 
analysed between the financial component and the principal to be repaid, 
in order to identify the effective interest rate on the residual liability.  The 
residual lease instalments, net of borrowing costs, are classified as non-
current liabilities. Leasing costs are charged to the income statement over 
the duration of the contract. Financially leased assets are amortized in the 
same way as owned assets. 

Income taxes 

Income taxes recorded to reflect the estimated amount payable in accordance with current fiscal regulations. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
recorded in the statement of financial position and the corresponding values recognised for fiscal purposes. 
Tax losses and unused tax credits are carried forward if their recovery (expiry) is likely to reduce (increase) 
future tax payments with respect to those that would have been made had such recovery (expiry) not had tax 
effect. Tax effects are recognised in the income statement or directly in equity, in the same way that the 
transactions or events giving rise to taxation are recognised. 

Translation of foreign currency amounts 

Receivables and payables originally denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rates 
in force on the date of the related transactions. They are aligned with current exchange rates at the reporting 
date. Net exchange losses are recognised by creating a provision for exchange fluctuations. 

Guarantees, commitments and contingencies 

Guarantees and commitments are reported in the memorandum accounts at their contractual value. 
Contingencies that are likely to result in a liability are reported in the explanatory notes and appropriate 
provisions for liabilities are recorded. 
Contingencies that only might result in a liability are described in the explanatory notes without recording 
any provisions, consistent with the related accounting standards. Remote risks are not taken into account. 
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Employment data 

Average employment, analysed by category, changed as follows during the year. 
 

Personnel 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 Change 

Executives -- -- -- 

Managers and office employees 15 4 (11) 

Journalists and trainees 23 22 (1) 

 38 26 (12) 

 
The reduction in employment compared with the prior year was due to the transfer of two lines of business to 
companies within the Class Group, as part of the process to reorganise the Group and improve efficiency. In 
particular, the disposal of the two lines of business involved the transfer of 6 secretarial employees to MF 
Service S.r.l. and 3 marketing employees to MF Servizi Editoriali S.r.l.. 
 
The printing and publishing sector payroll contract is used. 
 
 
BALANCE SHEET 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

1) Intangible assets with an indefinite life 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 2,572,464 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 122,464 
 € (2,450,000) 

 
Transfer of intangible fixed assets to long-term status 

 
  Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
    Write-downs Amount as of 

31/12/2014 Caption Increases Decreases   
      
Goodwill for Nistri Listri publication 122,464  -    -    -    122,464  

Class Life publication 2,450,000  -    -    2,450,000  -    
            

Total 2,572,464  -    -    2,450,000  122,464  
 
The Class Life title was acquired in 2006 and written down by 300,000 euro in the prior year following an 
impairment test carried out by management. At the end of 2014, the title was written off following disposal 
of the channel 27 broadcasting licence and consequent loss of all the value attributed to it. 
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2) Other intangible assets 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 1,477,427 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 1,514,815 
 € 37,388 

 
Overall changes in intangible fixed assets    

 
  Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
    

Depreciation 
Amount as of 

31/12/2014 Caption Increases Decreases 
      
Software 1,473,227  718,728    683,340  1,508,615  

Trademarks and patents 4,200  2,000  -    -    6,200  
            

Total 1,477,427  720,728  -    683,340  1,514,815  
 
 
Other intangible assets 

 
This heading includes expenses incurred for software purchases. 
 
Pursuant to art. 2427, n° 2 of the Italian Civil Code, the table below states the changes in intangible fixed assets. 
 
 

  Start-up and 
expansion 

costs 

Research, 
development 

and 
advertising 

costs 

Industrial 
patent 
rights 

Concessions, 
licences, 

trademarks 

Goodwill Assets 
under 

construction 
and 

advances 

Other 
intangible 

fixed assets 

Total 

HISTORICAL COST       4,200      7,559,305  7,563,505  

prior revaluations                 

prior write-downs                 
prior accumulated 
depreciation              (6,086,078)  (6,086,078) 

OPENING 
BALANCE       4,200      1,473,227  1,477,427  

additions during the 
year        2,000       718,728  720,728  

reclassifications 
                

(-) 
reclassifications  

                
(+)  
disposals during the 
year                 

revaluations during the 
year                 

write-downs during the 
year                 

depreciation charge for 
the year              (683,340)  (683,340) 

BALANCE        6,200       1,508,615  1,514,815  

movements pursuant to 
art. 2426.3 c.c.                 

CLOSING 
BALANCE        6,200      1,508,615  1,514,815  
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3) Property, plant and equipment 
Balance at 31/12/2013 € 2,411,089 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 2,059,489 
 € (351,600) 

Land and buildings 
 

Description     Import 
        
Historical cost     128,180 
Prior accumulated depreciation     50,529 
Balance as of 31st December 2013     77,651 
        
Additions during the year     0 
Disposals during the year     0 
Depreciation charge for the year     3,845 
        
Balance at 31/12/2014     73,806 

 
Plant and machinery 
 

Description     Import 
        

Historical cost     4,170,594 

Prior accumulated depreciation     3,257,019 

Balance as of 31st December 2013     913,575 
        

Additions during the year     78,898 

Disposals during the year     0 

Depreciation charge for the year     173,406 
        

Balance at 31/12/2014     819,067 
 
Industrial and commercial equipment 

Description     Import 
        
Historical cost     176,148 
Prior accumulated depreciation     176,148 
Balance as of 31st December 2013     0 
        
Additions during the year     10 
Disposals during the year     0 
Depreciation charge for the year     0 
        
Balance at 31/12/2014     10 
 
Other assets 
 
Furniture, furnishings and office equipment 
 

Description     Import 
        
Historical cost     2,849,165 
Prior accumulated depreciation     2,337,451 
Balance as of 31st December 2013     511,714 
        
Additions during the year     42,930 
Disposals during the year     0 
Depreciation charge for the year     101,770 
        
Balance at 31/12/2014     452,874 
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Electronic equipment 
 

Description     Import 
        
Historical cost     5,316,503 
Prior accumulated depreciation     4,705,574 
Balance as of 31st December 2013     610,929 
        
Additions during the year     124,661 
Disposals during the year     0 
Depreciation charge for the year     248,227 
        
Balance at 31/12/2014     487,363 
 
Vehicles 
 

Description     Import 
        
Historical cost     255,556 
Prior accumulated depreciation     216,203 
Balance as of 31st December 2013     39,353 
        
Additions during the year     965 
Disposals during the year     0 
Depreciation charge for the year     10,561 
        
Balance at 31/12/2014     Tot.29,757 

 
 
Mobile phones 
 

Description Import 
    
Historical cost 13,942 
Prior accumulated depreciation 13,860 
Balance as of 31st December 2013 82 
    
Additions during the year 0 
Disposals during the year 0 
Depreciation charge for the year 49 
    
Balance at 31/12/2014 33 

 
Improvements to third-party assets 
 

Description Import 
    
Historical cost 881,159 
Prior accumulated depreciation 623,377 
Balance as of 31st December 2013 257,782 
    
Additions during the year 8,242 
Disposals during the year 0 
Depreciation charge for the year 69,445 
    
Balance at 31/12/2014 196,579 
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For the sake of clarity, the following table summarises the changes in property, plant and equipment. 
 

  
Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other 
assets 

Assets under 
construction 

and advances 
Total 

HISTORICAL COST 128,180  4,170,594  176,148  9,316,330    13,791,252  

prior revaluations             

Financial charges             

prior write-downs             
prior accumulated 
depreciation  (50,529)  (3,257,019)  (176,148)  (7,896,467)    (11,380,163) 

OPENING BALANCE 77,651  Tot.913,575  -    1,419,863    2,411,089  

additions during the year   78,898  10  176,795    255,703  

reclassifications 
            

(-) 
reclassifications  

            
(+)  
Financial charges             

disposals during the year           -    

revaluations during the 
year             

write-downs during the 
year             

depreciation charge for 
the year  (3,845)  (173,406) -     (430,052)    (607,303) 

BALANCE 73,806  819,067  10  1,166,606    2,059,489  

accelerated depreciation 
for tax purposes             

movements pursuant to 
art. 2426.3 c.c.             

CLOSING BALANCE 73,806  819,067  10  1,166,606    2,059,489  
 

4) Equity investments 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 41,035,939 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 48,552,532 
 € 7.516.593 

 
Equity investments 

  Balance at 
31/12/2013 

        Balance at 
31/12/2014 Description Increases Decreases Reclassif. Write-downs 

              
Subsidiary companies 36,305,481  13,244,916  -    249,549   (5,480,252) 44,319,694  
              
Affiliate companies 3,968,400  10,263  5,830   (249,549)  (302,066) 3,421,218  
              
Other companies 762,058  49,562  -    -    -    811,620  
              

  41,035,939  13,304,741  Tot.5,830  -     (5,782,318) 48,552,532  
 



 

                                                                                          Page 137 

Equity holdings in subsidiary enterprises 

 
Caption 31/12/2013 Increases Reclassifications Decreases 

/Write-downs 
31/12/2014 

            
Class Editori Service 382,925  -    -    -    382,925  
Class CNBC 200,281  -    -    -    200,281  
Class Meteo Services 340,000  -    -    340,000  -    
CFN/CNBC Holding 2,012,796  -    -    -    2,012,796  
I Love Italy Srl 2,037  -    -    -    2,037  
Campus Editori 392,100  -    -    -    392,100  
Classpi 7,293,000  2,592,624  -    -    9,885,624  
Country Class Editori Srl 3,071,000  2,100,000  -    3,586,000  1,585,000  
Assinform Srl 1,652,760  -    -    -    1,652,760  
New Satellite Radio 49,286  25,000  -    -    74,286  
DP Analisi Finanz. 209,499  -    -    122,934  86,565  
Global Finance -    -    -    -    -    
Edis 206,084  760,000  -    966,084  -    
Ex.Co 178,686  -    -    82,593  96,093  
Lombard Editori 26,475  -    -    -    26,475  
MF Conference 8,972  -    -    -    8,972  
MF Service 87,465  -    -    -    87,465  
Milano Finanza Edit. 7,412,347  2,408,256  -    -    9,820,603  
Radio Classica 2,648,669  550,000  -    -    3,198,669  
Telesia 5,533,021  -    -    -    5,533,021  
TV Moda 637,500  183,600  -    371,587  449,513  
MF Dow Jones News 56,447  -    -    -    56,447  
Fashion Work Business Club -    -    -    -    -    
Class Tv Service 10,329  -    -    -    10,329  
Class Digital Service  3,872,748  -    -    -    3,872,748  
Aldebaran  -    4,502,468  -    -    4,502,468  
Class Horse tv -    122,968  244,286  -    367,254  
ClassInt Advertising 11,054  -    -    11,054  -    
CCeC Class China Ecommerce -    5,263  -    -    5,263  
Class Servizi Televisivi 10,000  -    -    -    10,000  
Total 36,305,481  13,250,179  244,286  5,480,252  44,319,694  

 
The principal changes during the year in the investments held in subsidiaries are described below: 
 
 100% of Aldebaran Srl was acquired in January 2014. The company is active in the Outdoor TV sector, 

which the Publishing House believes will develop significantly; 
 
 a further 4.5% interest in Milano Finanza Editori SpA was purchased on 21 May 2014 for 2.4 million 

euro, raising the equity interest held from 84.327% to 88.827%; 
 

 a further 25% interest in Class Pubblicità SpA was purchased on 21 May 2014 for 2.59 million euro, 
raising the equity interest held from 51% to 76%; 
 

 CCeC (Class China eCommerce) Srl was formed in May 2014, with Class Editori initially holding 20%. 
A further 30% interest was acquired on 22 October 2014, raising the interest held by Class Editori to 
50%. This company is deemed to be a subsidiary since Class Editori has operational control; 
 

 Class Editori waived receivables totalling 123 thousand euro on 6 June 2014 to cover losses and subscribe 
in full to an increase in capital by CHTV Srl, thereby raising its equity interest from 30% to 100%. The 
company became a subsidiary on that date; 
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 a number of loans to affiliates were waived during the year. In detail, Class Editori waived loans to Edis 
Srl of 760,000 euro, to Radio Classica Srl of 550,000 euro, to TV Moda of 183,600 euro, to Country 
Class Srl of 2,100,000 euro and to New Satellite Radio of 25,000 euro. These waivers were made in 
order to improve the capitalisation of the companies concerned. 

 the impairment tests carried out by management on the Company's principal assets resulted in the write-
down of certain investments in subsidiaries. In particular, the investment of 966,084 euro in Edis was 
written off, while the investments in Country Class Editori and TV Moda were written down by 
3,586,000 euro and 371,587 euro respectively. Although these investments continue to be strategically 
important, the Company has written their carrying amounts down to reflect the fair value of the 
companies concerned; 

 further write-downs were recorded in relation to companies that were put into liquidation during the 
year. In particular, the investment in DP Analisi Finanziaria was written down by 122,934 euro and that 
in Ex.co was written down by 82,593 euro, while the investments in Class Meteo Services and Classint 
were written down by 340,000 euro and 11,054 euro respectively. 

 

Equity holdings in affiliated enterprises 

 
  Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
      

Write-down 
Amount as of 

31/12/2014 Caption Increases Disposals Other 
              
Borsa 7 Editori 1  -    -    -    -    1  
Editorial Class 14,610  -    -    -    -    14,610  
Italia Oggi Erinne 3,397,505  -    -    -    -    3,397,505  
Class Roma 2,066  -    -    -    2,066  -    
Emprimer 4,102  -    -    -    -    4,102  
Classpi Digital 5,831  -    5,831  -    -    -    
Upcube 300,000  -    -    -    300,000  -    
Mito -    5,000  -    -    -    5,000  
Class Horse TV 244,285  -    -     (244,285) -    -    
              

Total 3,968,400  5,000  5,831   (244,285) Tot.302,066  3,421,218  
 

The principal changes during the year in the investments held in associates are described below: 

 Class Editori purchased 50% of Mito Srl for 5,000 euro on 5 June 2014. This company operates in the e-
commerce sector linked to the Chinese market; 

 the investment held in Classpi Digital was sold to Telesia during the year; 
 the investments in Class Roma and Up Cube were written off since they have been put into liquidation. 
 

Equity holdings in other enterprises  

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

    Fair value 
adjustment 

Write-
down 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 Caption Acquisitions Reclassification 

              
Analitica 7  -    -    -    -    7  
Il Manifesto 10,329  -    -    -    -    10,329  
Proxitalia 4,695  -    -    -    -    4,695  
Consedit 28  -    -    -    -    28  
Classpi -    -      -    -    -    
MF Servizi Editoriali 104  -    -    -    -    104  
Banca Popolare di 
Vicenza 446,895  49,562  -    -    -    

              
496,457  

Entropic 300,000  -    -    -    -    300,000  
              

Total 762,058  49,562  -    -    -    811,620  
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The following information is provided about the equity investments held: 

Name City or State Share capital % 
ownership 

share 

Profit (loss) Book value Net equity 

Campus Editori  Milan  50,000 70 200,486 392,100 173,960 
Country Class Editori  Milan  10,329 100 (2,049,680) 1,585,000 23,405 
Class Pubblicità  Milan  260,000 76 452,167 9,885,624 440,885 
Edis  Milan  10,400 99.5 (697,115) -- 12,984 
Lombard Editori  Milan  52,000 50.1 (57,860) 26,475 78,862 
MF Conference  Milan  10,329 51 (32,800) 8,972 (4,275) 
Milano Finanza Edit.  Milan  291,837 88.828 951,419 9,820,603 1,175,319 
MF Service Milan  10,000 75.01 183,111 87,465 22,961 
DP Analisi Finanz.  Milan  47,500 94.73 1,728 85,565 66,339 
Ex.Co. Milan  17,000 100 (6,964) 96,093 93,138 
Global Finance M. ($) USA  151 $ 73.52 251,133 $ -- 1,427,585 $ 
Class Digital Service Milan  100,000 68.75 86,396 3,872,748 3,920,069 
Editorial Class  Spain  60,101 44 n/a 14,610 n/a 
CFN CNBC Holding Holland 702,321 68.43 (27,930) 2,012,796 5,803,951 
Italia Oggi Erinne  Milan  10,000 47 151,530 3,397,505 13,558 
MF Servizi Editoriali  Milan  10,400 1 381,644 104 2,635 
Class Roma  Milan  10,400 20 (32,429) -- (11,942) 
Analitica @           Milan  25,000 0.03 n/a 7 n/a 
Borsa 7 Editori @ Milan  52,000 14 n/a 1 n/a 
Il Manifesto    @    Rome  454,171 0.0579 n/a 10,329 n/a 
GSC-Proxitalia  @ Rome  258,228 3 n/a 4,695 n/a 
Consedit  @ Milan  20,000 0.27 n/a 28 n/a 
Class Cnbc  Milan  627,860 2.73 618,468 200,281 92,837 
Radio Classica Milan 10,000 99 (556,262) 3,198,669 15,966 
Telesia                   Rome 1,500,000 85.62 45,523 5,533,021 2,787,078 
Emprimer Spa @ Milan 1,000,000 10 n/a 4,102 n/a 
MF Dow Jones News Milan 100,000 50 170,324 56,447 362,608 
Fashion Work B. Club Milan 10,400 100 (22,355) -- 6,280 
Entropic Sinergy  1,220,200 4.14 n/a 300,000 n/a 
I Love Italy Palermo 10,000 51 n/a 2,037 n/a 
Class Meteo Services Milan 10,000 100 (34,677) -- (633,186) 
Class Horse TV Milan 30,000 100 (955,709) 367,254 (925,708) 
TV Moda Milan 40,000 51 (8,549) 449,513 (16,015) 
Assinform/Dal Cin Pordenone 50,000 95 (239,728) 1,652,760 71,716 
Class Editori Service 
ClassInt Advertising 

Milan  
Milan 

37,391 
10,000 

100 
100 

91,343 
(79,388) 

382,925 
-- 

128,730 
(74,613) 

Class Servizi Televisivi  Milan 10,000 100 86,613 10,000 127,788 
Class TV Service  Milan 10,400 100 112,195 10,329 250,545 
Up Cube  Milan 119,000 25 71,215 -- 141,120 
Banca Pop. Vicenza  Vicenza 260,594,490 0.008 n/a 496,457 n/a 
New Satellite Milan 10,000 100 (18,256) 74,286 12,421 
Albebaran Milan 10,000 100 (9,928) 4,502,468 835,694 
Class China eComm. Milan 10,526 50 (61,775) 5,263 36,613 
Mito Cuneo 10,000 50 4,719 5,000 39,722 
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In relation to the provisions of Art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code, we specify that the qualified holdings are 
booked at their purchase cost.  
 
Although there are significant differences between the carrying amount and the equity interest in certain 
investments, none of these represents lasting impairment with respect to their purchase cost. The following 
information is provided: 
 

 Campus Editori Srl: in addition to organising student fairs and owning the related brand (Salone dello 
studente), this company also owns the Campus title although no value has been attributed to it. The 
impairment test performed did not identify any reasons to write-down the carrying amount of the 
investment. 

 Classpi - Class Pubblicità Spa: this company operates as a sub-concessionaire, selling advertising for 
all the editorial and electronic publications of the Publishing House. Impairment testing indicated the 
value of the company to be 19.0 million euro and, accordingly, no write-downs have been recorded. 

 Milano Finanza Editori Spa: this is the company which publishes Milano Finanza and MF. The 
carrying amount of this equity investment, of strategic importance to the Group, is much lower than its 
real value. In fact, the impairment test performed did not identify any reasons to write-down the 
carrying amount of the investment. 

 DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation: this company, which published manuals for the insurance 
and financial world, was put into liquidation during the year. 

 Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne Srl: this company publishes ItaliaOggi, whose carrying amount is 
substantially lower than its real value. The impairment test performed did not identify any reasons to 
write-down the carrying amount of the investment. 

 ExCo Srl in liquidation: formed in 1992, this company operated as a press agency with long-term 
contracts for the supply of news. The company was put into liquidation during the year and the 
investment has been written off. 

 GSC Proxitalia Spa: this is the leading company in Italy in the supply of internet solutions for banks 
and financial institutions. It was purchased in May 2000 and Class Editori holds 3% of the capital. In 
view of its highly innovative business and the results achieved, the book value is considered 
appropriate. 

 Telesia Spa: the shareholding was purchased in 2001. It specialises in the field of designing, building 
and managing video-information systems for the public. 

 Fashion Work Business Club Srl: the holding was acquired during 2006; the company operates in the 
fashion sector, providing organisational and liaison services and publishing its namesake magazine 
featuring announcements for the sector. As a result of the impairment test, the carrying amount of this 
investment has been written off. 

 Country Class Editori Srl: this company is the owner and publisher of Capital. Impairment testing 
indicated the value of the company to be 1.58 million euro and, accordingly, the investment has been 
written down by 3,586,000 euro. 

 E-Class Spa: this company sells financial information services provided via satellite, Web and 
corporate television. The impairment test performed did not identify any reasons to write-down the 
carrying amount of the investment. 

 Global Finance Media Inc: American editor which publishes the financial magazine bearing the same 
name. The holding in the company was fully written-down in previous years due to recurrent losses. 
Starting from 2006, the company began to earn net profits and to steadily reduce its equity deficit, so 
much so that shareholders' equity became positive once again at the end of 2011. Significant net profits 
were earned in 2014 as well. 
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 Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl: this company, a holding in which was purchased during 2009, 
operates in the insurance publishing sector with valued specialist publications. It has made a profit in 
recent years. An operating profit was earned in 2014, but a net loss was reported due to the non-
recurring write-down of an equity investment. Impairment testing indicated the value of the company to 
be 1.83 million euro, which exceeds the carrying amount of the investment. 

 PMF News Spa: this company sells financial information services provided via satellite, Web and 
corporate television. The difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the interest held 
in its shareholders' equity is not significant; 

 TV Moda Srl: this company owns the digital terrestrial TV channel of the same name. Impairment 
testing indicated the value of the company to be 0.88 million euro and, accordingly, the investment has 
been written down by 371,587 euro. 

 
In view of the above, except as specified, it is considered appropriate to measure the other equity 
investments at their current carrying amounts, even if this exceeds the equity interest held. Additionally, this 
additional value is not amortised since the period of future benefit cannot be defined. 
 
The equity investments held as non-current assets represent a lasting, strategic investment made by the 
Company. The other equity holdings are entered at their purchase or subscription cost. 
 
No affiliates authorised bonus or paid capital increases during the year, except for those formed during 2014. 
 
The changes in fixed assets during the year are shown below, indicating the borrowing costs allocated to 
each caption. 
 

  Equity 
investments 

Receivables Securities Own 
Shares 

Other 
intangible 

Total 

HISTORICAL COST 50,177,670          50,177,670  
prior revaluations             
Financial charges             
prior write-downs  (9,141,731)          (9,141,731) 
prior accumulated 
depreciation             

OPENING BALANCE 41,035,939  -    -    -    -    41,035,939  

Increases during the year 13,304,740          13,304,740  

reclassifications 
-            -    

(-) 
reclassifications  

          -    
(+)  
Financial charges             
Decreases during the year  (5,830)          (5,830) 
revaluations during the year             
write-downs during the year  (5,782,317)          (5,782,317) 
depreciation charge for the 
year             

BALANCE   -    -    -                             
-    48,552,532  

movements pursuant to art. 
2426.3 c.c.             

CLOSING BALANCE 48,552,532  -    -    -    -    48,552,532  
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Impairment tests carried out by the Publishing House and related results. 
 
There are three categories of intangible asset with an indefinite life recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Publishing House: editorial titles, goodwill and radio frequencies. 
 
The recoverable value of the radio frequencies was measured with reference to their market value (fair 
value), based on specific appraisals. With regard to the titles and goodwill, reference was made to their 
value in use. 

 
Asset impairment 

 
IAS 36 requires any losses in the value of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and equity 
investments to be assessed (so-called impairment test) if there is any evidence that this problem might 
exist.  This assessment is carried out annually, or more frequently, in the case of goodwill, intangible assets 
with an indefinite life and equity investments. 

 
The recoverability of the amounts recorded is checked by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets 
concerned with their selling prices, if an active market exists, or their value in use if this is greater. 
 
Fair value is estimated as follows: 
    

• identification of the asset to be measured; 
 

• determination of the configuration of value deemed appropriate for measurement purposes; 
 

• identification of the principal (or more advantageous) market for the asset to be measured; 
 

• definition of the most appropriate measurement technique: market approach, income approach 
or cost approach; 

 
• classified of the fair value determined within the three-level hierarchy envisaged by IFRS 13, 

namely: 
 

- LEVEL 1: prices quoted in an active reference market for the same asset; 
 
- LEVEL 2: measurements based on inputs regarding the assets to be measured, other than 

the quoted prices used in level 1, that are directly or indirectly observable, with indication 
of the sources of the parameters used; 

 
- LEVEL 3: inputs not based on observable market data that reflect management 

assumptions about the hypotheses that "market participants" would use to determine the 
value of the assets to be measured, describing all the assumptions made and indicating if 
the values adopted reflect past experience and are consistent with external sources of 
information and, if not, explaining how and why they differ;  

 
• quantification of any disposal costs to be deducted from fair value. 

 
The process of determining estimated fair value is summarised as follows: 

 
6. identification of the "cash generating units" (CGUs); 
 
7. identification of the carrying amounts of each CGU, with the allocation of goodwill or assets 

with an indefinite life to the individual CGUs (or groups of CGU), as well as the other assets 
directly attributable to each CGU;  

 
8. identification of evidence of possible impairment; 
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9. determination of recoverable value, being the greater of value in use or fair value; 
 

10. preparation of disclosures about the impairment test: the company prepares a document in 
support of the impairment test, on the basis of which it is possible to reconstruct the 
measurement process carried out. 
 

In case of radio frequencies, the assets to be measured comprise a group of assets consisting of the 
ministerial concession, the technical installations and the "user rights" over the operation of the radio 
broadcasting equipment. 
 
The measurement of the frequencies by the independent expert is based on inputs that differ from quoted 
prices, but which are directly observable in an active reference market for such assets.  
When determining the qualitative value of the radio broadcasting equipment, the independent expert 
identified all the measurement parameters attributable to the asset to be measured, allocating each of them 
a score based on a qualitative assessment using a scale of values that is generally used and accepted by 
economic operators in the sector concerned. The resulting scale of values was given a monetary weighting 
by defining a correction coefficient that transforms the results of the qualitative assessment into economic 
value. This coefficient essentially represents a unit of measurement similar to the price per square meter 
used as a reference parameter in property transactions.   
 
Estimate of value in use 

 

The value in use was determined by discounting the cash flows expected from use of the asset, or a 
combination of assets (so-called cash generating unit or CGU), and adding the disposal value expected at 
the end of its useful life. The cash generating units were identified with reference to the organisational and 
business structure of the Group, as homogeneous aggregations that generate autonomous cash flows from 
the continuous use of the assets allocated to them. 
 
The value in use determined for the impairment test complies with the requirements of IAS 36. This test 
calculates the recoverable value of each cash generating unit to which the intangible assets to be measured 
are allocated, by discounting their expected cash flows using a discounting rate that reflects the specific 
business risks involved.  
The cash flows for the period considered were adjusted to take account of any changes in working capital 
that might affect them.  
If the change in working capital for the last year was negative, this was prudently deducted from the cash 
flow representing the terminal value; if positive, it was not included in the terminal value. 
 
The resulting economic value of the capital invested (enterprise value) was adjusted by the net financial 
position (NFP) at the measurement date and for any non-operating assets (surplus assets), thus obtaining 
the equity value to be compared with the carrying amount recorded in the financial statements. 

 
 

2. Identification of the "cash generating units" (CGUs) 
 

As in the past, the CGUs were identified with reference to the business areas to which the various lines of 
business belong, namely: newspapers, periodicals, events, digital (TV, radio, business information), 
advertising, other. 
 
The definition of the CGUs took account of the following main criteria: 

∗ homogeneous nature of the products and/or service supplied by the company and/or the type of 

customers; 

∗ the ability of each activity to be sold separately, thus creating an autonomous CGU, rather than 

necessarily having to be aggregated with other activities to obtain the expected returns; 
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∗ the loss that the closure of an activity would cause for another related activity. 

These activities coincide in some cases with one or more legal entities to which the assets with an 
indefinite life are allocated, while in other cases they are just part of them. 

 
These are: 

NEWSPAPERS AREA 
MF-Milano Finanza / MF Fashion (financial newspaper) 
 
PERIODICALS AREA 
Assinform (insurance publishing) 
Global Finance (international finance magazine) 
Patrimoni and Lombard (Italian finance magazines) 
Class (magazine for men) 
Capital (magazine for men) 
Gentleman (magazine for men) 
Ladies (magazine for women) 
Case & Country (magazine on furnishings and country life) 
MFF & MFL (Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living) 
Eccellenza Italia (magazine for the Chinese market) 
 
EVENTS AREA: 
Campus (student fairs) 
MF Conference (conferences on finance, business and fashion) 
 
DIGITAL AREA:  
Class CNBC (financial TV) 
Class TV and Class Life (general information, news and lifestyle TV) 
Class TV Moda (fashion) 
Telesia and Aldebaran (Outdoor TV: TV for metro systems, motorway service areas and airports) * 
Corporate TV (internal TV for banks and companies) 
E-class (digital business information)  
MF Dow Jones News (financial press agency) 
website and tablet and smartphone applications  
Radio frequencies 
 
ADVERTISING AREA:  
Classpi (advertising concessionaire) 
 
OTHER AREA: 
Analitica (business valuations) 
Tagliamare (“Portolano” illustrated books) 
In Aereo 

 
∗ The purchase of Aldebaran was strategically important given its involvement in video 

communications for overland transportation. The organisation and technology owned by Aldebaran 
made it possible for Telesia to win the tender launched by ATAC / Rome, and obtain the related 
exclusive advertising concession in Rome for 9 years. This situation underpins the projects for the 
development of Outdoor TV and has resulted in aggregation of the activities within one CGU, given 
the losses that closure/disposal of this activity would cause for the Outdoor TV business. 

 
Of course, only some the above CGUs are relevant for impairment testing purposes, since the amounts 
relating to the titles and goodwill are recognised separately in the statement of financial position. 
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2. Identification of the carrying amounts of each CGU  
 
The carrying amount of individual CGUs was determined by allocating to each of them the attributable 
goodwill and other assets with an indefinite life, as well as any assets that contribute directly to its 
operations. 
 
3. Identification of evidence of possible impairment 
 
In accordance with IAS 36, the Company determines at the reporting date if there is any evidence, from 
either external or internal sources, that the value of the assets subjected to impairment testing may be 
impaired. This analysis is carried out in the manner indicated in para. 12 of IAS 36, as supplemented by 
all the information available to the Company at the time.  

 
4. Determination of recoverable value, being the greater of value in use or fair value 

 
Principal decisions made when applying the accounting standards and sources of uncertainty when 
making estimates 

 
Principal uncertainty factors when making estimates 

 
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the explanatory notes has required the use of 
estimates and assumptions, both with regard to the determination of certain assets and liabilities and for the 
measurement of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions made were based on 
historical experience and other relevant factors. 

 
In view of the current macroeconomic situation, still destabilised by the effect of the financial crisis that 
began at the end of 2008, the estimates were made using assumptions about the future that are in any case 
subject to some degree of uncertainty.  

 
It was necessary to carry out impairment tests to determine if there has been any loss in the value of assets 
with an indefinite life.  The principal uncertainties that might influence the estimates relate to the 
discounting rate (WACC), the growth rate (g) and the assumptions made when determining the amount of 
expected cash flows. 
In particular, the prospective data used was based on hypothesised future events and actions by 
management that are subject to estimates and uncertainties. These are subject to the risk that the expected 
events might not take place, or might take place to an extent or with timing that differs from that 
hypothesised or, on the other hand, that events might take place that were unforeseeable by management at 
the time. 

  
Principal assumptions made when determining the recoverable value of intangible assets with an indefinite life 

  
These assets are measured whenever there is evidence that their value might be impaired. The goodwill 
relating to cash generating units is measured each year, or more frequently, even if there is no evidence of 
impairment. 
 
The impairment test carried out at 31 December 2014 reflects the deterioration in the macroeconomic 
situation, with respect to that hypothesised at the start of the year in the business plan of the Publishing 
House: the reduction in the expected cash flows (included in the budgets approved by the Boards of the 
legal entities to which the CGUs belong) and the increase in the discounting rates used, despite a reduction 
in the opportunity cost of capital (risk free), due in part to the more uncertain market conditions, resulted in 
the write-down of titles and goodwill by 4.9 million euro. 

  
In order to determine the discounting rates, management compared the actual results for 2014 with the 
corresponding forecasts used when carrying out the impairment tests as of 31 December 2013, analysing 
the variances in order to assess their impact on the estimated discounting rate (WACC) to be applied to the 
expected cash flows. 
 



 

                                                                                          Page 146 

In general, the scenario resulting from the analysis of the impairment tests indicated, in most cases, that the 
2014 results for the CGUs considered were in line with expectations. The projections for the explicit period 
were generally revised downwards however, due to the continuation of the market crisis. The discounting 
rates used were increased due to the great level of risk and the value attributed to each CGU was reduced. 
Should the impairment tests carried out in future identify a recovery in the value of assets with an 
indefinite life that have been written down, this greater value will be recognised up to the amount of the net 
carrying value originally recorded in the financial statements.   

 
The marked appreciation of the share price and the market capitalisation of the Group, subsequent to the 
capital increase in 2014, has significantly increased (roughly doubled) the value attributed to the Publishing 
House by the market with respect to the situation about one year ago.  
Procedurally, as recommended in the document issued jointly by Consob, the Bank of Italy and ISVAP 
dated 4 March 2010, if the market capitalisation is significantly lower than consolidated shareholders' 
equity at the time of preparing the financial statements, the company must analyse the reasons for this 
difference in value expressed by the financial market and document its considerations regarding the results 
obtained from its own impairment testing procedures. 

The principal criteria adopted for the assessment of the impairment tests are set out below: 

- determination of the cash flows of the CGUs: the cash flows derive from the five-year economic and 
financial budgets approved by the Boards of the legal entities to which the CGUs belong.  
The cash flow considered is the so-called free cash flow, net of tax effects and any investment needed 
in order to generate it, as adjusted for the changes in working capital;  

- the explicit forecast period, during which the expected revenues and costs of the CGU are detailed, 
was generally determined to be 5 years; 

- beyond that period, an implicit period of indefinite duration was identified for the cash flow 
projection. This decision is consistent with the measurement of the titles or the related goodwill, whose 
lives are effectively indefinite, as can be seen from the time elapsed since they were launched. 

- the cash flow considered is stated net of tax effects and any investment needed in order to generate it; 
in addition, budgeted balance sheets were prepared for each CGU covering the explicit period, in order 
to identify the changes in working capital to be reflected in the explicit period in order to determine the 
free cash flow to be used; 

- based on this, a "target" balance sheet has been determined for each CGU, making assumptions about 
the changes in the various balance sheet accounts. This balance sheet was used as a reference when 
calculating the weighted average cost of capital (WACC); 

- the cash flows expected were based on the results historically generated by the CGUs, including the 
period prior to the crisis (in the expectation of an economic upturn), as well as on assumptions and 
forecasts about the development of projects and business areas where the Group is already active, 
whose growth forecasts are contained in the 2015-2019 budget; 

- the growth rate during the terminal period (g) was generally taken to be 0%.  
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With reference to the choice of discounting rate, the following methodology was employed to determine 
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) used for discounting purposes in the explicit and implicit 
periods: 

- The risk-free cost of capital was estimated with reference to the average for ten-year bonds (BTP) 
issued with maturities in 2024-2025, which have an average yield of 1.58%; even considering the 
current opportunity cost of capital, this decision appears prudent in view of the most recent movements 
in the interest rates on government securities, which appear to be declining as a result, at least in part, 
of recent manoeuvres by the ECB; 

- The risk-free rate determined above was then associated with a risk premium, which for a mature stock 
market (source: Damodaran) was estimated to be 5.75% (5% last year), that was multiplied by a 
conversion factor, beta, which for the two-year period 2013-2014 Bloomberg specifically indicated to 
be 1.2 for Class (0.94 last year). It was deemed prudent to use a rate that takes account of a longer time 
period, given the significant market fluctuations;  

- In some cases, where management considered the environment to be subject to greater risk than that 
reflected in the above parameters, the beta parameter was uplifted by another component linked to the 
size of the CGU or the greater uncertainties affecting the specific reference market. This adjustment 
caused the beta parameter for the CGUs concerned to fall in a range from 1.20 to 1.50; 

- The cost of borrowing was determined with reference to the actual cost of the resources borrowed from 
third parties, net of tax effect; 

 
The CGUs that did not pass the impairment test were those whose forecast cash flows were worse than in 
the prior year, or for which the use of stricter parameters reduced their value in use below the related 
carrying amounts. 
 
The allocation of Group assets to cash generating units and the criteria used to identify them were 
essentially unchanged with respect to the situation reported at 31 December 2013, except as stated in 
relation to Telesia/Aldebaran.  
 
The principal assumptions made by management to calculate value in use related to the discount rate 
(WACC), the growth rate (g), always assumed to be 0%, and the expected changes in selling prices and 
direct costs during the period considered for the calculation. 
 
The rate used to discount future cash flows reflects the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which 
weights the following two elements: 

- the cost of risk capital represented by the return from risk-free assets (including the country risk 
implicit in market prices), plus the risk premium for a virtuous country multiplied by the beta 
parameter; 

 
- the cost of borrowing, net of tax effect. 
 

 
The results obtained from the analyses performed by the Company were compared with those of the 
specific appraisals prepared by an independent expert, who essentially confirmed the value estimated by the 
Company. 
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The discount rate (WACC) and growth rate used in 2013 and 2014 by the independent expert appointed to 
estimate the value in use of the assets concerned are indicated below:  
 
SUMMARY OF IMPAIRMENT TEST AMOUNTS 31/12/2014 
 

CGU 

Company data 31/12/2013 
 

Company data 31/12/2014 Expert data 

Wacc Growth rate 
terminal period (g) 

Wacc Growth rate 
terminal period (g) 

Wacc 
Growth rate 

terminal period 
(g) 

Mf / Milano Finanza 6.8% 0.0% 7.8% 0.0% 7.7% 0.0% 

Classpi 8.9% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% 9.1% 0.0% 

Assinform 7.8% 0.0% 8.5% 0.0% 8.0% 0.0% 

Country Class -Capital 6.2% 0.0% 9.4% 0.0% 9.7% 0.0% 

Tv Moda 8.9% 0.0% 8.4% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% 

Class Cnbc 7.1% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% 8.1% 0.0% 

Telesia 8.9% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% 10.1% 0.0% 

E-class - Finance 8.9% 0.0% 8.1% 0.0% n/a n/a 

Campus 7.2% 0.0% 8.9% 0.0% n/a n/a 

Global Finance 8.9% 0.0% 9.2% 0.0% n/a n/a 

 
The amounts obtained from the external valuations would have generated a level of impairment essentially 
similar to that identified by the Company.  

5) Trade receivables 

The value indicated in the financial statements, amounting to 16,960,945 euros, entirely consists of the part 
payable after the year of the trade receivable generated by the sale of software during the previous year by 
the subsidiaries, E-Class and PMF. This receivable was transferred to the parent company, Class Editori, 
during 2012. In accordance with IFRS requirements, the nominal value of this receivable has been 
discounted, resulting in the recognition of a provision amounting to 1,631,055 euro. The corresponding 
balance in the prior year, net of the discounting allowance, was 16,177,861 euro. 

6) Advance tax receivables  

These total 18,668,406 million euro and include deferred tax assets at 31 December 2014 of 1,984,866 
million euro, compared with 777,348 million euro at 31 December 2013, as well as IRES credits for the 
losses reported by the tax group of 16,683,540 million euro, compared with 17,916,381 million euro at 31 
December 2013. This last amount was reported as a current tax receivable in the prior year. The above 
reclassification of the IRES credits as a non-current asset was first reported in the consolidated half-year 
report at 30 June 2014, when non-current tax receivables at the end of 2013 were restated as 18,693,729 
euro. 
 
This caption and the changes with respect to the prior year are analysed in the table presented below in note 
31) Taxes. 
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7) Other receivables 
Balance at 31/12/2013 € 2,879,208 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 2,383,902 
 € (495,306) 

 
  Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
Amount as of 

31/12/2014 
  

Caption Change 
        

Advances to suppliers 72,800  72,800  -    
Tax credit on provision to staff severance 
indemnity reserve 24,325  24,325  -    
Guarantee Deposits     
 - Rentals 259,821  264,515  4,694  
 - Telephone 11,844  11,844  -    
 - Electricity 1,633  1,633  -    
 - Other 2,508,785  2,008,785   (500,000) 

  2,879,208  2,383,902   (495,306) 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 

8) Inventories 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 233,316 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 299,657 
 € 66,341 

The measurement criteria adopted are unchanged with respect to the prior year and are described in the first 
part of these explanatory notes. 
The changes between years are reported on the face of the income statement. The inventory allowance of 
137,367 euro at 31 December 2014 adjusts the carrying amount of finished products and editorial products to 
reflect their estimated realisable value. 
 
9) Trade receivables 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 41,197,631 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 61,730,377 
 € 20,532,746 

 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        
Regular customers 8,836,640  8,563,794   (272,846) 
Invoices to be issued 308,460  8,333,101  8,024,641  
Credit card customers 8,467  8,448   (19) 
From parent company -    1,128  1,128  
From subsidiaries 25,326,398  34,820,391  9,493,993  
From affiliates 7,117,062  10,235,318  3,118,256  
        
Allowance for doubtful Fund art. 106 TUIR  (279,796)  (216,808) 62,988  
Allowance for doubtful doubtful accounts  (119,600)  (14,995) 104,605  
        
        

  41,197,631  61,730,377  20,532,746  
 
Invoices to be issued include 8 million euro in relation to the sale to Sky of the licence to transmit on digital 
terrestrial channel 27. 
Since the Company is active almost entirely in the domestic market, the analysis of receivables by geographical 
area required by para. 6 of art. 2427 c.c. is not provided. Relations with foreign countries are not significant. 

In addition to the invoices to be issued referred to above, the increase in trade receivables reflects a rise in 
the amounts due from subsidiaries as a result of differences in the timing of settlement compared with the 
prior year. 
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The nominal value of receivables is adjusted to estimated realisable value by the allowance for doubtful 
accounts, as well as by discounting the value of past-due receivables with reference to the expected 
collection period. The reduction in the discounting allowance with respect to the prior year reflects the lower 
discounting rates used, with the consequent recognition of financial income of 820,879 euro. The combined 
changes in these allowances are set out below: 
 

Description  Total 

Balance at 31/12/2013  2,875,395 

Utilisation during the year  (384,401) 

Provision for doubtful accounts  216,808 

Change in the discounting allowance  (820,879) 

Balance at 31/12/2014  1,886,923 

Receivables from subsidiaries 

  Receivables  
Invoices to be 

issued Total as of 

Company Trade 
Credit notes to be 

received 31/12/2014 
        
Milano Finanza Edit. 10  4,817,408  4,817,418  

Class Editori Service 92  75,033  75,125  

MF Service 970,805  623,941  1,594,746  

E-Class 579,327  98,507  677,834  

PMF News Editori SpA -    2,365,487  2,365,487  

Lombard Editori -    170,817  170,817  

MF Conference -    845  845  

MF Dow Jones 516,875  337  517,212  

Edis 635  199,351  199,986  

DP Analisi Finanziaria 281  -    281  

Ex.Co 2,422  -    2,422  

Classint advertising 1,037  336  1,373  

Campus Editori 482,256  8,099  490,355  

CCeC Class China 187  609  796  

Class Cnbc 1,114,253  345,265  1,459,518  

Radio Classica 1,422,582  197,568  1,620,150  

Global Finance 639,219  2,472  641,691  

Telesia 314,191  247,092  561,283  

Country Class Editori 100,457  183,258  283,715  

Class Servizi Televisivi -    28,309  28,309  

Fashion Work 71,803  -    71,803  

Classpi   11,024,843  3,004,847  14,029,690  

Class Meteo 354,231  75,703  429,934  

Tv Moda 81,220  544,152  625,372  

Assinform -    238  238  

MF Servizi Editoriali 1,433,842  97,063  1,530,905  

New Satellite 105,790  7,544  113,334  

Class TV Service 60,335  35,972  96,307  

Classpi Digital -    108  108  

Class horse tv 325,324  2,088,013  2,413,337  
        

  19,602,017  15,218,374  34,820,391  
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Receivables from affiliates 

  Receivables  Invoices to be issued Total at 
31/12/2014 Company trade Credit notes to be received 

        

Italia Oggi Edit. Erinne 7,829,485  2,370,411  10,199,896  
Class Roma 35,422  -    35,422  
        

  7,864,907  2,370,411  10,235,318  
 

10) Financial receivables 
Balance at 31/12/2013 € 35,306,171 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 35,659,920 
 € 353,749 

 
 Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
Amount as of 

31/12/2014 
  

Caption Change 
    

Financial C/A from subsidiaries* 28,415,704  29,966,603  1,550,899  

Financial C/A from affiliates* 1,789,894  -     (1,789,894) 

Financial C/A from parent companies -    245,000  245,000  

Financial C/A from Mf Servizi Editoriali 2,795,179  4,091,437  1,296,258  

Financial C/A from Yachting 556,874  -     (556,874) 

Financial C/A from Diana Bis 1,081,686  690,046   (391,640) 

Financial C/A from Worldspace Italia 3,672  3,672  -    

Financial C/A from CIA 659,004  659,004  -    

Financial C/A from Honyvem 4,158  4,158  -    

  35,306,171  35,659,920  353,749  
 
Financial receivables from subsidiaries 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    

Financial C/A from CFN CNBC 50,000  95,000  45,000 

Financial C/A from I Love Italia 5,000  20,000  15,000 

Financial C/A from Country Class Editori 924,750  48,095   (876,655) 

Financial C/A from Class Digital Service 3,173  11,175  8,002  

Financial C/A from E-Class -    684,504  684,504  

Financial C/A from Classpi -    6,031,745  6,031,745  

Financial C/A from Class CNBC 3,485,395  6,116,766  2,631,371  

Financial C/A from Milano Finanza 1,382,089  -     (1,382,089) 

Financial C/A from Campus 11,800  42,724  30,924  

Financial C/A from Classint advertising 23,437  66,917  43,480  

Financial C/A from Lombard 97,265  9,400   (87,865) 

Financial C/A from MF Service 9,314,930  11,974,825  2,659,895  

Financial C/A from DP Analisi finanziaria 175,208  -     (175,208) 

Financial C/A from Ex.Co 204,492  -     (204,492) 

Financial C/A from Radio Classica 6,112,121  3,889,174   (2,222,947) 

Financial C/A from Class Editori Service 4,882,219  -     (4,882,219) 

Financial C/A from New Satellite 251,214  228,214   (23,000) 

Financial C/A from Edis 125,607  -     (125,607) 

Financial C/A from FWC 409  -     (409) 

Financial C/A from Tv Moda 249,930  30,178   (219,752) 

Financial C/A from Assinform 7,918  7,918  -    

Financial C/A from CHTV -    13,048  13,048  

Financial C/A from Class Meteo Service 1,108,747  696,920   (411,827) 

  28,415,704 29,966,603 1,550,899 
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Financial receivables from affiliates 
 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    

Financial C/A from Italia Oggi Erinne 1,763,483  -     (1,763,483) 

Financial C/A from Class Roma 26,411  -     (26,411) 

  1,789,894  -     (1,789,894) 

 

11) Tax receivables 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    

Withholding tax Bank and post office accounts 12  13,928  13,916  

IRES advance for financial year 125,938  125,938  -    

IRAP advance payments 112,743  112,743  -    

Tax credit Bonus employees -    937  937  

Amounts due for other tax credits 1,436,978  1,436,968   (10) 

IRPEF freelance/independent contractor (Co.Co.Co) -    23,816  23,816  

Stamp duty -    9  9  

Advance VAT payments -    12,878  12,878  

VAT paid on pro-forma invoices 59,682  68,260  8,578  

TOTAL 1,735,353  1,795,477  Tot.60,124  
 
Other tax receivables include the IRAP repayments claimed in relation to the 2007 and 2011 tax years.  
 
12) Other receivables 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 16,951,703 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 17,104,939 
 € 153,236 

 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  

Caption Change 
        

Suppliers advances 966,960  167,263   (799,697) 
Receivables from publishers 670,026  685,598  15,572  
Suppliers for credit notes to be received 227,274  964,483  737,209  
Employee travel advances 28,760  31,301  2,541  
Other receivables 3,601,529  195,306   (3,406,223) 
Third-party loans 913,258  913,258  -    
Receivables from Compagnia Immobil. Azionaria 7,700,046  10,744,361  3,044,315  
Receivables to Diana Bis -    171,115  171,115  
Receivables from e-Class -    112,266  112,266  
Due from MF Service -    396,500  396,500  
Tax receivables from subsidiaries 926,701  2,121,295  1,194,594  
Sundry accruals 52,551  194,180  141,629  
Insurance deferral 55,538  54,672   (866) 
Rental deferral 35,216  -     (35,216) 
Other prepaid expenses 1,773,844  353,341   (1,420,503) 

  16,951,703  17,104,939  153,236  
 
The reduction in other receivables by about 3 million euro with respect to the prior year was due to offsetting 
a receivable from the sale of an equity investment in the prior year, against the amount due on the purchase 
of the investment in Aldebaran in January 2014. 
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13) Liquid funds 
Balance at 31/12/2013 € 5,297,013 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 4,672,708 
 € (624,305) 

Bank deposits 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        
BNA 742  742  -    
Ersel 4,426,881  180   (4,426,701) 
Carige 800,000  584,936   (215,064) 
Credito Emiliano -    632  632  
Monte dei Paschi -    3,922,842  3,922,842  
BNL -    68,820  68,820  
Postal current account 12,366  15,357  2,991  
Cash on hand  1,424  235   (1,189) 
Cash for prepaid cards 55,600  78,964  23,364  
        

  5.297.013  4.672.708   (624,305) 
 

This balance represents the bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents available at year end. Accounting 
balances were reconciled on 31 December 2014 with those indicated in the bank statements. 
 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

14) Shareholders' equity 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 46,318,956 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 64,443,980 
 € 18,125,024 

 
  Amount as of 

31/12/2013 
Increases Decreases Amount as of 

31/12/2014 Caption     
          
Share capital 10,560,751  17,761,156  -    28,321,907  

Share premium reserve 31,329,260  22,023,834   (501,870) 52,851,224  

Legal reserve 2,543,881  -    -    2,543,881  

Extraordinary reserve 30,798,018  -     (23,718,504) 7,079,514  

Changes Assets IAS  (5,492,644) -     (28,928)  (5,521,572) 

Treasury shares reserve  (94,438) -    -     (94,438) 

Fair value stock option reserves 278,707  -    -    278,707  

Retained earnings 113,925  -    -    113,925  

Total 70,037,460  39.784.990   (24,249,302) 85,573,148  
          

Profit (Loss) for the year  (23,718,504) 23,718,504   (21,129,168)  (21,129,168) 
          
Net equity 46,318,956  63,503,494   (45,378,470) 64,443,980  

 
In addition to coverage of the loss for 2013 by using the extraordinary reserve and the recognition of the loss 
for the year, the main changes during 2014 were as follows: 

- capital increase completed in August with subscriptions and payments totalling 39,784,990 euro, 
comprising a rise of 17,761,156 euro in the nominal value of share capital and an increase in the share 
premium account of 22,023,834 euro; 

- reduction in the share premium account by 501,870 euro to cover the cost of the advisory services 
received in relation to the capital increase. 
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Following the change made during to IAS 19 relating to Employee Severance Indemnities, which rules out 
the recognition of actuarial gains and losses using the “corridor” method, a practice that was permitted up to 
the end of 2012, on 01 January 2013 a negative OCI reserve (included in the IAS transition reserve) of 
187,406 euro was recorded on the reversal of deferred charges amounting to 73,481 euro recorded on 31 
December 2012, together with retained earnings of 113,925 euro to offset the adverse effects of discounting 
on the 2012 income statement. The recording of the actuarial component of severance indemnities at 31 
December 2014 further reduced the OCI reserve by 28,928 euro. 
 

Shares Number Par value 

Ordinary shares     

  -  Category  A 283,159,074 Euro 0.10 

  -  Category  B 60,000  Euro 0.10 

Total 283,219,074   
 
The total number of shares in circulation at 31 December 2014 was 283,219,074. The Company holds 
511,849 treasury shares, in relation to which a negative equity reserve of 94,438 euro has been recorded. 
Reserves or other funds that in the event of distribution do not contribute to the formation of the 
shareholders' taxable income, regardless of the period of formation. 
 

Description 31/12/2013 Increases Decreases 31/12/2014 

Share premium account 31,329,260 22,023,834 (501,870) 52,851,224 
 
There are no reserves or other funds that in the event of distribution would contribute to the formation of the 
taxable income of the company, regardless of the period of formation, due to the bonus capital increase 
recorded using the reserve. 
 

  Company 
capital 

Share 
premium 
reserve 

Legal 
reserve 

Extraordinary 
reserve 

IAS Trans. 
Reserve 

Stock 
Option 

Reserve 

Prorie share 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Net profit 
(loss) for the 

year 

Total 

Balance at 31/12/2012 10,560,751  31,329,260   2,543,881   44,779,401   (5,295,736) 278,707   (94,438)   (13,981,383)   70,120,443  

Allocation of net profit       (13,981,383)           13,981,383                      -    

Payment of dividends                 -                        -    

Other allocations         -          -                        -    

Other changes: -    -                -                        -    

Distribution transfer                                       -    
Change in OCI reserve 
for IAS severance 
indemnity 01/01/13 

         (187,407)     113,925     (73,482) 

Net profit for the year                 (23,718,504) (23,718,504) 
Income/(charges) directly 
recognised in income 
statement 

         (9,501)          (9,501) 

Comprehensive income 
for the year          (9,501)       (23,718,504) (23,728,005) 

Balance at 31/12/2013 10,560,751  31,329,260    
2,543,881    30.798.018   (5,492,644) 278,707   (94,438) 113,925  (23,718,504)   46,318,956  

Allocation of net profit       (23,718,504)           23,718,504                      -    

Payment of dividends                 -                        -    

Increase Share Capital 17,761,156  22,023,834      -          -      39,784,990  

Other changes: -     (501,870)             -     (501,870) 

Distribution transfer                                       -    
Change in OCI reserve 
for IAS severance 
indemnity 01/01/13 

                                      -    

Net profit for the year                 (21,129,168) (21,129,168) 
Income/(charges) directly 
recognised in income 
statement 

         (28,928)          (28,928) 

Comprehensive income 
for the year          (28,928)       (21,129,168) (21,158,096) 

Balance at 31/12/2014 28,321,907  52,851,224  2,543,881   7.079.514   (5,521,572) 278,707   (94,438) 113,925  (21,129,168)   64,443,980  
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The following table shows the possible uses of the amounts comprising shareholders' equity, pursuant to art. 
2427 of the Civil Code: 
 

Nature/Description Amount Possible 
utilisation Amount available 

    
Share capital 28,321,907   

Capital reserves:    

Share premium account 52,851,224 A, B, C 52,851,224 
Profit reserves:    

Legal reserve 2,543,881 B - 
Other profit reserves 7,079,514 A, B, C 7,079,514 
Retained earnings (accumulated losses) 113,925 A, B, C 113,925 
    

Fair Value Stock Option reserve 278,707 A, B, C 278,707 
IFRS transition reserve (5,521,572) - (5,521,572) 
    
Total   54,801,798 

Key: To: for increase of Capital; B: to cover losses; C: for distribution to shareholders. 

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

15) Financial payables - non-current 

The reported balance at 31 December 2014 represents the long-term portion of the loan from Banca Popolare 
dell’Emilia Romagna, arranged during the year, of 2,632,889 euro. The corresponding payable at 31 
December 2013 was 6,026,806 euro. The decrease since last year reflects the reclassification as current 
financial payables of the portion falling due within the next 12 months. 

16) Provisions for liabilities and charges 

The provisions for liabilities and charges amount to 2,307,625 euro at 31 December 2014. The corresponding 
amount at 31 December 2013 was 143,025 euro.  
The provision for the year of 2,164,600 euro covers the estimated cost of shutting down the Class TV 
channel following disposal of the broadcasting licence, as discussed further in the report. 

17) Employee severance indemnities 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 284,168 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 234,949 
 € (49,219) 

The changes in the provision during the year are discussed below: 

 
  Provision as of 

31/12/2013 Transfers/(Utilisations) Allocation 
Financial 
charges 

(Profit)/Loss 
discounting 

Provision as 
of 31/12/2014 Caption 

       
Executives -    -    -    -    -    -    
Journalists 210,757  -    -    887  19,924  231,568  
Clerical staff 73,411   (79,047) -    13  9,004  3,381  
              

Total 284,168   (79,047) -    900  28,928  234,949  
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Employee severance indemnities are determined in accordance with IAS 19, by applying an actuarial method 
based on demographic assumptions, as well as the discount rate needed to reflect the time value of money, 
the inflation rate, and current and future salary levels. 
The liability for employee severance indemnities at 31 December 2014, quantified in accordance with labour 
legislation and Italian Accounting Standards, amounts to 215,599 euro. 
At the time of the employee severance indemnity (TFR) reform, the Company had more than 50 employees; 
accordingly, from 1 January 2007, the TFR earned is paid to the INPS Treasury Fund or to pension funds. 
 
The following table analyses the actuarial assumptions used to determine the provision for employee 
severance indemnities as of 31 December 2014 in accordance with IAS 19: 
 
FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS:   

Discounting rate   Eur Composite AA curve at 31.12.2014 
 Terms (years) Rates 
 1 0.136% 
 2 0.163% 
 3 0.225% 
 4 0.316% 
 5 0.424% 
 7 0.663% 
 8 0.790% 
 9 0.917% 
 10 1.035% 
 15 1.305% 

   

Inflation rate   1.50% 
Expected rate of pay increases (inc. inflation)   N.A. 
Percentage of indemnity requested in advance   100.00% 
   

POPULATION ASSUMPTIONS:   

Maximum retirement age   According to the latest legislative provisions 
Mortality tables   RGS 48 
Average annual percentage of leavers*   6.83% 
Annual probability of requesting an advance   3.50% 

* calculated for any reason for leaving, in the first ten years following the assessment year  

   

Sensitivity analysis Sensitivity New DBO 

Discounting rate 
+0.50% 222,925 

-0.50% 247,614 

   

Additional information     
Duration (in years)   10.78 

   

Expected payments     
Expected payments as of 31.12.2015   14,441 
Expected payments as of 31.12.2016   12,932 
Expected payments as of 31.12.2017   11,503 
Expected payments as of 31.12.2018   10,142 
Expected payments as of 31.12.2019   8,898 
Expected payments between 1.01.2020 and 31.12.2024   42,130 
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CURRENT LIABILITIES 

18) Financial payables - current 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 71,131,321 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 74,852,674 
 € 3,721,353 

 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Bank Change 

        
B.N.L. 2,692,770  -     (2,692,770) 
Intesa Sanpaolo 403,944  526,659  122,715  
B.ca Pop. Bergamo-CV 649,007  308,370   (340,637) 
Unicredit 776,760  759,002   (17,758) 
Banco Popolare 713,643  558,281   (155,362) 
Credito Emiliano 511,359  -     (511,359) 
Banca Popolare di Verona 1,719,885  1,724,119  4,234  
C.R. Parma e Piacenza 53,216  162,786  109,570  
Banca Popolare di Sondrio 450,646  617,532  166,886  
Banca Pop. Di Milano 1,520,925  697,080   (823,845) 
B.ca Pop. Vicenza 1,063,477  634,089   (429,388) 
B.ca PoP Emilia Romagna 1,144,784  298,470   (846,314) 
Unicredit 17,708  17,708  -    
Monte Paschi Siena 1,318,075  -     (1,318,075) 
CARIGE 412,879  814,581  401,702  
Current bank payables 13,449,078  7,118,677   (6,330,401) 
Payables for Stand By financing 51,249,989  50,137,989   (1,112,000) 
to Centrobanca 25,427  26,806  1,379  
Loan from Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna -    3,367,111  3,367,111  
Other current loans 1,700,000  1,200,000   (500,000) 
From E-Class SpA     -    
From PMF News Editori SpA     -    
Financial C/A from Italia Oggi Editori -    3,493,955  3,493,955  
Financial C/A from Telesia 720,000  720,000  -    
Financial C/A from Class Editori Service -    8,162  8,162  
Financial C/A from CHTV 156,850  -     (156,850) 
Financial C/A from Milano Finanza Editori -    6,544,216  6,544,216  
Financial C/A from Class tv Service 476,986  243,960   (233,026) 
Financial C/A from Edis -    286,774  286,774  
Financial C/A from DP Analisi finanziaria -    105,528  105,528  
Financial C/A from PMF 1,869,006  1,353,033   (515,973) 
Financial C/A from MF Conference 148,090  32,863   (115,227) 
Financial C/A from Class Servizi Televisivi 297,073  155,190   (141,883) 
Financial C/A from MF Dow Jones 4,121  4,121  -    
Financial C/A from Ex.Co -    54,275  54,275  
Financial C/A from E-Class 1,034,701  -     (1,034,701) 
Financial C/A from F W C -    14  14  
Financial C/A from Assinform -    -    -    
Financial payables - current 57,682,243  67,733,997  10,051,754  
        

Total financial payables 71,131,321  74,852,674  3,721,353  
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The balance represents the liability for principal, interest and related charges. Further details can be found in 
the report on operations, in the section that discusses the net financial position. The amount payable in 
relation to the loan from Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna, arranged in the prior year, reflects the 
repayments due within the next 12 months. The increase in current financial payables reflects, in part, a rise 
in the amounts due to Group companies as a result of differences in the timing of settlement compared with 
the prior year. 
 
19) Trade payables 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 56,359,086 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 62,672,146 
 € 6.313.060 
   

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        

Third party suppliers 14,184,638  12,381,595   (1,803,043) 
Invoices to be received 5,030,866  9,584,103  4,553,237  
Client account advances 17,177  11,346   (5,831) 
From subsidiaries 31,791,508  40,581,333  8,789,825  
From affiliates 5,334,897  113,769   (5,221,128) 
      

  56,359,086  62,672,146  6.313.060  
 
The reduction in amounts due to third-party suppliers reflects the agreements reached to settle past-due 
amounts on a discounted basis. The overall increase in trade payables was due to differences in the timing of 
settlement of intercompany balances compared with the prior year. 
 

Payables to subsidiaries 
 
  

Trade payables 
Invoices to be received 

Total at 31/12/2014 Company Credit notes to be issued 
        

Milano Finanza Edit. -    19,214,785  19,214,785  
Tv Moda -    450,000  450,000  
Global Finance 196,980  -    196,980  
CCeC Class China 550  1,500  2,050  
Dp Analisi Finanziaria 268  1,288  1,556  
Ex.Co 196  38,312  38,508  
Class Editori Service -    193,494  193,494  
Classint Advertising -    24  24  
Class Digital Service -    22  22  
PMF -    73,456  73,456  
MF Service -    121,200  121,200  
Radio Classica -    70,000  70,000  
Class CNBC -    8,381,517  8,381,517  
Edis 3,965,589  773,675  4,739,264  
Lombard Editori 868,196  39,597  907,793  
Campus Editori 1,561  59,118  60,679  
Classpi 5,979  2,476,652  2,482,631  
Aldebaran -    24,000  24,000  
E-Class -    306,775  306,775  
Telesia  3,630  352,000  355,630  
MF Dow Jones 865,016  5,950  870,966  
Country Class Editori 110,000  503,294  613,294  
FWC -    531  531  
Class Meteo Service -    300,000  300,000  
CHTV -    9,842  9,842  
Class Servizi televisivi 161,933  1,004,403  1,166,336  
        

  6,179,898  34,401,435  40,581,333  
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Payables to affiliates 

  
Trade payables 

Invoices received 
Total at 31/12/2014 Company Credit notes issued 

        
Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne 56,900  56,729  113,629  
Class Roma 140  -    140  

  Tot.57,040  56,729  Tot.113,769  
 
20) Tax payables 
This caption reports the Company's tax liabilities. 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
IRPEF withheld from employees 240,627  73,574   (167,053) 
IRPEF on freelance and independent contractor 
withholdings 166,101  94,707   (71,394) 

Advance VAT payments 91,014  -     (91,014) 

IRPEF 730 3,025  2,016   (1,009) 
        

  500,767  170,297   (330,470) 
 
The reduction in tax payables was due to the payment of arrears due to the tax authorities in relation to the 
personal income taxes withheld from employees and collaborators. 

21) Other payables 

This caption comprises the following amounts. 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Social security contributions payable                                   5,954                                          -                                    (5,954) 

Social Security contributions for collaborators                                   2,227                                    3,540                                    1,313  

Due to Inpgi                                      195                                    1,530                                    1,335  

Due to Byblos                                   6,767                                    1,358                                  (5,409) 

Due to Casagit                                   6,915                                    5,169                                  (1,746) 

Enpals                                 50,878                                108,045                                  57,167  

To other social security institutes                                 36,762                                  41,470                                    4,708  

Due to shareholders for dividends                                 17,749                                  18,196                                       447  

Credit notes to be issued                                        76                                          -                                         (76) 

Due to employees and collaborators                                 44,946                                  26,359                                (18,587) 

For acquisition equity investments                               521,670                                196,670                              (325,000) 

Intergroup payables from Tax Consolidation                            2,135,440                             2,045,218                                (90,222) 

Other intergroup payables                                 57,245                                  21,301                                (35,944) 

Other payables                                 12,340                                  13,359                                    1,019  

Transitory self-invoice                                   2,298                                  86,897                                  84,599  

Accrued 14th-month payroll                                  15,304                                  15,085                                     (219) 

Accrued holiday pay                               153,531                                118,178                                (35,353) 

Returns                            1,511,424                             1,168,111                              (343,313) 

Sundry accrued liabilities                               532,721                                313,667                              (219,054) 

Deferred subscription income                                 12,237                                  26,481                                  14,244  

Other deferred income                                   4,263                                       437                                  (3,826) 

Deferred income Global                                 73,833                                          -                                  (73,833) 
        

                             5,204,775                             4,211,071                              (993,704) 
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22) Memo accounts 
Sureties given – includes sureties of € 60,000 provided on our behalf by the Banca Popolare di Bergamo-
Credito Varesino in favour of the Revenue Service relating to the same amount in prize contests for readers 
and subscribers. They also include sureties of 275,733 euro received from BNL and of 11,550 euro from 
Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna. Additionally, the total includes 800,000 euro deposited to guarantee the 
repayment of a loan granted to Assinform. 
 
Assets deposited with third parties – includes the value of paper held by printers, 88,551 euro; machines 
and goods, 64,290 euro, and shares deposited with Monte Titoli, 371,722 euro. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

OPERATING REVENUES 

23) Revenues and other income 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 29,642,742 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 34,378,375 
 € 4.735.633 

Revenues from sales and services 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Publications 608,490  301,783   (306,707) 

Advertising and sponsorship 9,653,564  10,734,181  1,080,617  

Sales of copies  94,063  84,763   (9,300) 

Sales of Internet services 141,655  141,139   (516) 

Sales of subscriptions 530,487  123,715   (406,772) 

Books and volumes 41,507  21,619   (19,888) 

Revenues from sale of Corporate TV Services 2,574,998  1,752,637   (822,361) 

Sales of Classpi merchandise 434,523  356,349   (78,174) 

Discounts and rebates 4,097  6,789  2,692  

Other business revenues 1,368,542  266,459   (1,102,083) 
        

  15,451,926  13,789,434   (1,662,492) 
 
Other income  

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Paper sales 76,057  32,530   (43,527) 

State contributions and subsidies 223,564  216,374   (7,190) 

Recovery of costs 2,103  38,543  36,440  

Recovery of costs from group companies 997,806  1,077,091  79,285  

Services to group companies 12,687,307  11,096,764   (1,590,543) 

Other revenues and income 200,729  8,126,623  7,925,894  

Dividends from subsidiaries 3,250  1,016   (2,234) 
        

  14,190,816  20,588,941  6,398,125  
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The recharge of intercompany selling costs relates to part of the fees recognised to the advertising 
concessionaire on the invoices relating to off-line products, which are allocated among the publishing 
companies based on their turnover. This caption is new in 2014, since the advertising concession agreements 
were renewed, with new criteria and operating procedures, during the year. 

Other revenues and income include 8 million euro in relation to the sale of the licence to transmit on digital 
terrestrial channel 27. 

 

 
OPERATING COSTS 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € 52,110,972 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € 43,737,421 
 € (8,373,551) 

24) Purchase costs 

  Value at Value at   
Caption 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 Change 

    
Purchase of paper 181,161  209,851  28,690  

Classpi merchandise purchases 623  -     (623) 

Gesamtanzahl gestart. Akq. Classhop merchandise 678,353  697,019  18,666  

Purchase of other goods 237,020  31,523   (205,497) 

Purchase of stationery and forms 55,778  50,382   (5,396) 

Discounts and roundings 605  3,725  3,120  
Gesamtanzahl gestart. Akq. Assets worth < one 
million 47,428  47,850  422  

Change in inventories 163,702   (66,341)  (230,043) 
        

  1,364,670  Tot.974,009   (390,661) 

 

25) Service costs 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Production costs 6,609,168  5,210,481   (1,398,687) 

Editorial costs 495,329  214,775   (280,554) 

Advertising/promotional 3,283,848  1,170,962   (2,112,886) 

Marketing and commercial costs 7,158,966  6,936,566   (222,400) 

Distribution costs 467,834  362,717   (105,117) 

Services provided to affiliates 14,330,135  11,423,574   (2,906,561) 

Tax consulting and notary expenses 488,491  666,193  177,702  

Entertainment expenses 25,306  27,186  1,880  

Use of third-party assets 7,823,479  7,560,534   (262,945) 
Gesamtanzahl gestart. Akq. Intercompany 
subscriptions and copies 700,282  160,450   (539,832) 

Other services 282,791  315,196  32,405  

General expenses 4,926,998  5,167,748  240,750  

Maintenance 745,790  537,449   (208,341) 
        

  47,338,417  39,753,831   (7,584,586) 
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26) Payroll costs 

This caption comprises the cost of employing personnel, determined in accordance with current legislation 
and collective payroll contracts. 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Wages and salaries 1,585,103  1,058,303   (526,800) 

Social security contributions 466,220  369,249   (96,971) 

Adjustment of staff severance indemnities 38,892  36,328   (2,564) 

Other payroll expenses 40,306  61,232  20,926  
        

  2,130,521  1,525,112   (605,409) 
 

27) Other operating costs 
 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    
Remuneration to company officers 120,241  237,143  116,902  

Other taxes 104,565  74,483   (30,082) 

Penalties 34,608  45,672  11,064  

Third-party costs to be recovered 2,997  689   (2,308) 

Intercompany costs to be recovered 997,806  1,077,091  79,285  

Other expenses 17,147  49,391  32,244  
        

  1,277,364  1,484,469  Tot.207,105  
 

28) Non-recurring income and charges  
This caption presents the results of non-recurring transactions. These are analysed as follows: 
 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        
Out-of-period income 405,347  951,424  546,077  
Capital gains and revaluations -    -    -    
        
Total non-recurring income 405,347  951,424  1,356,771  
        
Out-of-period expenses 3,374,001  478,036   (2,895,965) 
Capital losses -    3,439  3,439  
Losses on receivables 338  -     (338) 
Reimbursement of damages and other 
transactions -    26,950  26,950  
        
Total non-recurring income 3,374,339  508,425  3,882,764  
        

Net non-recurring income/(charges)  (2,968,992) 442,999  3,411,991  
        

In the prior year, out-of-period expenses included the effects of Class Editori's waiver of trade receivables 
due from E-Class (1,500,000 euro) and PMF (1,500,000 euro). The increase in out-of-period income relates 
to the elimination of old balances in 2014 after determining that the original liabilities not longer existed. 
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29) Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs  

This caption comprises the depreciation and amortisation charges relating to property, plant and equipment 
and to intangible assets. A detailed breakdown by asset is shown in earlier tables. Summary details are given 
in the following table: 

 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

    

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets                               564,896                                683,340  
                              

118,444  

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets                               575,953                                607,303   31,350  

Allocation to provision for bad debts                               119,600                                216,808   97,208  

Allocation to risk provisions                                         -                               2,164,600   
Write-down of intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life                               300,000                             2,450,000  

                           
2,150,000  

Write-downs of shareholdings                            2,208,769                             5,782,317  3,573,548  
       

                             3,769,218                           11,904,368  
                           

8,135,150  
 
 
The nature of the amounts presented in the table are analysed in the related notes to the statement of financial 
position. The provision for liabilities and charges covers the estimated cost of shutting down the Class TV 
channel following disposal of the broadcasting licence, as discussed further in the report. This disposal has 
also resulted in writing off the value of the Class Life title, originally recognised to be 2,750,000 euro. This 
amount was written down by 300,000 euro in the prior year and fully expensed at the end of 2014. The write-
down of equity investments, following the impairment tests performed by the directors, is discussed in the 
related notes to the statement of financial position. 
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30) Net financial income and charges 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € (1,459,705) 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € (1,516,271) 
 € (56,566) 

Other financial income 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        
Interest on bank and postal accounts 214,141  75,059   (139,082) 

Interest on other amounts receivable  13,594  11,537   (2,057) 

Interest from Yachting 17,069  8,890   (8,179) 

Interest from Diana Bis 16,359  11,572   (4,787) 

Interest from Euroclass -    1,128  1,128  

Interest from MF Serv.Editoriali 78,181  94,970  16,789  

Fx gains 6,593  5,230   (1,363) 

Other income 337,700  841,379  503,679  

  683,637  1,049,765  Tot.366,128  

Interest from MF Conference -    845  845  

Interest from Assinform 274  238   (36) 

Interest from Classpi 303,482  38,896   (264,586) 

Interest from Class Cnbc 81,948  160,672  78,724  

Interest from Lombard 1,636  2,556  920  

Interest from Country 145,698  28,184   (117,514) 

Interest from Mifi Service 216,299  320,594  104,295  

Interest from DP Analisi Fin. 3,369  12   (3,357) 

Interest from Ex.Co 6,515  2,225   (4,290) 

Interest from Milano Finanza Ed. 84,357  101,318  16,961  

Interest earnings from Classint advertising 674  1,373  699  

Interest from Class Editori Service 134,883  75,033   (59,850) 

Interest from Edis 5,387  6,522  1,135  

Interest from Tv Moda 6,382  9,800  3,418  

Interest from Class Digital -    108  108  

Interest from Class Meteo 28,296  33,024  4,728  

Interest from New Satellite 7,608  7,544   (64) 

Interest from E-Class -    442  442  

Interest from Global Finance 2,472  -     (2,472) 

Interest from Radio Classica 182,349  181,551   (798) 

  1,211,629  Tot.970,937   (240,692) 

Interest from Italia Oggi Erinne 74,678  86,647  11,969  

Interest from Class Horse 4,639  -     (4,639) 

Interest from Class Roma -    314  314  

  Tot.79,317  Tot.86,961  7,644  
        
Total financial income 1,974,583  2,107,663  Tot.133,080  
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Interest and other financial charges 

  Amount as of 
31/12/2013 

Amount as of 
31/12/2014 

  
Caption Change 

        
Interest from Telesia 15,781  14,400   (1,381) 

Interest from Class Horse -    842  842  

Interest from Class Digital Service 22  -     (22) 

Interest from Eclass 51,257  -     (51,257) 

Interest from Campus 2,012  1,712   (300) 

Interest from Class TV Service 10,442  24,458  14,016  

Interest from Class Servizi Televisivi 5,043  4,403   (640) 

Interest from FWC -    531  531  

Interest from Class Roma 1,943  -     (1,943) 

Interest from MF Conference 6,703  -     (6,703) 

Interest from PMF News 74,135  73,455   (680) 

  Tot.167,338  Tot.119,801   (47,537) 
        

Bank interest expense 686,001  655,444   (30,557) 

Interest on amounts payable to suppliers 11,505  24,543  13,038  

Interest on standby financing 2,249,830  2,337,921  88,091  

Interest payable on loans 116,476  288,958  172,482  

Banking fees and commissions 190,589  177,510   (13,079) 

Home Banking 139  186  47  

Fx losses 10,031  14,701  4,670  

IAS financial charges 1,611  900   (711) 

Other financial charges 768  3,970  3,202  

  3,266,950  3,504,133  Tot.237,183  

Total financial charges  3,434,288  3,623,934  Tot.189,646  
        
        
Total net financial income/(charges)  (1,459,705)  (1,516,271)  (56,566) 
        

 

31) Income tax for the year 

Balance at 31/12/2013 € (6,947,641) 
Balance at 31/12/2014 € (1,207,518) 
 € (5,740,123) 

 
This balance relates solely to the difference between deferred tax assets and liabilities in relation to the 
temporary disallowances made when calculating the tax charge for the year. For the sake of prudence, 
deferred tax assets have not been recognised in relation to the tax losses incurred in 2014. 
 

The Company belongs to the VAT group organised by Class Editori. In this regard, four sureties have been 
arranged in relation to the VAT credit. The effects of the first, 5,978,243 euro, for the credit transferred to 
the Group account at the time of the 2012 tax return, will cease on 30 September 2015; the effects of the 
second, 299,006 euro, for the credit transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2013 tax return, will 
cease on 30 September 2016; the effects of the other two, 69,676 euro and 2,377,740 euro, for the credits 
transferred to the Group account at the time of the 2013 tax return, will cease on 30 September 2017. 
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Paragraph 14 of art. 2427 requires a prospect to be drawn up indicating: 
 
a) the description of the temporary differences which led to the booking of advance and deferred taxes 

specified the rate applied and any changes with respect to the previous year as well as the amounts 
credited or debited to the Income Statement or to Net Equity, the items excluded from the calculations 
and their relative justification; 

 
b) the deferred tax assets recognised in relation to current and prior year losses and the reasons for such 

recognition, together with the amount not yet recognised and the reasons for this omission. 
 
The following table meets this requirement: 
 

  Balance at 31/12/2013 Balance at 31/12/2014 
  Amount of 

temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on 
net profit 

Amount of 
temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on net 
profit 

Corporate tax rate (IRES) 27.50%     27.50%     

Regional tax rate (IRAP) 3.90%     3.90%     
              
Effect of change in rate compared with 
previous year:             

Increase (decrease) in deferred 
taxation             

              
Advance/Deferred taxes:             
Board of Directors fees       (95,641)       26,301        13,926      (127,641)        35,101           8,800  
Provisions for liabilities and charges     (237,945)       65,435    (180,674)  (2,137,744)      587,880       522,445  
Reversal for studies and projects (IAS)            (150)              47               -               (150)              47                 -    
Discounting back of credits (IAS)       (27,531)         7,571                 -          (27,531)          7,571                  -    
Maintenance costs     (149,653)        46,991                 -          (99,222)        31,156       (15,835) 
Differences in Provision for severance 
indemnity (IAS)         93,386      (25,681)            973           91,450       (25,149)             532  

Exchange of goods at fair value (IAS)        115,258      (36,191)               -           115,258       (36,191)                 -    
Differences on depreciations Editorial 
publications (IAS)     1,262,252    (396,347)     (50,059)     1,421,674     (446,406)      (50,059) 

Differences on depreciations Software 
(IAS)        124,284      (39,025)                -          124,284       (39,025)                -    

Differences in depreciation of 
improvements ( IAS)            5,204       (1,634)               -               5,204         (1,634)                 -    

Differences in depreciation of plants 
(IAS)          11,826        (3,713)                -            11,826         (3,713)                 -    

Differences in depreciation of other 
tangible fixed assets (IAS)           6,585        (2,068)               -              6,585        (2,068)                 -    

Advances on excess interest payments  (3,630,467)     998,378      441,022   (5,783,075)   1,590,346       591,967  

Taxable allocation to the provision for 
bad debts     (279,796)       76,944      (60,556)     (279,796)       76,944              -    

ACE benefit unused     (225,365)       61,975                -        (769,611)     211,643      149,668  

Total Prepaid/(deferred) taxation        778,983       
Tot.164,633       1,986,501     1,207,518  

              
Net effect:             
on results for the year      164,633       1,207,518    
on opening shareholders' equity       612,716          777,348    
Difference on deferred taxation in 
previous years               (1)         

on closing shareholders' equity        777,348        1,984,866    
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Management and coordination activities 
 
Class Editori Spa manages and coordinates the following companies: 
 

• Milano Finanza Editori Spa 

• MF Servizi Editoriali Srl 

• MF Editori Srl 

• E-Class Spa 

• Class Digital Service Srl 

• Class TV Service Srl 

• Class CNBC Spa 

• PMF News Editori Spa 

• Campus Editori Srl 

• Lombard Editori Srl 

• MF Service Srl (già Milano Finanza Service Srl) 

• MF Conference Srl 

• Edis Srl 

• DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl in liquidation 

• Ex.co Srl in liquidation 

• Radio Classica Srl 

• Class Editori Service Srl in liquidation 

• Country Class Editori Srl 

• Telesia Spa 

• MF Dow Jones News Srl 

• Fashion Work Business Club Srl 

• Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl 

• Class Meteo Services Srl in liquidation 

• TV Moda Srl 

• Classint Advertising Srl in liquidation 

• Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 

• Class Pubblicità Spa 

• New Satellite Radio Srl 

• CHTV Class Horse TV Srl 

• Aldebaran Srl 

• CCeC Class China eCommerce Srl 

 



 

                                                                                          Page 168 

32) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

As required by IAS 32, the following table compares the amounts reported in the financial statements as of 
31 December 2014 with the fair value of financial assets and liabilities: 
 

€ (thousands) Accounts 
value 

Fair value 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 4,672,708 4,672,708 

Trade receivables 80,346,441 78,691,322 

Other equity investments and securities 56,543,618 48,552,532 

Financial receivables  35,659,920 35,659,920 

Other receivables 39,952,724 39,952,724 

   

Financial liabilities   

Loans   

- at fixed rates -- -- 

- floating interest 56,164,795 56,164,795 

Trade payables 62,672,146 62,672,146 

Other payables 4,381,368 4,381,368 

Due to banks and others 21,320,768 21,320,768 

33) Segment information 

The segment information is provided in compliance with IAS 14. 
 
The Company operates in the publishing sector. 
For this reason, the segment information required by the IAS/IFRS is not considered to be meaningful. 

34) Disputes and contingent liabilities 

In addition to the usual journalistic disputes about defamation in the press, which are usually settled by 
payments of small amounts with respect to the initial demands of the counterparties, the Company is also 
party to a dispute with Inpgi, which has made disputed claims about violations regarding the payment of 
pension contributions that are deemed to be unfounded. Given the available amnesty in relation to disputes 
with Inpgi, the Company determined that it would be expedient to settle the disputes regarding the initial 
assessments received. The amounts agreed were paid in instalments, terminating in 2013. As a consequence, 
the provision recorded to cover this liability, 400 thousand euro, was used in full.  
The dispute concerning the assessments made by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. The request amounts to 
approximately 0.4 million euros overall. Supported by the opinion of Ichino-Brugnatelli e Associati, the 
defence lawyers, it has not been deemed necessary to record any provisions in this regard (consistent with 
the requirements of IAS 37). In further support of the approach taken by the Company, in April 2014 the 
Rome Court of Appeal accepted in full the appeal presented by Italia Oggi in relation to a similar dispute 
with Inpgi, overturning the adverse first-level ruling (no. 11131/2). Lastly, the Rome Court of Appeal 
rejected the company's appeal on 31 October 2014 and, accordingly, a further appeal to the Court of 
Cassation will be filed by the deadline set of 24 May 2015. 
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35) Business with related parties 

In terms of relations with subsidiaries and associates, some of these are linked to the Company by 
relationships of a financial and commercial nature. These include the recharge of operating costs and 
recognition to the Company of part of the revenues earned under the advertising concession contract. The 
relationships of a financial nature with subsidiary and affiliated companies are based on market rates. 
 
Certain commercial relations with related parties involve the leasing of property and provision of the related 
facility management services. These services are provided by CIA (Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa) 
in particular. In addition, a loan, originally amounting to 550,000 euro, has been granted to Case Editori Srl 
on market terms. Commercial and financial relations with related parties are settled on the same terms as 
those applied to suppliers and customers. 
 
As required by Consob (Communication no. 15 dated 17 December 2008), details of the transactions with 
related parties at 31 December 2014 are presented below: 
 
Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA Group), a subsidiary of Compagnie Fonciere du Vin, which 
was formed as a result of a proportional partial spin-off from Euroclass Multimedia Holding: 
 
- property lease contracts, arranged as the lessee on market terms, necessary for operating in the locations 

where Class Editori has its offices; 

- facility management contracts for services provided by CIA to Class Editori regarding the maintenance 
and management of the above properties; 

- during 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the offices of 
Class - with the partial designation of that complex for use by the Publishing House - the latter paid CIA 
a security deposit of 2.0 million euro, partly to cover the cost of adapting the property to its needs; 

- contracts on market conditions for the supply of administrative, financial, technical and legal consulting 
services in support of the routine operations of CIA, as well as in relation to a number of special 
financial investment and property-related projects in progress. 

 
Parent company: Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 

In December 2014, Class Editori granted Euroclass a loan on market terms of 245 thousand euro, repayable 
on demand. 

Following the purchase by Class Editori of 5% of Telesia from Euroclass in the prior year, the consideration 
of 525 thousand euro was paid during 2014.  
 
Other transactions with related parties during the year 

In view of the strong performance achieved in the newspapers area and by the advertising concessionaire, as 
well as the good prospects for their growth, in June further interests were acquired in Milano Finanza Editori 
Spa (4.5% for 2.4 million euro) from Marmora Srl and in Classpi Spa (25% for 2.6 million euro) from PP 
Editori. In addition, receivables totalling 5 million euro due from CHTV (formerly an associate, now wholly 
owned following disposal of the TV operations) were sold to Marmora Srl at nominal value, without 
recourse. Class Editori will collect the other amounts due from third parties, mostly the tax authorities, and 
expectd to close the TV shutdown operations successfully. 
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On purchasing the 25% interest in Classpi, the Company obtained a discount from the related-party seller 
with respect to the appraised value of 0.875 million euro. This is because, on 28 September 2012, Class 
Editori had waived receivables totalling 3.5 million euro due from Classpi, in the context of reorganisations 
described in prior reports, while the minority investor did not. On selling its 25% interest, the latter therefore 
agreed to reduce the selling price by its share of the indirect equity benefit deriving from the above waiver of 
receivables. 
 
The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships described above: 
   
€uro/000 31/12/13 31/12/14 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Due from CIA for security deposit 2,000 2,000 

Due from Euroclass for option to purchase equity investments 500 -- 

Receivables from Case Editori for loans 670 686 

Due from CIA Group for goods/services 11,343 14,732 

Due from Euroclass for loan -- 245 

Due from Euroclass for loan interest -- 1 

Due from CHTV Global  -- 448 

Due from CIA for loan 659 659 

Loans to other CIA Group companies 1,082 690 

Deferred income from services to CIA Group  256 -- 

Due from Worldspace Italia  225 225 

Due from Marmora Srl  -- 10 

Due to CIA Group for rentals, facilities and services (3,534) (4,500) 

Due to Euroclass for the purchase of equity investments  (525) -- 

Income statement relationships   
Revenues from administrative and consulting services provided to CIA 
Group 

150 150 

Recharge of expenses to CIA Group  17 10 

Costs recharged to CHTV Global -- 223 

Interest income from Euroclass  -- 1 

Interest income from Diana Bis  16 12 

Cost of leasing from CIA (1,887) (1,898) 

Cost of leasing from Diana Bis (1,026) (1,034) 

Cost of facility management services from CIA (586) (589) 

Costs recharged by CIA Group (17) (10) 

Costs recharged by CHTV Global -- (223) 

Cost of services from Studio Israel Terrenghi (18) (10) 
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36) Other intergroup relations 

VAT consolidation agreement 

Class Editori Spa has a group consolidated VAT agreement involving the companies in the Class group that 
satisfy the requirements of relevant legislation (art. 73, subsection 3 of D.P.R. 633/72). The group VAT 
recoverable at December 2014 amounts to 12,871 euro. 
 
IRES tax consolidation 

Following the renewal of the tax group by Class Editori SpA for the three year period 2013-2015, Class 
Editori Spa and its main subsidiaries calculate IRES on a group basis. Relations between the members of this 
tax group are governed by special agreements.  

37) Off-book agreements 

Pursuant to para. 22 ter of art. 2427 c.c., it is confirmed that the Company is not party to any agreements, not 
reflected in the financial statements, that might give rise to significant risks or benefits. 

38) Privacy information 

In compliance with point 26 of Attachment B of Legislative Decree no. 196/2003 on the protection of 
personal data, the directors confirm that the Company has taken measures to comply with the Privacy Act in 
light of the provisions introduced by said Legislative Decree in accordance with the deadlines and 
procedures specified therein. In particular, the Security Planning Document required by point 19 of 
Attachment B (on file at the registered offices and freely available for consultation) was prepared on 28 
March 2006 and has been constantly updated in accordance with the regulations. 

39) Significant extraordinary events and transactions 

Pursuant to Consob communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, it is confirmed that no significant 
non-recurring transactions were carried out by the Company during 2013. 

40) Atypical and/or unusual transactions 

Pursuant to Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, it is confirmed that during the year 
the Company did not enter into any atypical and/or unusual transactions, as defined in that Communication. 

41) Subsequent events 

Class Editori has been a shareholder of WeToBusiness, the operational vehicle of WeChat in Italy, since the 
middle of March. The partnership between the Publishing House and the official reseller involves Class 
becoming a shareholder as well as offering services, based on the WeChat platform, aimed at Italian 
companies that wish to exploit the opportunities of the Chinese market. 
Due to the collaboration with WeChat Italia, Class Editori and the operational vehicle are also able to offer a 
presence on WeChat in China to Italian companies that do not have a local legal entity there, which was 
previously impossible under Chinese regulations. 
By opening an official account on WeChat, small, medium-sized and large companies can offer sales 
services directly, provide customer support and carry out marketing actions that address Chinese customers 
and prospects, reaching a pool of over 1 billion registered users. 
Opening a WeChat account also offers an opportunity for companies that use the e-commerce platform 
CCIGMall, represented in Italy by Class Editori, to strengthen their development strategy in the Asian 
market, positioning themselves on what is a formidable social media as well as a comprehensive 
communication tool. 
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In addition, WeChat’s direct presence in Italy, where there are already millions of registered users, positions 
the country as a trampoline for developing the platform in Europe assisted by the offer of Class services. 
 
The services offered by Class Editori are not aimed solely at companies interested in exporting or at building 
business relationships in China, but also at all Italian companies that wish to target Chinese tourists in Italy 
(over 1 million expected this year for the Expo). 
The forthcoming WeChat account of Eccellenza Italia, the Class Editori information system, comprising a 
magazine delivered in China to Italian visa applicants, an app and a traditional website, will make it possible 
to carry out advertising campaigns geographically targeted at Chinese visitors to Italy. 
 
Thanks to WeChat and WeClass (the special division of Class Editori), Italian shops and companies can talk 
to tourists and offer their services directly by chatting, as well as being then able to monitor customers and 
profile them using CRM. 
  
This further completes the two-way publishing and communication system established by Class Editori in 
relation to China, which includes www.vendereaicinesi.it, www.turisticinesi.it and the tourist guide App, as 
well as ChinatoItaly shopping, which is work in progress. 
   
Business outlook 
 
During the year, management has been engaged in checking the progress of the strategic and business plan. 
In the light of the results achieved and the most recent market data available, the sale of the broadcasting 
permit on digital terrestrial LCN 27, the ongoing crisis and also the opportunities that have opened up in 
digital business and e-commerce in China, on 13 March 2015 the Board of Directors approved a revision of 
the business plan produced under a mandate granted by the Board to the Vice Chairman and Managing 
Director and the executive directors on 13 November 2014. 
 
This revision is based on the following guidelines: 
 
• maintaining and increasing the market share of the daily newspapers; 
• improving the turnover of the periodicals (already started in 2014); 
• concentrating the television part on Class CNBC and Out-of-Home TV (Telesia and Aldebaran); 
• expanding significantly the Internet sector; 
• continuing the development of advanced digital financial services for banks; 
• seeking new openings on e-commerce and digital platforms, especially through the Chinese platform 

CCIGMall, which deals with B2B e-commerce and with the opportunities opened up by the WeChat 
channel. 

 
Following full implementation of the plan, the overall level of EBITDA is expected to be similar to that 
reflected in the earlier plan, albeit with a different mix of revenues and active business lines. 
 
There will also be increased activity linked to EXPO 2015 and the international profile of the Group's titles 
(as shown by the success in 2012 and 2013 of the special MF International issues covering China, Brazil, the 
United Arab Emirates, Russia and other initiatives); Class Editori is working to strengthen this line of 
business via agreements with foreign publishing houses. 
 

https://mail.tencent.com/owa/redir.aspx?C=2b91aa420e9841c788d5f2d23c1221e5&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.vendereaicinesi.it
http://www.turisticinesi.it/
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Additional information 
 
Pursuant to legal requirements, the overall remuneration to directors and Statutory Auditors is shown below. 
 

Office Remuneration 

Directors 182,500 

Board of Statutory Auditors 54,643 
 
In compliance with Art. 149-duodicies of the Issuers' Regulation, the following schedule reports the fees 
earned by the auditing firm in 2014, analysed by type of service: 
 
€uro  Year 2014 

 

Audit of the separate financial statements at 31 December 2014  15,000 
Audit of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014  11,000 
Limited examination of the consolidated half-year report at 30 June 2014  25,000 
Accounting checks during 2014  4,500 

Total auditing   55,500 

Other certification services   39,500 

Total costs of Independent Auditor  95,000 

   
 
These financial statements, comprising the statement of financial position, the income statement, the cash 
flow statement and the explanatory notes, provide a true and fair view of the financial position and results of 
operations, and agree with the underlying accounting records. 
 

 
 

for the Board of Directors 
The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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Certification of the annual financial statement pursuant 
to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation No. 11971/1999 and 

subsequent amendments and additions 
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Certification of the annual financial statement pursuant to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation 
No. 11971/1999 and subsequent amendments and additions 
 
 
 
1. The undersigned Paolo Panerai as Managing Director and Emilio Adinolfi as the Responsible 

Executive of Class Editori Spa, taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, paras. 3 and 4 of 
Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, certify that the administrative and accounting procedures applied 
for the preparation of the separate financial statements at 31 December 2014: 

3.1. are consistent with the administrative/accounting system and the company's structure; 

3.2. are adequate and have been effectively applied; 

 
2. No items worth noting emerged from this assessment. 
 
 
3. It is also certified that the separate financial statements at 31 December 2014: 

a) are consistent with accounting ledger entries and records; 

b) have been prepared in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the relative interpretations published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
adopted by the Commission of the European Communities with Regulation n° 1725/2003 and 
subsequent modification, in compliance with Regulation n° 1606/2002 of the European Parliament, 
as well as the provisions issued in implementation of art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005 and, to 
our knowledge, is suitable to provide an accurate and truthful picture of the equity, income and 
financial situation of Class Editori Spa; 

c) the report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the performance, results of operations and 
situation of the Issuer, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties to which it 
is exposed. 

 
 
 
Milan, 19 March 2015 
 
 
 
Managing Director Entrusted Executive 
 
Paolo Panerai Emilio Adinolfi 
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CLASS EDITORI S.p.a. 

Via M. Burigozzo 5, Milan  

Share Capital 28,321,907.40 euro 

Tax Code and Milan Companies Register no. 08114020152  

Milan Business Register (REA) no. 1205471    

***** 

 

Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors to the Shareholders' Meeting 

pursuant to art. 153 of Legislative Decree no. 58/98 and art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code on 

the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 
Shareholders, 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Board of Statutory Auditors performed its 

supervisory activities pursuant to law, in accordance with the Code of Conduct recommended by 

the Consiglio Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti Contabili (Italian association of 

professional accountants) to which we refer with this report, which was prepared pursuant to art. 

153 of Decree no. 58/98, having regard for the recommendations contained in Consob 

communication no. 1025564 dated 6 April 2001, as amended.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors has received the consolidated financial statements and the separate 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014, together with the reports on operations, 

prepared by the Board of Directors.  

The separate financial statements, which will be considered for approval at the shareholders' 

meeting, together with the report on operations, report a net loss for the year of 21,129,168 euro. 

This loss has reduced shareholders' equity to 64,443,980 euro. 

The reasons for the loss for the year are indicated in the Report on operations, in which the directors 

acknowledge the major crisis afflicting the advertising and publishing market.  

Recognising that the Report on operations prepared by the directors talks extensively about the 

delicacy of certain aspects of the Company's performance and that, in the Report and the 

Explanatory notes to the financial statements, the directors describe fully the most significant 

transactions carried out during 2014, the Board of Statutory Auditors, to the extent of its 

responsibilities, considers it appropriate to highlight the following with regard to the principal 

events that have taken place. 
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Capital increase 

An increase in share capital for payment took place during 2014. This involved the issue of 

category A shares, with standard enjoyment rights, that were offered under option to all 

shareholders in the Company pursuant to art. 2441, para. 1, of the Italian Civil Code. 

This increase was authorised at the shareholders' meeting held on 12 May 2014.  

At that time, the shareholder resolved inter alia as follows: 

“1) to increase share capital for payment on a divisible basis, to be implemented pursuant to art. 

2439 of the Italian Civil Code by 30 (thirtieth) August 2014 (two thousand and fourteen), by a 

maximum of Euro 40,000,000.00 (forty million point zero zero) inclusive of share premium, via the 

issue of category A shares with a par value of euro 0.10 (zero point one zero) each, to be offered 

under option to the category A and category B shareholders at an issue price equal to the theoretical 

ex rights price (TERP) of the CLASS category A share, calculated using the normal methods based 

on the weighted average of the official unit prices struck during the period of between 1 (one) and 6 

(six) months (to be established by the Board of Directors) prior to the determination of the issue 

price and discounted to an extent to be established by the Board of Directors, it being understood 

that the discount shall not, under any circumstances, be less than 12% (twelve percent) of the TERP 

determined on the above basis; 

2) in compliance with the statutory and other regulations in force (in particular, art. 2441 para. 2 of 

the Italian Civil Code and arts. 94 and 134 of the Consolidated Finance Law - TUF), to grant the 

Board of Directors all the widest powers (i) to determine the issue price (and, consequently, the 

time period to consider when determining the TERP and the discount to be applied to the TERP), 

based on the market conditions applying at the time of launching the operation (publication of the 

offer prospectus), the market prices for the CLASS category A share, and market practice for 

similar transactions; (ii) to determine the maximum number of new shares to be issued; (iii) .....;". 

At the meeting held on 24 June 2014, the Board of Directors, acting under the mandate granted at 

the Shareholders' Meeting held on 12 May 2014, determined the definitive conditions for the capital 

increase. In particular, it resolved: 

- to issue a maximum of 177,611,654 shares, par value 0.10 euro each, to be offered under option 

to the shareholders at a price per share of 0.224 euro (including 0.124 euro as share premium); 

- to address the offer to all holders of category A and category B ordinary shares, in proportion to 

the investment held by each, on the basis of 169 new shares for every 100 Class Editori category 

A or B ordinary shares held; 

- subject to obtaining the necessary authorisations, to establish that the option rights must be 

taken up between 30 June 2014 and 18 July 2014 and that such rights will be tradeable in the 

market during the period between 30 June 2014 and 11 July 2014 inclusive.  
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The capital increase concluded with subscriptions for 177,611,564 ordinary shares with a total value 

of 39,784,990.34 euro.  

Accordingly, following this operation, the new amount of the share capital of Class Editori S.p.a. is 

28,321,907.40 euro. This is represented by 283,219,074 shares, par value 0.10 euro each, 

comprising 283,159,074 category A shares and 60,000 category B shares. 

The capital increase was filed by the Milan Companies Register on 7 August 2014, pursuant to art. 

2444, para. 1, of the Italian Civil Code. The new text of the Articles of Association was filed at the 

same time.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors confirms that it attended the Shareholders' Meetings and Directors' 

Meetings regarding the above-mentioned capital increase and obtained information about the way 

the conditions for the operation were determined. 

In the context of this activity, the Board of Statutory Auditors, among other activities, (a) examined 

the considerations expressed by the independent expert on the methods and criteria to apply for 

determining the issue price of the new shares and checked that these considerations were adopted 

by the Board of Directors; (b) monitored the propriety of the decision-making process followed by 

the Board of Directors in relation to the operation; and (c) obtained information about and 

monitored the process of obtaining authorisation for the publication of the prospectus regarding the 

offer under option of the new shares.    

Impairment test 

The Board of Statutory Auditors checked the adequacy, in terms of methodology, of the process of 

measuring the titles and the goodwill recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  

This work covered, in particular, the impairment tests carried out on the TV Moda and In Aereo 

titles, which involved recognising write-downs totalling 283,000 euro, and on the goodwill arising 

on the consolidation of Country Class Editori S.r.l., which involved recognising a write-down of 

1,486,000 euro. 

In other words, the Board of Statutory Auditors confirms, as described fully in the Report on 

operations and in the specific explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements, that the 

impairment tests carried out in March 2015 identified the need to write-down assets by a total of 

1,769,000 euro. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors also checked the adequacy, again in terms of methodology, of the 

process of measuring the titles recorded in the separate financial statements.  

An examination of these financial statements reveals that the Class Life title, purchased in 2006 and 

written down by 300,000 euro when preparing the financial statements for the prior year, was 

written off in full when preparing the 2014 financial statements following the outcome of the 

related impairment test. This was done in view of the disposal of the channel 27 broadcasting 

licence, which resulted in the loss of all value attributed to the title.  
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These write-downs were recorded in the respective financial statements referred to above. 

With reference to the separate financial statements of Class Editori S.p.a., the consequences for the 

carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries of applying the results of the impairment tests 

are described in the related specific explanatory notes.     
 

*  *  * 

 

During the year, the Board of Statutory Auditors obtained the information required to perform its 

functions by performing periodic audits, by holding meetings with operational managers and by 

meeting the representatives of PKF Italia S.p.a., the auditing firm, the members of the Control and 

Risks Committee, the Executive responsible for preparing the company's accounting documents, 

and the members of the Supervisory Body established pursuant to Decree no. 231/2001, as well as 

by attending all the meetings of the Board of Directors. 

 
The institutional activities of the Board of Statutory Auditors were performed in the manner 

indicated below. 

In particular, the Board of Statutory Auditors confirms that it: 

– monitored compliance with the law and the Articles of Association, as well as with the 

principles of proper administration, checking that the transactions carried out by the Company 

were consistent with them and, more generally, overall compliance with the law and the Articles 

of Association; 

– attended all the meetings of the Shareholders, the Board of Directors, the Control and Risks 

Committee, and the Compensation Committee held during the year, and obtained from the 

Directors, pursuant to art. 150 of Decree no. 58/1998, timely and complete information about 

the activities and most significant transactions carried out by the Company or by its subsidiaries 

in accordance with the law and the Articles of Association; the Board of Statutory Auditors also 

confirms that it attended, as represented by Mario Medici, Serving Auditor, all the meetings of 

the "Informal committee for the review and update of the internal audit function, with a view to 

identifying areas for improvement in terms of the effectiveness of existing controls";    

– obtained the information necessary to perform the required work on the adequacy of the 

company's organisational structure, by direct investigation and by gathering information from 

the managers of principal functions concerned, as well as from the auditing firm; 

– obtained the information necessary to perform the required work on the adequacy of the internal 

control and accounting-administrative systems, as well as on their reliability to present and 

monitor the results of operations, by direct investigation and by gathering information from the 

managers of principal functions concerned, as well as from the auditing firm; 
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– checked the functioning of the systems of internal controls and the adequacy of the instructions 

given to the subsidiaries, pursuant to art. 114, para. 2, of Decree no. 58/1998; 

– determined by contacts with the corresponding bodies at the subsidiaries that no significant 

matters had been identified; 

– checked compliance with the laws and regulations pertaining to the preparation, form and 

content of the separate and consolidated financial statements, as well as the related 

accompanying documents. The Board of Statutory Auditors also checked the compliance of the 

Reports on operations during 2014 accompanying the separate and consolidated financial 

statements with the law and regulations in force, and their consistency with the resolutions 

adopted by the Board of Directors; 

– monitored implementation of the provisions of Law no. 120 dated 12 July 2011 on gender 

balance in the composition of the administration and control bodies of companies listed in 

regulated markets; 

– monitored, acting as the "internal control and audit committee" pursuant to art. 19 of Decree no. 

39/2010, i) the process of making financial disclosures, ii) the effectiveness of the systems of 

internal control, internal audit and risk management, iii) the legal audit of the separate and 

consolidated financial statements and iv) the independence of the firm appointed as the legal 

auditor including, in particular, with regard to the provision of non-audit services to the 

Company; 

– received at its meetings the results of the quarterly checks performed by the firm appointed to 

perform the legal audit of the accounts; 

– took note of the agreement of the legal auditing firm to release, in the near future, the report 

envisaged by art. 19, para. 3, of Decree no. 39/2010, on the identification of "fundamental 

matters" identified during the legal audit work and on any "significant weaknesses" found in the 

system of internal control over the financial reporting process;  

– received a confirmation of independence from the legal auditing firm, pursuant to art. 17, para. 

9, letter a) of Decree no. 39/2010, as well as the disclosure of services unrelated to the legal 

audit provided to the Company and other Group companies by the legal auditing firm and by 

entities belonging to the same network;   

– discussed with the legal auditing firm, pursuant to art. 17, para. 9, letter b) of Decree no. 

39/2010, the risks relating to its independence, as well as the measures adopted by the legal 

auditing firm to mitigate these risks; 

– received regular briefings from the Supervisory Body, as required by the Organisation, 

Management and Control Model adopted by the Company pursuant to Decree no. 231/2001; 

– monitored the effective implementation of the rules of corporate governance envisaged in the 

Code for the Self-Regulation of Listed Companies promoted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., as 

adopted by the Company; 
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– monitored, pursuant to art. 4, para. 6, of the Regulation approved by Consob in decision no. 

17221 dated 12 March 2010 and subsequent amendments ("Consob Regulation no. 

17221/2010"), compliance with the procedure governing related-party transactions approved by 

the Board of Directors on 28 August 2014 that came into effect on 1 September 2014 

("Procedure for related-party transactions"). Previously, again pursuant to art. 4, para. 6, of the 

above Regulation, the Board of Statutory Auditors had monitored compliance with the same 

procedure adopted by the Board of Directors with effect from 1 January 2011;  

– noted, based on the declarations given by the Directors and the considerations expressed by the 

Board of Directors, that the verification criteria and procedures adopted by the Board of 

Directors to assess the independence of its own members has been properly applied;. 

– noted the preparation of the "Compensation Report" pursuant to art. 123-ter of Decree no. 

58/1998 and art. 84-quater of Consob Regulation no. 11971/1999 ("Issuers' Regulation), without 

having any particular comments to make;   

– carried out audits on the operations of the Company, including: (i) the management of 

receivables and, in particular, those due from the advertising concessionaire (Classpi S.p.a., a 

subsidiary) and from the publisher of the weekly Milano Finanza and the daily MF (Milano 

Finanza Editori S.p.a., a subsidiary); (ii) the method adopted to determine the provisions for 

legal, social security and tax disputes; 

– provided the information and news requested by Consob pursuant to art. 115, para. 1, of Decree 

no. 58/1998.   

 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has identified that PKF Italia S.p.a. was appointed, as advisor, to 

assist the "Informal committee for the review and update of the internal audit function, with a view 

to identifying areas for improvement in terms of the effectiveness of existing controls".  

This committee has prepared the new Internal Auditing Manual (by updating the previous version). 

This document was then examined by the Control and Risks Committee at the meeting held on 31 

July 2014. 

Subsequently, it was approved by the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 28 August 2014. 

On completion of the above work, the function of the informal committee ceased. 

During the supervisory work carried out by the Board of Statutory Auditors in accordance with the 

procedures described above, including those regarding compliance with the law and the Articles of 

Association, no important facts emerged that should have been reported to the Control Bodies. 

The proposals to be made with regard to the financial statements, their approval and the matters for 

which the Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible are set out later. 

The specific indications to be provided in this report are listed below in the order established in the 

above-mentioned CONSOB notice dated 6th April 2001, as amended. 
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1. Considerations on the operations of greatest economic, financial and asset significance carried 

out by the Company, and on their compliance with the law and the Articles of Association 

Appropriate information was obtained about the operations of greatest economic, financial and 

asset significance carried out by the Class Editori S.p.a. and its subsidiaries. With regard, in 

particular, to their characteristics and economic effects, reference is made to the discussion of 

principal actions taken during the year contained in the section of the Report on operations 

entitled "Principal economic - financial events during the year". In this regard, the Board of 

Statutory Auditors confirms that, based on the information obtained, it has checked that these 

operations comply with the law and the Article of Association, are not obviously imprudent or 

risky, in conflict of interest, in contrast with resolutions adopted at Shareholders' Meetings or, 

in any case, likely to jeopardise the net assets of the Company.  

The "Business Plan 2013-2018" was prepared towards the end of the prior year and approved 

by the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 9 January 2014.  The Board of Directors 

approved the Plan 2015-2020 on 12 March 2015, updating the previous plan. This was 

necessary, in the main, to take account of new opportunities arising in the digital business and 

in e-commerce in China (activity commenced by CCeC), the effects of the sale to Sky of the 

authorisation to broadcast on digital terrestrial channel LCN 27, the effects of other agreements 

signed with that counterparty in the context of the sale of that channel, the effects of the 

continuation of the economic crisis in Italy and the most recent market data.  

Pursuant to a preliminary contract signed on 21 May 2014, the Company has purchased an 

additional 25.00% of the share capital of Classpi S.p.A. from Paolo Panerai Editore S.r.l., 

raising its holding in that subsidiary from 51.00% to 75.00%. In addition, pursuant to a 

preliminary contract signed on 21 May 2014, the Company has also purchased an additional 

4.50% of the share capital of Milano Finanza Editori S.p.a. from Marmora S.r.l., raising its 

holding in that subsidiary from 84.327% to 88.827%.  

2. Existence of atypical and/or unusual transactions, including intra-group transactions and those 

with related parties 

On the basis of the information available to the Board of Statutory Auditors, no atypical and/or 

unusual transactions with third parties or related parties, including Group companies, have 

been identified. 

Adequate information about the routine transactions carried out with Group companies and 

related parties, and about their principal economic and financial effects, is provided in the 

Reports on operations and in the Explanatory notes accompanying the separate and 

consolidated financial statements, to which reference is made. Based on the information 

obtained, the Board of Statutory Auditors has determined that these transactions comply with 

the law and the Articles of Association, were carried out in the interests of the Group and do 

not raise doubts about the accuracy and completeness of the related financial disclosures, the 
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existence of conflicts of interest, the exposure of net assets to risks, or the protection of 

minority shareholders.  

At the meeting held on 30 November 2010, the Board of Directors adopted specific guidelines 

for related-party transactions in compliance with the Consob Regulation no. 17221 of 12 

March 2010, as amended, having regard for the indications contained in Consob 

Communication no. DEM/10078683 of 24 September 2010. In implementation of the above 

Regulation, the Company approved the procedures for related-party transactions that came into 

force on 1 January 2011. An updated version of the "Procedure for related-party transactions" 

was approved by the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 28 August 2014. This version 

came into force on 1 September 2014. The updated version contains, among other 

amendments, a new definition for immaterial amounts.  

This Procedure, pursuant to art. 4, para. 7, of Consob Regulation no. 17221 dated 12 March 

2010, as amended by decision no. 17389 dated 23 June 2010, is published on the Company's 

website. This is the link: 

http://www.classeditori.it/upload/doc/CLASSEDITORI/201408291132255188/2014_07_30_R

EV_Proc_OPC_Class_Editori.pdf 

Among other matters, the Procedure requires transactions in which a director has an interest, 

whether directly or on behalf of third parties, and transactions carried out with related parties, 

to be performed in a transparent manner and meet the criteria for substantive and procedural 

propriety. 

3. Adequacy of the information provided in the directors' report on operations about atypical 

and/or unusual transactions, including intra-group transactions and those with related parties 

In the Reports on operations and the Explanatory notes accompanying the consolidated 

financial statements of the Class Group and the separate financial statements of Class Editori 

S.p.a., to which reference is made, the Directors adequately report and illustrate the main 

transactions carried out with third parties, Group companies and related parties, describing 

their characteristics. 

4. Observations and proposals concerning any qualifications and emphasis of matter contained in 

the report of the auditing firm 

PKF Italia S.p.a., the legal auditing firm, issued today (7 April 2015) its reports on the separate 

and consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 of Class Editori S.p.a., prepared 

pursuant to art. 14 of Decree no. 39/2010, expressing an opinion that does not contain 

qualifications or emphasis of matter.  

5. Indication of any complaints pursuant to art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code, any action taken 

and the related outcome 

No complaints pursuant to art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code were received during 2014.  
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6. Indication of any statements or reports received, any action taken and the related outcome 

No statements or reports were received by the Board of Statutory Auditors during 2014. 

7. Indication of any additional appointments granted to the auditing firm and the related costs 

During 2014, the Company and its subsidiaries, listed below, granted BDO S.p.a. and PKF 

S.p.a., the auditing firms, the following additional appointments: 

 

A) Appointments granted to BDO S.p.a. for ADS  

 
Company Title Fee 
   
Italia Oggi Editori Erinne S.r.l. Italia Oggi 5,500.00 
Milano Finanza Editori S.p.a. Milano Finanza 5,500.00 
Class Editori S.p.a. Class 3,500.00 
Country Class Editori S.r.l.  Capital 3,500.00 
   
 
Total 

  
18,000.00 

 

B)  Audit appointments granted to PKF Italia S.p.a. 

  
Subsidiaries that meet CONSOB parameters Annual fee Duration  

   
E-Class S.p.a. 8,800.00 2013 - 2021 
ClassPubblicità S.p.a. 15,500.00 2013 - 2021 
PMF News Editori S.p.a.  8,800.00 2013 - 2021 
Radio Classica S.r.l. 4,000.00 2013 - 2021 
Milano Finanza Editori S.p.a. 10,500.00 2013 - 2021 
Class CNBC S.p.a. 10,800.00 2013 - 2021 
MF Conference S.r.l. 4,000.00 2013 - 2021 
Milano Finanza Service S.r.l. 5,500.00 2013 - 2021 
Country Class Editori S.r.l. 4,200.00 2013 - 2021 
Class Editori Service S.p.a. in liquid. 5,500.00 2013 - 2021 
Telesia S.p.a. 8,000.00 2013 - 2021 
Class Digital Service S.r.l. 4,000.00 2013 - 2021 
MF Servizi Editoriali S.r.l. 5,500.00 2014 - 2021 
   
Total 98,100.00  
   
   
Voluntary audit of other group companies Audit of financial 

statements 
Duration 

   
MF Dow Jones News S.r.l. 3,000.00 2013 - 2021 
   
Total 3,000.00  
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C)  Non-audit appointments granted to PKF Italia S.p.a.  
 

Class Editori S.p.a. 7,000.00 Check of prospectus 
 

Class Editori S.p.a. 13,000.00 Advisor to Informal 
committee 

 
Class Editori S.p.a. 16,000.00  Issue of report on forecast 

data 
 

Italia Oggi Erinne S.p.a. 3,500.00  Limited examination of the 
schedule of copies 

distributed and sold during 
the year ended 31.12.13 

 

D) Limited examination appointments granted to PKF Italia S.p.a. 

Aldebaran S.r.l.  euro 3,500.00    2014 - 2021 

 

E)  Appointments granted to PKF Italia S.p.a. for the legal audit of associates  

Italia Oggi Editori Erinne S.r.l. 12,900.00   2013 – 2015  
 

The above fees do not include VAT and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses. 

 

8. Indication of any appointments granted to parties linked on a continuous basis with the 

auditing firm and the related costs 

To the best of our knowledge, Class Editori S.p.a. did not grant any appointments to parties 

linked on a continuous basis with PKF Italia S.p.A., the auditing firm.  

CFN/CNBC Holding BV - Rotterdam appointed PKF Wallast, Rotterdam, to audit the 2013 

financial statements, agreeing a total fee of 10,000.00 euro for a one-year engagement. 

CFN/CNBC Holding BV - Rotterdam appointed PKF Wallast, Rotterdam, to audit the 2014 

financial statements, agreeing a total fee of 10,500.00 euro for a one-year engagement.  

9. Indication of any opinions issued pursuant to law during the year  

During 2014, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not issue any opinions envisaged by art. 2386 

of the Italian Civil Code (regarding the replacement of directors who ceased to serve), since no 

such replacements took place during the year. In addition, no opinions were issued pursuant to 

art. 2389, para. 3, of the Italian Civil Code (regarding the remuneration of directors with 

special responsibilities), since no resolutions in this regard were presented to the Board of 

Directors. 

10. Indication of the frequency and number of the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Control 

and Risks Committee and the Board of Statutory Auditors 
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During 2014, the Board of Directors met 8 times and the Control and Risks Committee met 4 

times. The Board of Statutory Auditors or some of its members attended all these meetings. 

During the year, the Board of Statutory Auditors held 12 meetings. 

During the meetings of the Board of Directors, referred to above, the Board of Statutory 

Auditors obtained information from the directors about the activities and principal economic, 

financial and equity transactions carried out by the Company and its subsidiaries.  

11. Observations on compliance with the principles of proper administration 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has acquired knowledge about and, within the limits of its 

responsibility, monitored compliance with the principles of proper administration by 

interviews, checks and requests for information from functional and central managers, as well 

as by meetings with the Executive responsible for preparing the company's accounting 

documents and with the auditing firm. 

Following the supervisory work performed, the Board of Statutory Auditors has no matters to 

raise regarding compliance with the principles of proper administration, which appear to have 

been observed all the time.  

12. Observations about the suitability of the organisational structure 
The Board of Statutory Auditors has no observations to make about the suitability of the 

organisational structure, which has been found suitable to satisfy the operational and control 

needs of the business.  

13. Observations about the adequacy of the system of internal control and, in particular, the 

activities of those responsible for internal control, highlighting any corrective actions taken 

and/or to be taken   

The system of internal control, taken as a whole, appears adequate in relation to the size and 

operational characteristics of the Company, as determined during the meetings of the Control 

and Risks Committee, which are attended by the Board of Statutory Auditors in accordance 

with the rules of governance adopted. In addition, the manager of the internal audit function 

has provided the necessary functional link and information about how the related audit duties 

are performed and about the outcome of the checks carried out, not least by attendance at 

meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors. 

Attendance at meetings of the Control and Risks Committee has also enabled the Board of 

Statutory Auditors to coordinate, partly by drawing on the activities of the Committee, the 

performance of its required functions as the "internal control and audit committee" pursuant to 

art. 19 of Decree no. 39/2010. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has therefore acquired knowledge and monitored, pursuant to 

art. 19 of Decree no. 39/2010 as otherwise, the suitability and the efficiency of the internal 

control and risk management system, by holding periodic meetings and obtaining information 
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from department managers, as well by reviewing company documents and analysing the results 

of the work performed by the Internal Audit function, the Control and Risks Committee and 

the Supervisory Body.. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors highlights, furthermore, that the various internal control 

activities were reviewed in 2014 by the "Informal committee for the review and update of the 

internal audit function, with a view to identifying areas for improvement in terms of the 

effectiveness of existing controls", formed in early December 2013.  

As stated, this committee prepared the new Internal Auditing Manual (by updating the previous 

version). This document was then examined by the Control and Risks Committee at the 

meeting held on 31 July 2014. 

Subsequently, the new Manual was approved by the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 

28 August 2014. 

On completion of the above work, the function of the informal committee ceased. 

Class Editori has a procedures manual that governs each operating cycle. This manual requires 

the managers of individual areas to report to the Managing Director and to the Control and 

Risks Committee, which comprises three non-executive directors, two of whom are 

independent.  

At the meeting held on 21 March 2014, the Board of Directors approved an update to the 

“Organisation, management and control model” adopted pursuant to Decree no. 231/2001 on 

the basis of the new organisation structure and regulations introduced. The new version of the 

model reflects the version prior to that approved by the Board of Directors on 13 November 

2013. 

By the deadline envisaged in Decree no. 196/2003, on 28 March 2006 the Company adopted a 

Security Planning Document that has subsequently been updated in accordance with the legal 

requirements. 

14. Observations about the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system and its ability to 

present properly the results of operations 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has assessed and monitored the adequacy of the 

administrative and accounting system, and its ability to present properly the results of 

operations, by obtaining information from department managers, examining company 

documents and analysing the results of the work carried out by PKF Italia S.p.a., the 

independent auditors. Based on this, the Board of Statutory Auditors has no observations to 

make about the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system, and its ability to present 

properly the results of operations.  
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With reference to the accounting information contained in the separate and consolidated 

financial statements at 31 December 2014, the Managing Director and the Executive 

responsible for preparing the company's accounting documents have released the attestation 

required by art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 dated 14 May 1999, as amended.     

15. Observations about the adequacy of the instructions given to subsidiaries pursuant to art. 114, 

para. 2, of Decree no. 58/1998. 

The Company has given suitable instructions to its subsidiaries pursuant to art. 114, para. 2 of 

Decree no. 58/1998.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors has no observations to make about the adequacy of the 

information flows provided by subsidiaries to the Parent Company in order to ensure timely 

compliance with disclosure requirements imposed by law. 

16. Observations about any significant matters arising at meetings with the auditing firm pursuant 

to art. 150, para. 2, of Decree no. 58/1998 

No matters worthy of mention in this report emerged during the periodic exchanges of 

information, pursuant to art. 150, para. 3, of Decree no. 58/1998 and otherwise, between the 

Board of Statutory Auditors and the firm appointed to perform the legal audit of the accounts. 

17. Adoption by the Company of the Code of Self-Regulation issued by the Committee for the 

Corporate Governance of listed companies 

Corporate Governance is described in the report on operations and in the report on corporate 

governance and the ownership structure, which also indicates which instructions included in 

the Code of Self-Regulation, issued by Borsa Italiana S.p.a., have been adopted by Class 

Editori S.p.a. 

With regard to the Code of Self-Regulation, at the meeting held on 28 August 2014 the Board 

of Directors resolved "to update the Code of Self-Regulation and to approve the new text that 

will be published in the section of the website entitled Investor Relations - Corporate 

Governance".   

This action was required following the changes made on 19 March 2014 by Borsa Italiana 

S.p.a. In particular, it was necessary to take account of the requests to apply points 6.P.5 and 

6.C.8 from 1 August 2014, and point 6.C.1 from approval of the compensation policy in 

January 2015.     

It is also noted that, during 2014: 

– the Compensation Committee met once. 

– the Control and Risks Committee met 4 times. 

The Company has prepared adequate procedures governing both access to confidential 

information pursuant to art. 115-bis of the TUF and the disclosures about internal dealing 

required by art. 114, para. 7, of the TUF. 
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18. Final considerations about the supervisory activities carried out and any omissions, censurable 

facts or irregularities identified 

The supervisory activities of the Board of Statutory Auditors were carried out in a routine 

manner during 2014. No omissions, censurable facts or irregularities were identified that 

should be reported, having regard for the provisions of art. 36 of Consob's Market Regulations.  

In addition, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not receive from the Supervisory Body any 

reports of violations of the Organisation, Management and Control Model adopted pursuant to 

Decree no. 231/2001. 

19. Proposals made by the Board of Statutory Auditors to the Shareholders' Meeting pursuant to 

art. 153, para. 2 of Decree no. 58/1998 

On completion of the supervisory activities carried out during the year and with reference to 

art. 153, para. 2, of Decree no. 58/1998, the Board of Statutory Auditors expresses its opinion 

in favour of approving the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors does not have any other proposals to make, pursuant to art. 

153, para. 2, of Decree no. 58/1998, regarding the separate financial statements, the 

consolidated financial statements, the related explanatory notes, the related reports on 

operations or the matters for which it is responsible. However, the Board of Statutory Auditors 

does take note of the information contained in the section entitled "Outlook for the future" at 

the end of the Report on operations. 

 
Other 

It is noted that: 

- Pierluigi Galbussera, Alternate Auditor, resigned on 10 March 2015.. This information was 

filed with the Companies Register on 12 March 2015; 

- on 12 March 2015 a registered letter was received from the Chairman of the Board of 

Statutory Auditors, Carlo Maria Mascheroni, announcing his resignation with effect from 

the day after that on which the Board of Statutory Auditors signs and files the "Report of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors on the financial statements at 31/12/2014" of Class Editori 

S.p.a.   

Milan, 7 April 2015 

 
The Board of Statutory Auditors 

Carlo Maria Mascheroni 

Lucia Cambieri  

Mario Medici 
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